Public Document Pack

Contact: Jacqui Hurst
Cabinet Secretary
Direct: 020 8132 1207
or Ext:1207
e-mail: jacqui.hurst@enfield.gov.uk

CABINET AGENDA
Wednesday, 4th December, 2019 at 7.15 pm in the Restaurant, 2nd
Floor, Civic Centre, Silver Street, Enfield, EN1 3XA
Membership:
Councillors: Nesil Caliskan (Leader of the Council), Ian Barnes (Deputy Leader of
the Council), Alev Cazimoglu (Cabinet Member for Health & Social Care),
Guney Dogan (Cabinet Member for Environment and Sustainability), Rick Jewell
(Cabinet Member for Children's Services), Nneka Keazor (Cabinet Member for
Community Safety & Cohesion), Mary Maguire (Cabinet Member for Finance &
Procurement), Gina Needs (Cabinet Member for Social Housing),
George Savva MBE (Cabinet Member for Licensing & Regulatory Services) and
Mahtab Uddin (Cabinet Member for Public Health)

Associate Cabinet Members
Note: The Associate Cabinet Member posts are non-executive, with no voting rights
at Cabinet. Associate Cabinet Members are accountable to Cabinet and are invited
to attend Cabinet meetings.
Mustafa Cetinkaya (Associate Cabinet Member – Non Voting), Ahmet Hasan
(Associate Cabinet Member – Non Voting) and Claire Stewart (Associate Cabinet
Member – Non Voting)

NOTE: CONDUCT AT MEETINGS OF THE CABINET
Members of the public and representatives of the press are entitled to attend
meetings of the Cabinet and to remain and hear discussions on matters within Part 1
of the agenda which is the public part of the meeting. They are not however, entitled
to participate in any discussions.

AGENDA – PART 1
1.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members of the Cabinet are invited to identify any disclosable pecuniary,
other pecuniary or non pecuniary interests relevant to items on the agenda.

3.

DEPUTATIONS
To note that no requests for deputations have been received for this meeting.

4.

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2020/21 AND TRANCHE TWO
BUDGET PROPOSALS 2024/25 (Pages 1 - 24)
A report from the Executive Director Finance, Fay Hammond is attached.
(Report No: 158) (Key Decision Reference Number: KD: 5024)

5.

COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2020/21 (Pages 25 - 64)
A report from Executive Director Resources, Fay Hammond, is attached.
(Report No: 157) (Key Decision Reference Number: KD: 5032)

6.

PREVENTING HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY (Pages 65 - 170)
A report from the Executive Director Place, Sarah Cary is attached. (Report
No:156) (Key Decision Reference Number: KD: 4809)

7.

CABINET AGENDA PLANNING - FUTURE ITEMS (Pages 171 - 176)
Attached for information is a provisional list of items scheduled for future
Cabinet meetings.

8.

MINUTES (Pages 177 - 204)
To confirm the minutes of the previous meetings of the Cabinet held on 6
November 2019 and 13 November 2019.

9.

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
To note that the next meeting of the Cabinet is scheduled to take place on
Wednesday 22 January 2020.

10.

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
To consider passing a resolution under Section 100(A) of the Local
Government Act 1972 excluding the press and public from the meeting for
the items of business listed on part 2 of the agenda on the grounds that they
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in those

paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act (as amended by the Local
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006).
(Members are asked to refer to the part two agenda)

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 1

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2019/2020 REPORT NO.

Agenda Item 4

158

Agenda – Part: 1

MEETING TITLE AND DATE:
Cabinet
4 December 2019

Item: 4

Subject: MTFP 2020/21 to 2024/25 Tranche
Two Savings
Wards: All
Key Decision No: 5024

REPORT OF:
Executive Director of
Resources

Cabinet Member consulted:
Cllr Maguire

Contact officer and telephone number:
Matt Bowmer, Director of Finance,
0208 379 5580
matt.bowmer@enfield.gov.uk
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1.

1.2.

The Medium Term Financial Strategy continues to build on the vision for:
i.

A resilient budget that is "sustainable" in year, ensuring savings and
income proposals are realisable;

ii.

A budget which invests in the most vulnerable residents in the Borough
and targets savings generated through efficiencies and growing income;

iii.

A long term budget to ensure that decisions are sustainable; and

iv.

Council services which provide value for money.

The report updates progress on developing the Medium Term Financial
Plan (MTFP) 2020/21 to 2024/25 to deliver the Council’s Corporate Plan –
Creating a Lifetime of Opportunities in Enfield

1.3.

1.4.

i.

Good Homes in Well Connected Neighbourhoods;

ii.

Sustain strong and Healthy Communities; and

iii. Build Our Local Community to Create a Thriving Place
In October 2019, the MTFP funding and savings and income generation
proposals were considered. This report updates Cabinet on subsequent
activity and new information which has resulted in a reduction in the overall
funding gap from £3.322m to £1.565m.
These changes include an increase in the level of overall estimated
funding: an update in the Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA); and
confirmation that funding for Flexible Homelessness Support Grant and
Troubled Families will be maintained at current levels and confirmation that the
London Business Rate Pool will continue as agreed at London Councils’
Leaders Committee meeting on 8th October. Enfield’s expected benefit will be
£0.425m.
1

Page 2

1.5.

The fact that the Settlement will only be for one year continues to be an area
of concern as the Council strives to deliver long term resilient and
sustainable finances.

1.6.

The report presents updated savings and income generation proposals of
£11.396m for 2020/21 and £21.265m across the five year Plan.

1.7.

There is still a gap of £1.565m, which currently is proposed to be met by the
one off use of reserves in 2020/21. However, work will continue on options to
reduce the call on reserves but will only be proposed where achievable.

1.8.

Community engagement has commenced with the publication of the
Council’s e Newsletter publicising the Council’s financial position and
requesting residents’ views.

1.9.

The Overview and Scrutiny budget meeting will take place on Thursday 19th
December to scrutinise the proposals and funding assumptions.

1.10. The Capital Programme and Treasury Management Strategy will come
forward in January. The capital financing costs being built into the MTFP are
provisional and will be confirmed when work on the Capital Programme is
complete.
1.11. The Dedicated Schools Grant provisional allocations have been provided
which increase Enfield’s funding by £17.0m. Importantly £7.0m of this is for
the High Needs Block which has been under significant pressure.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1.

Cabinet to note:
i.

The continued financial uncertainty facing local government.

ii.

The reduction in the funding gap from £3.322m to £1.565m.

iii.

An increase in the estimated funding of £2.225m following confirmation of
the CPI increase on the SFA (£1.000m), that the Flexible Homelessness
Support Grant (£0.800m) maintained at current levels and the London
Business Rate Pool will continue (£0.425m).

iv.

The increase proposed in Adult Social Care and Children’s Social Care
budgets of 9% (£10.549m), investing to support the most vulnerable in the
Borough as exemplified in paragraph 6.13.

v.

Updated savings proposals of £9.743m and income generation proposals of
£1.653m for 2020/21.

vi.

It is proposed that the gap of £1.565m will be met by the one off use of
reserves in 2020/21. However, work will continue on options to reduce the
call on reserves but will only be proposed where achievable.

vii.

The next update on the Budget to Cabinet in February which will provide a
further update on funding levels, additional savings and income generation
proposals.
2

Page 3

2.2.

Cabinet to approve:
i. The updated savings and income generation proposals in Appendix 2B
for further development and consultation.

3. BACKGROUND
3.1.

Cabinet agreed its Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2020/21 to
2024/25 at its meeting in July 2019. The report updated the
assumptions in the Council’s agreed Medium Term Financial Plan
(MTFP) approved by Council in February 2019 and set out the
approach for developing the MTFP for 2024/25. This was all in the
context of delivering the Council’s Corporate Plan – Creating a
Lifetime of Opportunities in Enfield, approved by Council in September
2018:
i.

Good Homes in Well Connected Neighbourhoods;

ii.

Sustain strong and Healthy Communities; and

iii.

Build Our Local Community to Create a Thriving Place

3.2.

The July MTFP identified a funding gap of £39.0m over the next five
years including £13.7m in 2020/21 which will be reassessed in this
report.

3.3.

There were to be two tranches of savings to be brought forward;
October Cabinet and December Cabinet.

3.4.

A framework for identifying the savings proposals was also agreed,
being:

3.5.

i.

Digital

ii.

IT

iii.

Demand Management

iv.

Commissioning, Procurement and Contracting

v.

Commercial, Income and Trading

vi.

Invest to Save

vii.

Organisational Review

viii.

Corporate Led Initiatives

ix.

Directorate Led Initiatives

The October Cabinet report brought forward £12.174m of savings and
income generation proposals with a gap of £3.322m still to be
addressed. Across the medium term, savings and income generation
proposals totalled £24.128m with the total gap to be addressed being
£31.797m.

3

Page 4

3.6.

The MTFP and the October Cabinet report also identified significant
uncertainty in a number of areas – progress on the Fair Funding
Review, Spending Review and Business Rate Reset. Uncertainty in all
of these areas persist and a further update is provided below.

3.7.

This report updates the MTFP for Government funding, changes in
pressures and reprofiling of savings and income generation proposals
which results in a revised gap of £1.565m. This report is set out as
follows:
i.

Section 4 Update on Funding Announcements.

ii.

Section 5 Update on MTFP budget gap, £12.961m in 2020/21
and £66.916m across the MTFP.

iii.

Section 6 Progress on Savings and Income Generation
Proposals.

4. GOVERNMENT FUNDING ANNOUNCEMENTS
4.1.

Following the October 2019 report, there have been a number of
updates on Government funding.

4.2.

In October, the report focussed on the Chancellor’s 4 September
Spending Announcement. The Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA)
was to rise in line with September CPI (the first rise in ten years), there
was £1bn additional nationally for Social Care from which Enfield would
benefit £5.4m, existing grants in the Core Spending Power were to
continue and, subject to consultation, it would be possible to raise an
additional precept of 2% for Adult Social Care in addition to the 2%
Referendum Limit increase. There was also an increase in the
Dedicated Schools Grant of £2.6bn of which £700m was for the High
Needs Block, Enfield benefiting by £17.0m and £7.0m respectively.

4.3.

There were some downsides. The Settlement would be for one year
only, the Business Rates Pilots would cease, there would be no
Business Rates reset and the Fair Funding Review was further
delayed.

4.4.

In Early November it was confirmed that the Flexible Homelessness
Support Grant and Troubled Families Grants would continue on the
same cash basis as 2019/20. In respect of Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping there is no further news on the allocation of the £54m growth
for 2020/21.

4.5.

Further, it was confirmed that the Financial Settlement will no longer be
issued on Thursday 5 December. This will now be considered after the
General Election, but Government will “take all possible steps to ensure
the final settlement aligns with local authority budget setting
timetables”. Clearly this is at odds with widespread practice across
local government of bringing forward budget plans in December.

4

Page 5

5. FURTHER REFRESH OF SPENDING AND FUNDING ASSUMPTIONS
5.1.

A key priority of the budget is that it is resilient, realistic and therefore,
the proposals continue to be subject to continuous review.

5.2.

The updated spending and funding assumptions are summarised in
Appendices 1A and 1B. There are a number of movements in both
levels of funding and spending requirements which are set out below
giving a revised budget gap of £12.961m in 2020/21 and £66.916m
across the Plan before savings are taken into account.

5.3.

Table 1 Funding Gap

5.4.

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

Total

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

Pension
Contributions

(3.600)

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

(3.600)

Spending
(Net of Full
Year Effect
Savings)

26.469

14.048

16.794

16.122

16.305

89.738

Funding

(9.908)

(2.237)

(2.730)

(2.123)

(2.224)

(19.222)

Gap

12.961

11.811

14.064

13.999

14.081

66.916

Pension Contributions
Employers Rate for the Enfield Local Government Pension Fund
(£3.6m saving in 2020/21)

5.5.

The triennial valuation of the Enfield Local Government Pension Fund
which will determine Employer’s contribution rates for the next three
years from 2020/21 is nearing its conclusion. The Fund has been
broadly in balance during the course of the current financial year due to
the performance of the financial markets and this, along with revised
assumptions on longevity, mean that the employer’s pension
contribution rate can drop from 24.8% to 20.2%. Unlike the period
when the Fund was in deficit and there were stepped increases in the
rate over a three year period to recover the deficit over a prudent time
period there is some flexibility in reducing the rate to 20.2%. It has
been considered appropriate to take the full benefit in year one.

5.6.

Spending

5.7.

The updated spending pressures and overall position are set out in
detail in Appendix 1A. The updates to the MTFP are set out below
which have had a £3.290m net impact.
Re-profile of North London Waste Authority Future Budget
Pressures

5.8.

There is ongoing work on the financials for the provision of a new
Energy from Waste facility at the Edmonton Eco Park with the current
facility being over forty years old. The modelling has been considering
the useful life of the facility and the approach to financing as well as

5

Page 6

likely date of commissioning. The most up to date financial information
does mean that the phasing of the budget increase in the later years of
the MTFP can be scaled back from £1.5m per annum to £0.750m.
Additional Budget Pressures Identified in Quarter Two Budget
Monitor (2020/21 impact)
5.9.

The Quarter Two Revenue Monitoring was presented to Cabinet in
November and reports further in year pressures, some of which are
one off and others ongoing. These include:
i.

Unachievable legacy savings: there are historical Adult Social
Care housing support efficiencies (£0.3m) and IT commercial
income target (£0.3m) which are not deliverable and will need to
be added to the base budget for 2020/21.

ii.

Further demographic pressures: these include Adult Social Care
(£0.1m), Children’s Social Care (£0.8m) and SEN Transport
(£0.3m).

Reduction in Existing Pressures (2020/21 impact)
5.10. There has been a reappraisal of the £2m previously included for IWE
and this has been reduced by £0.5m in light of the latest 2019/20
position. There is also a reduction in the forecast of implementing the
National Accreditation of Social Workers (£0.150m).
Increase in Pressures (2021/21 impact)
5.11. The School Traded Catering Service continues to experience income
pressure resulting from reducing buy in; and a further £0.400m
transitional subsidy has been built into the budget in addition to the
£0.200m identified in the October Cabinet report.
5.12. As part of the strategy for permanent recruitment and retention of social
workers, funding has been allocated to recruit social workers of £130k,
increasing in subsequent years with further cohorts.
Review of 2021/22 and beyond - Demographic and Inflationary
Increases
5.13. In line with the vision of resilient and sustainable finances there has
been a focus on ensuring there is a realistic appreciation of all future
pressures in the Plan. There has been much work already done to
ensure that demographic pressures in Adult Social Care, Children’s
Social Care and SEN Transport are included in the Plan and this was
broadly included in the October update. These have all been updated
in response to the latest monitoring position for 2019/20.
5.14. The MTFP has in the past included Adult Social Care contractual
inflation for year one of the Plan only. This is not a one off
issue/pressure and the updated Plan now recognises a pressure of
£1.3m in all future years.
Review of Capital Financing Pressures
5.15. Finally, there is ongoing work on assessing the capital financing
requirements of the Council’s existing Capital Programme approved by

6

Page 7

Council in February 2019 and the additional requirements for the ten
year Capital Programme being formulated. The MTFP identified a
requirement of £1m per annum and further review has identified that
this needs to be increased to £2.5m per annum. At this point £1.5m is
also being added to the budget for the impact of the ten year Capital
Programme, this will need to be updated as the Programme goes
through the review and approvals process.
5.16. Funding
5.17. The funding updates and overall position are set out in detail in
Appendix 1B. The amendments to the October 2019 MTFP are set out
below.
Confirmation of the SFA Increase
5.18. There is some good news arising from further work and clarification
following the September Funding Announcement. Settlement Funding
Assessment (SFA) which is the combination of retained business rates
and the historical Revenue Support Grant (RSG) will increase by
£1.0m.
Confirmation regarding Flexible Homelessness Support Grant
(FHSG) and Troubled Families Grant
5.19. In October 2019, the MTFP had assumed a reduction of FHSG of
£0.8m; however, this grant is now confirmed to continue in 2020/21 at
2019/20 levels. Troubled Families Grant will also continue in 2020/21
at 2019/20 levels.
Update on Business Rate Pooling
5.20. Whilst the Business Rates Pilot was brought to a close in the Spending
Announcement at a cost of circa £3m, London Councils have
nevertheless agreed to pool their Business Rates which will benefit
Enfield by £0.425m.
Use of Reserves
5.21. At present it is assumed that an amount in the order of £1.565m will be
required on a one-off basis to support addressing the 2020/21 gap and
balancing the budget.
5.22. The current level of reserves (less Reserves set aside for repayment of
debt – MRP and interest reserves of £22.7m and the £6.6m insurance
reserve); totals £44.7m. After the use of reserves to balance 2019/20,
the estimated level of reserves will be £39.0m.
5.23. The £39.0m estimated level of reserves is 17% of the Council’s net
budget of £231m. The five-year budget gap as set out below totals
£45.6m; exceeding the Council’s level of reserves.
5.24. As the budget continues to move towards a more resilient footing, the
intention is to, reduce the ongoing calls on reserves. Should the inyear contingency of £3m not be utilised next year resulting from the
more robust budget, this can then be used to replenish reserves.

7

Page 8

6. PROGRESS ON SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION PROPOSALS
6.1.

There has been a further review of the savings presented in October as
well as consideration of further options. One element of the more
recent approach to budget setting is to ensure that all savings
proposed are realisable. Over the last year over £2.536m has been put
back into the budget for unrealisable income targets and savings
delivery; with a further £1.785m for 2020/21. This means that the
budget is on a more robust footing and transparent. As a result of this
ongoing strategy the savings and income generation proposals for
2020/21 have been revised.

6.2.

Table 2 Saving and Income Generation Proposals
2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

Total

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

12.961

11.811

14.064

13.999

14.081

66.916

Tranche 1
Savings

(11.874)

(2.652)

(1.599)

(3.050)

(3.033)

(22.208)

Reprofiled
Savings

0.848

0.890

(0.714)

0.851

1.098

2.973

Tranche 2
Savings

(0.370)

(0.900)

(0.760)

0.000

0.000

(2.030)

(11.396)

(2.662)

(3.073)

(2.199)

(1.935)

(21.265)

1.565

9.149

10.991

11.800

12.146

45.651

(1.565)

1.565

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

10.714

10.991

11.800

12.146

45.651

Gap

Total
Revised Gap
Use of
Reserves
Remaining
Gap

Revisions to Savings and Income Generation Proposals
6.3.

There has been a reduction in the overall level of savings due to some
reductions and reprofiling following further review.

6.4.

The savings proposed through Organisational Redesign have been
reduced from £1.050m to £0.525m. The savings proposal for block
booking semi-independent accommodation for 12 young people has
reduced from £0.125m to £0.060m. The 2019/20 income generation
from cemetery sales has been reprofiled, this creates a challenge in
2020/21 but the overall income across the programme is increased
from £2.673m to £3.774m. In addition, the saving from Traffic Order
Income has increased from £0.040m to £0.100m.

6.5.

The reprofiling of existing savings and the full set of proposals are set
out in detail in Appendix 2B.

6.6.

There is still a remaining gap of £1.565m. It is proposed to use
reserves on a one off basis to meet this gap in 2020/21.

8

Page 9

6.7.

The overall approach has been to protect services and more
importantly the most vulnerable in the Borough. The following two
tables demonstrate how this is being achieved.

6.8.

Table 3a below sets out the savings and income generation by theme.
The majority of savings are being delivered by rationalisation of IT
costs, stronger procurement and contract management and income
generation.

6.9.

Table 3a – Savings by Theme
2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

Total

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

Digital

(0.020)

(0.180)

0.000

(0.250)

(0.250)

(0.700)

IT

(2.500)

(0.450)

(0.260)

0.000

(0.200)

(3.410)

Demand
Management

(0.400)

(0.120)

0.000

0.000

0.000

(0.520)

Procurement/
Contracts

(1.903)

(0.435)

0.000

0.000

0.000

(2.338)

Commercial

(1.653)

(0.471)

(1.748)

(1.349)

(1.455)

(6.676)

Invest to Save

(1.019)

(1.839)

(0.440)

(0.600)

(0.030)

(3.928)

Organisational
Design

(0.712)

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

(0.712)

Corporate Led

(2.125)

1.000

(0.500)

0.000

0.000

(1.625)

Service Led

(1.064)

(0.167)

(0.125)

0.000

0.000

(1.356)

(11.396)

(2.662)

(3.073)

(2.199)

Total

9

(1.935) (21.265)

Page 10

6.10. Table 3b sets out savings by service directorate.
6.11. Table 3b Savings by Directorate
2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

Total

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

Corporate

(2.250)

0.850

(0.500)

0.000

0.000

(1.900)

Resources/
Chief
Executive

(3.439)

(0.982)

(0.260)

(0.250)

(0.450)

(5.381)

Adult Social
Care

(0.885)

(0.100)

(0.100)

(0.100)

(0.100)

(1.285)

Public Health

(0.970)

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

(0.970)

Children’s and
Education

(0.397)

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

(0.397)

Place

(3.455)

(2.430)

(2.213)

(1.849)

(1.385)

(11.332)

Total

(11.396)

(2.662)

(3.073)

(2.199)

(1.935)

(21.265)

Overall Impact of Budget Proposals on Budgets by Service
6.12. A key priority for the Council remains reinvestment of savings into
services targeted at more vulnerable residents. Table 4 sets out the
overall allocation of demography, inflation, pressures and investment
and savings and income generation by service.
6.13. As set out below, there has been significant net investment in the
Adults, Children’s and Education budgets, with increases exceeding
9% of current budget. Adult Social Care budgets increasing by
£6.647m and Children’s Social Care and Education by £3.902m; all
other service area budgets are reducing. The inflationary and pay
award budget currently presented within Corporate will be allocated
across the wider Council.
Table 4: Net Increase in Budget by Service
Corporate

Chief Exec/
Resources

Adult
Social Care

Public
Health

Children’s
and
Education

Place

Total

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

Demography

0.000

0.000

4.486

0.000

2.189

1.550

8.225

Inflation

6.150

0.000

1.283

0.000

0.000

0.000

7.433

Investment

0.075

1.522

0.120

0.000

1.460

1.240

4.417

Capital
Financing

3.025

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.378

3.403

Pressures

0.000

1.481

1.800

0.937

0.650

1.402

6.270

10

Page 11

9.250

3.003

7.689

0.937

4.299

4.570

29.748

Full Year
savings

(0.075)

(0.050)

(0.157)

0.000

0.000

(2.997)

(3.279)

Pension
Contributions

(3.600)

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

(3.600)

New Savings

(2.250)

(3.439)

(0.885)

(0.970)

(0.397)

(3.455)

(11.396)

(5.925)

(3.489)

(1.042)

(0.970)

(0.397)

(6.452)

(18.275)

3.325

(0.486)

6.647

(0.033)

3.902

(1.882)

11.473

Funding

(1.938)

0.000

(5.265)

0.000

(2.705)

0.000

(9.908)

Reserves

(1.565)

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

(1.565)

Total

(0.178)

(0.486)

1.382

(0.033)

1.197

(1.882)

0.000

Net Increase
in Resources

6.14. There is reduced reliance on the use of capital flexibilities in the
2020/21 budget. In 2019/20 there was £3.256m of capital receipts used
to fund transformation. For 2020/21 this is currently forecast to be
£1.7m which will be for the last year of the EY contract (£0.8m), IT
Transformation (£0.5m), Transformation (£0.4m). The full programme
of use of capital flexibilities will come forward for approval at Council in
February. There will be sufficient capital receipts generated to meet this
need, current forecasts identify £14.1m generated during 2019/20.
7. DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT
7.1.

The Settlement Announcement set out funding for the next three years
for the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). DSG will increase by £2.6bn,
5.9% nationally for 2020/21 with increases of £2.2bn and £2.3bn in the
following two years. For 2020/21 there will be a £322m, 4.4% increase
across London and a £17.0m, 5.52% increase for Enfield which will
benefit at a greater rate than the rest of London.

7.2.

For the Council and nationally the High Needs Block of the DSG has
been the cause of significant pressure. The High Needs Block which
funds Special Schools, SEN provision in mainstream schools and
support for SEN through Council Services.

7.3.

For 2019/20 the Quarter 2 Revenue Monitoring Report set out an
overspend of £4.95m against an allocation £46.833m, which will need
to be carried forward to 2020/21. There had been very minimal
increases in funding of £0.9m in both 2018/19 and 2019/20.

7.4.

The Chancellor’s Announcement in September set out a £700m
increase nationally for the High Needs Block of which Enfield would
have expected to receive £5.3m. However, it has done somewhat
better with a £7.0m increase which is 14.71% with the London councils’
average increase being 10.45% and the national increase 12%.

11

Page 12

7.5.

The increase will help address the pressure along with Council
strategies to increase the number of places. However, it will remain an
area of some concern.

7.6.

Finally, there has been a reduction to the Central Service Block to
£0.4bn nationally. Only 21 authorities including three London Boroughs
will have increases. Enfield’s allocation will reduce by £0.2m to £2.7m.

8. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
8.1.

An outline of the financial challenges faced by the Council has been
published through the e Newsletter. Residents’ views are being sought
on the vision to protect the most vulnerable, proposals for the Council
Tax increase and general views on the proposals published in October.
The full detail can be found through the link below.
https://new.enfield.gov.uk/consultations/budget-engagement-2020-21/

8.2.

The feedback from the Engagement will be reported to Overview &
Scrutiny Committee in December.

8.3.

There will be further engagement with interest groups as has taken
place in previous years and there is also a briefing note being prepared
to assist members at their Ward Forums.

9. SCRUTINY
9.1.

The Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee meet on 19
December to scrutinise the savings and income proposals and
spending and funding assumptions.

10. CAPITAL
PROGRAMME
STRATEGY

AND

TREASURY

MANAGEMENT

10.1. There is ongoing work in both of these areas. The three year life of the
existing Capital Programme was insufficient, and officers are currently
drawing up commitments for a ten year Programme. This will be
complemented by a ten year Treasury Management Strategy to give
greater visibility on the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement. Some
allowance for this work has already been made above for the impact
that this will have on the revenue budget. A broad £1.4m per annum
increase has been included which should cover medium to long term
highways maintenance, building maintenance and IT refresh
programme commitments and there has also been allowance made for
the financing costs of a number of initiatives which generate new or
increased income streams for the Council.
10.2. The ten Year Capital Programme is on this agenda and this will come
to Cabinet again with an updated Capital Strategy in February 2020 for
approval on to Council.
10.3. A Draft Treasury Management Strategy will be presented to Audit &
Risk Committee in January 2020 ahead of being presented to Cabinet
and on to Council in February.

12

Page 13

11. NEXT STEPS
11.1. The Council Tax Base and Business Rates Base figures will come
forward for approval in January 2020.
12. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED
12.1. None.
13. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
13.1. Cabinet need to manage the 2020/21 to 2024/25 financial planning
process with due regard to the available resources.
14. COMMENTS FROM OTHER DEPARTMENTS
14.1. Financial Implications
14.1.1. The key financial implications are set out in the body of the report.
14.2. Legal Implications
14.2.1. The Council has various legal and fiduciary duties in relation to the
budget. The Council is required by the Local Government Finance
Act 1992 to make specific estimates of gross revenue expenditure
and anticipated income leading to the setting of the overall budget
and council tax. The Local Government Act 2003 entitles local
authorities to borrow and invest as long as their capital spending
plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable. The 2003 Act requires
the Chief Finance Officer to report to Council as part of the budget
process on the robustness of the estimates of borrowing, investment
and spending and the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves
taking into account the affordability, prudency, sustainability, value
for money, stewardship of assets, service objectives and practicality
requirements as provided by CIPFA’s Prudential Code of Capital
Finance in Local Authorities concerning borrowing and investment.
14.2.2. Members are obliged to take into account all relevant considerations
and disregard all irrelevant considerations in seeking to ensure that
the Council acts lawfully in adopting a budget and setting council tax.
The Council must set and maintain a balanced budget and must take
steps to deal with any projected overspends and identify savings or
other measures to bring budget pressures under control. Members
should note that where a service is provided pursuant to a statutory
duty, the Council cannot fail to discharge its duty properly.
14.2.3. Members have a fiduciary duty to the Council Taxpayer for whom they
effectively act as trustee of the Council’s resources and to ensure
proper custodianship of the Council’s resources.
14.2.4. This report provides a clear and concise view of the position at
present of future sustainability and the decisions that need to be
made for the recommended actions outlined herein with a view to
meeting the Council’s legal and fiduciary obligations.

13

Page 14

14.3. Property Implications
14.3.1. There are property proposals detailed in the appendices to the report.
The Director of Property and Economy and team have been fully
engaged in their formulation.
15.

KEY RISKS

15.1 There are a number of risks which may impact on the 2020/21 Budget
and 2020/21 to 2024/25 Medium Term Financial Plan.
15.2 The absence of a multi year settlement from Government is a major
source of uncertainty and impacts on the ability to plan for the medium
term. It is important that the Council maintains adequate reserves and
balances to mitigate this risk and the Finance Team will regularly
review the financial assumption made.
15.3 There is naturally risk in delivery of the individual proposals and these
are subject to risk appraisal and will be continuously reviewed.
15.4 There is a risk that spending pressures in 2019/20 are not managed
and create a greater funding gap in future years. The 2019/20 Budget
is being managed through detailed reporting to management on a
monthly basis and to Cabinet quarterly and there is a Pressures
Challenge Board in place to address the key areas of spending
pressures.
15.5 There are also political risks at this time with Brexit and uncertainty on
the outcome of the early General Election. This situation will be
continuously monitored.
16.

IMPACT ON COUNCIL PRIORITIES – CREATING A LIFETIME OF
OPPORTUNITIES IN ENFIELD

16.1 Good homes in well connected neighbourhoods
16.2 Whilst not including full proposals on capital spend, the report sets out
a position that can ensure the continuation of critical initiatives that will
improve the quality of existing neighbourhoods and support residents,
especially the most vulnerable.
16.3 Sustain strong and healthy communities
16.4 The proposals acknowledge the centrality of supporting local people to
live healthy, happy and independent lives. This is demonstrated by the
commitment to prioritise support and protect front line adult social care
and children’s services. The proposals ensure that the local authority
is able to continue to deliver services that can provide the basis for
strong and healthy communities.
16.5 Build our local economy to create a thriving place
16.6 The proposals help create a financial position for the local authority
that can provide a basis for further work to contribute to the wider
economic wellbeing of the borough.

14

Page 15

17.

EQUALITIES IMPACT IMPLICATIONS

17.1

Local authorities have a responsibility to meet the Public Sector Duty of
the Equality Act 2010. The Act gives people the right not to be treated
less favourably because of any of the protected characteristics. It is
important to consider the needs of the diverse groups with protected
characteristics when designing and delivering services or budgets so
people can get fairer opportunities and equal access to services.

17.2 The Council aims to serve the whole borough fairly, tackle inequality
and protect vulnerable people. The Council will promote equality of
access and opportunity for those in our communities from the protected
characteristic groups or those disadvantage through socio-economic
conditions.
17.3 Through the use of Equality Impact Assessments the Council can
analyse and identify where and how proposed changes to services,
policies and budgets could improve its ability to serve all members of
the community fairly. It helps ensure that the Council does not
discriminate, and in taking decisions that it does not unduly or
disproportionately affect some groups more than others. The Council
also recognises that undertaking full assessments will help to improve
the efficiency and effectiveness of the Council by ensuring that
residents and service users’ needs are met through the delivery of the
Council’s aims and objectives.
17.4 The Council’s budget is not subject to a single Equality Impact
Assessment, as it is far too complex for this approach. Instead, budget
proposals requiring change or new services and policies will be
required to carry out an Equality Impact Assessment to evaluate how
the proposal will impact on all parts of the community. The impact
assessment must include consultation with affected people and
organisations. Heads of Service will have to identify what actions will
be taken to mitigate against the worst adverse impacts at the end of
their EQIA. The Corporate Equalities Group will be providing advice
and support to Departments in developing appropriate EQIAs.
18.

PERFORMANCE AND DATA IMPLICATIONS

18.1 The demand management assumptions have been developed by
looking closely at the data and undertaking projections based upon
historic and current patterns of demand and need and assessing
future demand such as rising populations and changes in age
demographics. This data is under constant review with an aim to
develop more sophisticated projections which will inform future years
18.2 Tracking the progress in realising the proposed savings is crucial and
monitoring of these will be undertaken through Financial reporting but
also through departmental and executive management team reporting
18.3 It will be important to track any positive or negative impact on the
Council’s key performance indicators as a result of these initiatives
and this review will continue to be done through our performance
framework and associated methodology. This will allow services and

15

Page 16

the council as a whole to make a robust assessment of the impact of
these initiatives.
19.

HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

19.1 None arising from this report
20.

HR IMPLICATIONS

20.1

Any proposal that is likely to impact on posts or changes and potential
closure of services, will require the Council to conduct a meaningful
consultation with trade unions and staff. This will include consideration
of alternative proposals put forward as part of the consultation
process. The Council’s HR policies and procedures for restructures
should be followed. Any consideration for staff structural changes
should ensure there is a resilient workforce to deliver on-going service
requirements. Therefore, consideration of workforce planning should
be included in the process.

20.2

Where redundancies are necessary the appropriate HR policies and
procedures should be followed. Redeployment options must be
considered.

20.3

It is important that services engage with HR at the earliest opportunity.

21.

PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS

21.1

The Council’s core business is to maintain and enhance the wellbeing
of the community; austerity and the financial climate is severely
challenging its ability to do this. The MTFP outlines how the Council
aims to meet its financial demands whilst minimising the effect of these
pressures on the community. However, it is difficult to envisage how
continuous cuts to the Council’s budget will not impact upon its ability
to support and maintain community wellbeing.

Background Papers

16

APPENDIX 1A
Pressures in the Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 - 2024/25
Ref No.
Pay Awards and Inflation
General inflation
Pay Awards
Customer Experience & Change 1
Environment & Operations
ASC_P1_1920
ASC_P2_1920
ASC_P3_1920
Total Pay Awards and Inflation

Investment / Capital Financing
Capital Financing
Capital Financing existing programme
Capital Financing 10 year programme
- Montagu
- Fleet Replacement
- Additional Affordable Housing Meridian
1
- Crematorium Development
Invest to Save
Legal
Organisational Development
People & Governance
Head of Corporate Strategy
Bid Writing Post
WIL/EMG/DG
ASC
Investment in Youth Crime
Children's Services
Summer Uni Programme
CSC
Social Work Apprenticeships
Investment in Waste
Property & Economy
R&M Budget
Property & Economy
Commercial
Customer Experience & Change

Proposal Summary (from template)

Category

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2022/23
£000

2023/24
£000

2024/25
£000

Total
£000

3,000
2,526
320

3,000
2,550
320

3,000
2,576
320

3,000
2,602
320

720
500
80
7,146

720
500
80
7,170

720
500
80
7,196

720
500
80
7,222

15,000
12,754
1,600
330
3,588
2,494
401
36,167

Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
People
People
People

General inflation
Pay Awards
Inflation specifically for IT contracts
Impact of deteriorating commodity prices for dry recycling materials
Customer Pathway Contract Inflation ASC
Learning Disabilities Contract Inflation ASC
Mental Health Contract Inflation ASC

Inflation
Inflation
Inflation
Inflation
Inflation
Inflation
Inflation

3,000
2,500
320
330
708
494
81
7,433

People
People
People
People
People
People
People

Demography
Demography
Demography
Demography
Demography
Demography
Demography

2,017
1,159
72
1,194
44
397
1,792

2,000

2,000

2,000

2,000

750

750

750

750

10,017
1,159
72
1,194
44
397
4,792

Place

Adult Social Care Demographic Pressures estimated July 2019
Older People - Overspend forecast for 2019/20 at Q1
Older People - Overspend forecast for 2019/20 at Q2
Learning Disabilities - Overspend forecast for 2019/20 at Q1
Learning Disabilities - Overspend forecast for 2019/20 at Q2
Children's Social Care Demography estimated July 2019
Further Children's Social Care Demography
Home To School Transport Pressures (ongoing annual demand pressures impact of £530k) +
other current pressures

950

630

630

630

630

3,470

Place

Home To School Transport/SEN Transport - Overspend forecast for 2019/20 at Q1

Demography

8,225

3,380

3,380

3,380

3,380

21,745

1,000
1,500

1,000
1,500
1,500

1,000
1,500
1,500

1,000
1,500
1,500

304

1,000
1,500
1,500
869
458

360

360

5,000
7,500
6,000
869
1,482

405

193

1

440

1,564

Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
CEX
CEX
CEX
CEX
CEX
Corporate
People
People
People
People
People
People
Place
Place
Place
Place
Resources
Resources

Capital Financing
Capital Financing existing programme
Capital Financing 10 year programme (provisional pending further work)
Capital Financing Costs - Montagu
Capital Financing Costs - Fleet Replacement
Capital Financing Costs - Additional Affordable Housing Meridian 1
Capital Financing Costs - Crematorium Development
Capital Financing Costs of Investment in LED Street Lighting
FOI/MEQ Team restructure
Continuing Professional Development (estimate of £70k per directorate)
Director of HR
Head of Corporate Strategy
MM2 post for Bid writing within Law & Governance (new)
Women into Leadership/Ethnic Minorities Group/Disabilities Group
Modern Slavery Team
Two Year Pilot on Prevention of Serious Youth Violence ends
Permanent increase in the number of front line social workers
Summer Uni Programme
Children's Social Care - Edge of Care Work - social work team
Social Work Apprenticeships (new)
Investment in Street Cleaning (funded via Waste Savings)
Property Restructure and Asset Management System
Repairs and Maintenance budget shortfall (non-capital planned works)
Asset Valuations Capital Accounts - Statement of Accounts action plan
Procurement Hub staffing
Web Team staffing

Demography

Cap Fin
Cap Fin
Cap Fin
Cap Fin
Cap Fin
Cap Fin
Cap Fin
Cap Fin
Investment
Investment
Investment
Investment
Investment
Investment
Investment
Investment
Investment
Investment
Investment
Investment
Investment
Investment
Investment
Investment
Investment
Investment

600

525

600

282
378
121
150
150
110
72
75
120
(500)
865
80
385
130
500
440
150
150
250
60

260

260

100
150

150

150

150

282
378
121
150
150
110
72
75
120
(500)
865
80
385
650
500
540
750
150
250
60

Page 17

Demographic Pressures
Demographic Pressures
Older People
Older People
Learning Disabilities
Learning Disabilities
Demographic Pressures
CSC Demographic Pressure
Home To School Transport/SEN
Transport
Home To School Transport/SEN
Transport
Total Demographic Pressures

Department

APPENDIX 1A
Pressures in the Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 - 2024/25
Ref No.
Customer Experience & Change 2
Finance
Customer Experience & Change
Total Investment / Capital Financing

Department
Resources
Resources
Resources

Proposal Summary (from template)
IT Team staffing
Debt Strategy - increasing staff levels to focus on debt prevention and benefit maximisation
Customer Operations - quality manager and training post

Category
Investment
Investment
Investment

North London Waste Authority
NLWA
Total NLWA

Corporate

North London Waste Authority (NLWA) - new waste facility

NLWA

Pressures
Emergency Planning
ASC

CEX

Annual contribution to London Resilience Team (new)

Pressure
Pressure

People
CSC
People
People
People
People
Place
Place
Place
Place
Place
Place
Place
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources

In sourcing cleaning contract (loss of JV income from NORSE JV £123k)
Increased property lease costs
Out of hours service-one off contract termination cost
Procurement Contract review/forward plan legacy savings
Schools Traded Catering Service - Subsidy (originally £200k, now increased to £600k)
Prior Year Legacy income unrealisable: IT Network Assets and Infrastructure

Pressure
Pressure
Pressure
Pressure
Pressure
Pressure
Pressure
Pressure
Pressure
Pressure
Pressure
Pressure
Pressure
Pressure
Pressure

2021/22
£000

350

350

2022/23
£000

2023/24
£000

2024/25
£000

Total
£000
700

170

170

89
7,820

5,069

5,930

4,793

4,950

89
28,562

0

194
194

753
753

753
753

753
753

2,453
2,453

30

30

1,500

1,500

50

50

600
937
300
291
88
150

600
937
300
291
88
130
150

250

250

123
500
31
520
600
300
6,270

130

99

0

0

0

123
500
0
520
600
300
6,369

(31)

Overall Pressures in the MTFP 2020/21 - 2024/25

29,748

15,888

17,233

16,122

16,305

95,296

Full Year Effect of savings already agreed

(3,279)

(1,840)

(439)

0

0

(5,558)

Spending Pressures net of FYE savings

26,469

14,048

16,794

16,122

16,305

89,738

Pensions - Actuarial Review

(3,600)

0

0

0

0

(3,600)

Page 18

Schools Traded
ASC/PH
Supporting People
R&E_P10_1718
R&E_P11_1718
ENV_S9_1819_T1
Property & Economy
Trespass and Enforcement Actions On
Council Land
Property & Economy
Property Lease
Customer Experience & Change 3
Commercial
Commercial
IT
Total Pressures

Increasing costs of services delivered by IWE - (original pressure of £2.0m reduced to £1.5m)
National Accreditation and Assessment System (NAAS) for Social Workers - new requirement
(original pressure of £200k reduced to £50k)
Prior year legacy income unrealisable: School traded
Use of one-off Public Health Reserves to support 2019-20 budget reversed
Overspend forecast for 2019/2020
Street Lighting PFI Reserve
Planning Policy - establish a base budget for the function
Traffic and Transportation Income (18/19 saving for 3 years only)
Vacant Properties / Disposals - creation of base budget for function
Trespass and Enforcement Actions On Council Land £250k per annum

2020/21
£000

APPENDIX 1B
Funding Assumptions in the Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 - 2024/25
Proposal
Council Tax
Council tax single person discounts and other discounts. Use our internal
records to identify savings
Review Council Tax Reduction Scheme
Adult Social Care Precept 2020/21 2.00%
Core Council Tax Increase 1.99% (no tax base growth)
Original Assumed Tax Base Growth - 300 Band D Equivalents each year
Tax Base adjustments and Tax Base Growth - additional 500 Band D
Equivalents each year rather than 300

Grants
Social Care Grant (£1bn nationally)
New Homes Bonus - grant reduction from 21/22
Reduction in Housing Benefit Admin Grant (10% per annum)

(500)
(200)
(2,559)
(2,533)

(1,000)

(2,584)

(2,635)

(2,688)

(2,741)

(1,500)
(200)
(2,559)
(13,181)

(402)

(417)

(434)

(449)

(468)

(2,170)

(268)

(278)

(289)

(301)

(312)

(1,448)

2,950
(2,032)
(425)

2,950
(2,032)
(425)

(5,411)
158

Homelessness Grant - reducing by £800k per year from 21/22 (updated)

400
142

400
128

400
115

394
103

(5,411)
1,594
646

800

800

800

800

3,200

700

(700)

Other Items
One off Use of Reserves in 2019/20 reversal
Collection Fund Deficit
CPI Increase in Base Funding 2020/21 (Settlement Funding
Assessment) (new)

(1,000)

Total Funding

(9,908)

(2,237)

One off Use of Reserves in 2020/21

(1,565)

1,565

(11,473)

(672)

Revised Total funding

Total
£000

1,000
1,314

1,000
1,314
(1,000)

(2,730)

(2,123)

(2,224)

(19,222)
0

(2,730)

(2,123)

(2,224)

(19,222)

Page 19

Business Rates
Business Rates Pool arrangement ending
SFA/Business Rates increase
Business Rates Benefit from London Pool (new)

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000

APPENDIX 2A
Full Year Effect of Prior Year Savings in 2020/21 - 2024/25

Department

Title

Corporate
People
People

Corporate
Adult Social Care
Adult Social Care

Taxbase Growth
Reardon Court - Extra Care
Reduction in management as a result of service re-modelling

Place

Place

Edmonton Cemetery Expansion - sales of mausolea and vaulted graves

Place

Place

Additional T&T income from recharges to capital

Place

Place

Cemeteries Mausoleum and Vaulted graves sales - Southgate Cemetery

Place
Place
Place
Place
Place
Place
Place
Place
Place
Place

Place
Place
Place
Place
Place
Place
Place
Place
Place
Place

Meridian Water Meanwhile Use income - reversal of 2019/20
LED Street Lighting
Stop School Crossing Patrols
Building Control Income
Temporary Accommodation - Future Years
Market Rentals for Council Properties
Management actions to contain pressure
Increase income across R&E
Organisational Review Savings
Waste Savings

Resources

CEX/Resources

Payments Programme - new system allowing efficiencies in Exchequer

Resources

CEX/Resources

Energy Saving Initiatives - reversal of 2019/20 one-off

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
2023/24 2024/25
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
(75)

Total
£000

(113)

(377)

(75)
(490)
(157)

(6)

(6)

(6)
25

(18)
25

(390)
1,190
(250)
(34)
(50)
(780)
(50)
(379)
(250)
(198)
(1,800)

(60)

(31)

(711)
(50)

(50)

(481)
1,190
(250)
(34)
(50)
(1,491)
(150)
(379)
(250)
(198)
(2,500)

(157)

(200)
150
(3,279)

(700)
(200)
(1,840)

(439)

0

0

(400)
150
(5,558)

Page 20

Directorate

APPENDIX 2B
Tranche 1&2 Savings and Income Generation Proposals 2020/21 - 2024/25
Reference

Department

Description of Saving/Income Generation Proposal

Tranche

Corporate
CORP 20-21 S01

Corporate

CORP 20-21 S02

Corporate

CORP 20-21 S03
CORP 20-21 S04

Corporate
Corporate

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

(2,000)

1,500

Take system credits as a one-off saving, then assume £500k each year ongoing saving

1

Tail spend savings. Supplier manages spend for the council. Savings achieved through
economies
Review HRA recharges, MRP policy and capitalisations and application of grants
Obtain rebates by using Purchase Cards for energy bills and matrix invoicing

2

(150)

2
2

(100)

Corporate Total

(2,250)

2022/23
£000

2023/24
£000

2024/25
£000

Total
£000
(500)

(150)

(300)

(500)

(500)

850

(500)

(1,000)
(100)
0

0

(1,900)

Resources/CEX
RES 20-21 S01

Resources

Organisational Review Saving (original saving £450k; reduction to £225k)

1

RES 20-21 S02

Resources

Update of financial systems. Alternative to SAP & BPC.

1

RES 20-21 S04

Resources

Payroll Service expansion to schools

1

(200)

(200)

RES 20-21 S05

Resources

Staff savings from implementation of a vendor payment portal

1

(200)

(200)

RES 20-21 S06

Resources

Single view of the customer debt

1

(50)

RES 20-21 S07

Resources

On line forms and ability to upload information required to go into back office systems for
revenues and benefits

1

(225)

(225)
(250)

(20)

(250)

(120)

(50)
(140)

Resources

Greater automation to reduce staff resources in administering DWP notifications

1

Resources

Review of out of hours contracting arrangements; early exit termination fees apply.

1

RES 20-21 S10

Resources

Customer Service Centre demand reduction and channel shift

1

RES 20-21 S11

Resources

Sustainable council: reduction in printing across the council by 15%

1

(50)

(50)

RES 20-21 S12

Resources

Re-procurement of bulk printing and postage contract

1

(200)

(200)

RES 20-21 S13

Resources

New arrangements for hosting ICT applications and mobile phone contract reductions

1

(1,300)

(1,300)

RES 20-21 S14

Resources

Reducing costs associated with data storage

1

(300)

RES 20-21 S15

Resources

Reducing cost of maintaining staff laptops and devices

2

RES 20-21 S16

Resources

Procurement saving resulting from replacing our digital customer platform

1

RES 20-21 S17

Resources

Application Rationalisation - ongoing reduction of other applications

2

(200)

RES 20-21 S18

Resources

Rationalisation of telephony contracts

1

(200)

(200)

RES 20-21 S19

Resources

Automation of routine processes including the exploration of Artificial Intelligence

1

(50)

(50)

(14)

(60)

(60)

(42)

(56)

(100)

(100)

(300)
(60)

(60)

(800)

(800)
(200)

(400)

RES 20-21 S20

Resources

Reduction in the usage of the interpreting contract

1

RES 20-21 S21

Resources

Digital support to the UK immigration and visa verification service.

1

(140)

RES 20-21 S22

Resources

Community libraries. Wireless self service printing to generate income

2

(50)

(50)

Investment in a sensory room for use by individuals, companies and schools

1

(20)

(20)

1

(20)

RES 20-21 S23

Resources

RES 20-21 S24

Resources

CEX 20-21 S01
CEX 20-21 S02
CEX 20-21 S03
CEX 20-21 S04
Resources/CEX Total

CEX
CEX
CEX
CEX

Makerspaces. Equipping community rooms to support crafting and other skill
development
Improve our registration offer to local residents
Reduce printing
Organisational Review Saving
Review of recharges

2
1
1
1

(20)

(20)

(140)

(280)

(20)
(50)

(50)
(150)
(100)
(3,439)

(982)

(260)

(250)

(450)

(50)
(50)
(150)
(100)
(5,381)

Page 21

RES 20-21 S08
RES 20-21 S09

APPENDIX 2B
Tranche 1&2 Savings and Income Generation Proposals 2020/21 - 2024/25
Reference

Department

Description of Saving/Income Generation Proposal

Tranche

Adults and Public Health
PEOPLE 20-21 S05
PEOPLE 20-21 S06
PEOPLE 20-21 S07
PEOPLE 20-21 S08
PEOPLE 20-21 S09
PEOPLE 20-21 S10
PEOPLE 20-21 S11
PEOPLE 20-21 S13

Adult Social
Care
Adult Social
Care
Adult Social
Care
Adult Social
Care
Adult Social
Care
Adult Social
Care
Adult Social
Care
Public Health

2021/22
£000

2022/23
£000

2023/24
£000

2024/25
£000

Total
£000

(320)

(100)

(100)

(100)

(100)

(720)

Increased income through fees and charges for chargeable Adult Social Care Services

1

Maximisation of IWE resource for day services

1

(90)

(90)

Review of residential placements to secure appropriate supported living

1

(200)

(200)

Increased use of Assistive Technology and support through the VCS

1

(100)

(100)

Reduced costs of care through early intervention

1

(110)

(110)

More efficient processing of DoLs and care of Pets

1

(40)

(40)

Reduction in print costs

1

(25)

(25)

Review of commissioning contracts and out of borough Sexual Health spend

1

Adults and Public Health Total

(970)
(1,855)

(970)
(100)

(100)

(100)

(100)

(2,255)

DSG Funding and capital recharges

1

(90)

(90)

Reduction in business support (vacant post)

1

(39)

(39)

Reduction in early retirement pension budget

1

(58)

(58)

Reduction in reparation due to Police contribution

1

(10)

(10)

Block booking semi-independent accommodation (original £125k; revised to £60k)

1

(60)

(60)

Reducing placement costs

1

(140)

(140)

(397)

0

0

(170)

(20)

(30)

(20)

0

0

(397)

Place
PLACE 20-21 S01a

Place

Increase in fee income in the planning service

1

(190)

PLACE 20-21 S01b

Place

Building Control Plan Drawing Service

1

PLACE 20-21 S02a

Place

Genotin Road Car Park Redevelopment

1

PLACE 20-21 S02b

Place

Montagu Industrial Estate Redevelopment

1

PLACE 20-21 S02d

Place

Security contract saving

1

PLACE 20-21 S02g

Place

Reardon Court Development Rental Income

1

PLACE 20-21 S02j

Place

Insource Cleaning Contract ongoing efficiencies

1

(50)

(50)

PLACE 20-21 S02l

Place

Sub-stations rent reviews

1

(50)

(50)

PLACE 20-21 S03

Place

Crematorium Development

1

PLACE 20-21 S02

Place

Rationalisation of property estate

1

156

PLACE 20-21 S04

Place

Traffic order income (original £60k; increased to £100k)

1

(100)

PLACE 20-21 S05a

Place

Meridian Water Meanwhile use income

1

(1,109)

PLACE 20-21 S05b

Place

Meridian Water Non-Residential Rental Income

1

PLACE 20-21 S06a

Place

Parking Contract Renewal

1

PLACE 20-21 S06b

Place

Crown Road Lorry Park and Shared Pound

1

0

0

PLACE 20-21 S07

Place

Additional LED street light savings

1

(260)

(260)

PLACE 20-21 S08

Place

Scaffolding Permit Income

1

(50)

(50)

PLACE 20-21 S09

Place

Organisational Review Saving

1

(150)

(150)

PLACE 20-21 S10

Place

Inflation uplift on external clients and receipts income

1

93

(50)

(1,579)

(1,486)
(300)

(900)

(1,200)

(600)

(30)

(630)

(78)

(165)

(78)

(1,544)

(1,544)

(408)

(440)

(692)

387

86

(100)
0

(81)

(717)

(194)

(194)

(35)

(180)

(200)

(180)

(180)

(180)

(720)

Page 22

Children's and Education
PEOPLE 20-21 S04
Education
Children Social
PEOPLE 20-21 S03
Care
Children Social
PEOPLE 20-21 S01a
Care
Children Social
PEOPLE 20-21 S01b
Care
Children Social
PEOPLE 20-21 S02a
Care
Children Social
PEOPLE 20-21 S02b
Care
Children's and Education Total

2020/21
£000

APPENDIX 2B
Tranche 1&2 Savings and Income Generation Proposals 2020/21 - 2024/25
Reference

Department

Description of Saving/Income Generation Proposal

PLACE 20-21 S11

Place

Homelessness Service Review

PLACE 20-21 S12

Place

Southgate Cemetery Cemeteries Mausoleum and Vaulted graves sales

PLACE 20-21 S13

Place

PLACE 20-21 S14
PLACE 20-21 S15
PLACE 20-21 S16

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2022/23
£000

1

(1,000)

(125)

(125)

1

318

70

30

Vehicle Fleet Replacement – through borrowing instead of leasing.

1

(1,200)

(1,200)

Place

In house Parks/Cemeteries contracts efficiency

1

(50)

(50)

Place

Commercialisation of the Fleet Workshop

1

(50)

(50)

Place

Staff capitalisation to MW, due to increased staffing levels to meet the revised MW scope

1

Place Total
Total Savings and Income Generation proposals

Tranche

2023/24
£000

2024/25
£000

Total
£000
(1,250)

(769)

(351)

(70)

(70)

(3,455)

(2,430)

(2,213)

(1,849)

(1,385)

(11,332)

(11,396)

(2,662)

(3,073)

(2,199)

(1,935)

(21,265)

Page 23

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 25

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2019/2020 REPORT NO.

MEETING TITLE AND DATE:
th

CABINET, 4 December 2019

Agenda – Part: 1

Agenda Item 5

157
Item: 5

Subject: Council Tax Support
Wards: All
Key Decision No: 5032

REPORT OF:
Acting Executive Director of Resources
Cabinet Member consulted: Cllr Maguire
Contact Officers: Sally Sanders/
Geoff Waterton
sally.sanders@enfield.gov.uk
geoff.waterton@enfield.gov.uk

1.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

In January 2013 Council agreed a new local Council Tax Support Scheme to
replace the previous national Council Tax Benefit Scheme which was to be
abolished by the Government in April 2013.

1.2

Every year the Council is obliged to consider whether to revise or replace its
local Council Tax Support Scheme.

1.3

This report notes the result of the public consultation and requests Cabinet
recommend to Council to agree the Council Tax Support Scheme for 2020/21

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Cabinet recommends to Council that Council agrees the Local Council Tax
Support Scheme for 2020/21 as summarised in Appendix A to provide financial
support for households on low incomes in paying their Council Tax taking into
account the Equality Impact Assessment (Appendix B) and the results of the
customer consultation shown at Appendix C. The 2020/21 scheme is based on
the 2019/20 scheme, updated for legislative amendments, income uprating and
administrative changes and the following changes which were the subject of
public consultation:
For the 2020/21 scheme:



Reducing the council tax support minimum payment for working age
claimants from 26.5% to 24.5% and increasing the excess income taper from
20% to 22.5%, and
Reduce the earned income threshold for working age council tax support
claimants receiving Universal Credit from £1,265 to £1,100 per month (note
the one-year transitional protection for existing claimants to be provided as
part of the council tax support hardship scheme).

Page 26

3.

BACKGROUND

3.1

The council tax support scheme provides financial support for residents to pay
their council tax. Every year the council sends out over 125,000 council tax
bills totalling £175m (before the council tax support scheme is applied).
Enfield’s scheme supports over 8,500 pensioners at a cost of £10.1m and
26,400 in other groups at cost of £22.3m. The 2020-21 Scheme is set out in
Appendix A. The scheme is agreed annually by Council in the January for the
following financial year. Statutorily the council is required to decide to amend
the Scheme or not and should changes be proposed, this requires
consultation with residents. The history to the scheme is set out below.

3.2

There are rules around what the council can and cannot do with Council Tax
Support Schemes. For example, we cannot change the prescribed
regulations for pensioner’s, but we do have control over working age
assessments.

History
3.2

In 2012 the Government announced that as part of a series of welfare
reforms, the national Council Tax Benefit scheme was to be abolished and
replaced with local schemes. At the time, funding for the replacement local
schemes was reduced by 10% and Enfield faced a £5m shortfall in funding if it
continued to follow the previous national policy.

3.3

Enfield consulted widely on a proposed local scheme and in January 2013
approved a scheme which saw pensioners and war widows protected from
any change and working age claimants seeing a 19.5% reduction in support.
The Scheme was based on the principle of a fully funded scheme so that
minimum contributions are set at a level to cover the costs of the scheme only
and council tax payers are not asked to contribute to the costs. At the same
time, Council agreed changes to exemptions and discounts to Council Tax
which saw the discount for empty and refurbished homes reduced to one
month, no discount given for second homes and the introduction of a new
empty homes premium of 150% of Council Tax for homes left empty for more
than two years, the maximum increase allowable.

3.4

In 2014-15, the scheme was no longer funded as a separate government
grant and became integrated in the council’s budget. The Scheme was
reviewed in this year, and the Council increased the range of protected
groups further to include foster carers registered with the Council, people in
receipt of Carers Allowance and people in receipt of higher rate disability
benefits (Higher Rate Disability Living Allowance, Higher Rate Personal
Independence Payments and the support component of Employment Support
Allowance). This means that if you are a carer on the minimum needs
allowance, for example, and your council tax bill was £1,000 a year, the carer
would receive the full £1,000 in council tax support and would not be required
to pay the minimum contribution.

Page 27

3.5

Every year the Council is obliged to consider whether to revise or replace its
local Council Tax Support Scheme.

3.6

During 2017/18 the Government has included Enfield Council in the roll out of
Universal Credit full service. The current council tax support scheme for
2019/20 takes into account the effect of the roll out of Universal Credit and
ensures the scheme remains affordable while at the same time seeks to
protect vulnerable council taxpayers.

3.7

For 2019/20, the government changed the legislation so that empty homes
attract a 200% premium on their council tax, effective from the 1st April 2019.

How does the current scheme work?
3.8

The Scheme assessment process is complex and therefore difficult to explain
as each household circumstances are different and each of these
circumstances are taken into account when calculating the council tax
support. For example, two households with the same income levels in the
same council tax banding, will pay different levels of council tax support
depending on how many children are in the household for example. But
broadly, simplifying the scheme works as follows:





For claimants receiving a passported benefit e.g. Income Support, Jobseekers
Allowance (income based), Employment Support Allowance (income-related)
– the minimum they have to pay is 26.5 %
For claimants with income above the income threshold – once they are over
the minimum applicable amount (applying the governments threshold) they
pay an additional 20% of the excess income – this is known as the Income
‘taper’.
Pensioner age council tax support claimants can receive 100% of the council
tax if they are on or below the minimum income threshold.

4.

ADDITIONAL SUPPORT FOR HARDSHIP

4.1

In recognition of the difficulties faced by local households, the Council
introduced and has maintained a discretionary Council Tax Hardship Scheme.
Households facing exceptional financial hardship can apply to the scheme
and receive help with their Council Tax. Payment from the Council Tax
Hardship Scheme this year will exceed £200,000. The Council Tax Hardship
Scheme is called upon over time not simply within the current financial year of
the scheme.

4.2

Further, the council also provides core funding to the Citizens Advice Bureau
of £340k which includes the provision of debt advice.

4.3

For 2020/21 the council is exploring ways to change our debt collection
processes to support our more vulnerable council tax payers. Following the
conclusion of the consultation, should this proposal be agreed, any additional
available resources from this Scheme change will be re-invested to support
these improvements.

Page 28

5.

AMENDMENTS TO THE COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME
CONSIDERED

5.1

For 2020/21 the current scheme has been reviewed to see whether the
minimum contribution for households living on the basic needs allowance can
be reduced from the current 26.5%. The impact of this proposal is to reduce
the council tax bills for residents who have the lowest income levels and are in
receipt of Council Tax Support.

5.2

There are many ways to assess council tax support but given the financial
position outlined in the Medium-Term Financial Plan (updated at July 2019
Cabinet) the council must manage the cost of any future council tax support
scheme within its projected financial constraints. Therefore, the aim of this
proposal to reduce the threshold is funded from within the current scheme
envelop.

5.3

Universal Credit was introduced in 2013 by the Government to gradually
replace 6 means tested benefits, including Housing Benefit. It only affects
working age claimants. From 2015 the roll out of Universal Credit commenced
in Enfield. To date over 4,000 housing benefit claims have been cancelled as
tenants are migrated across. Over 6,700 council tax support claimants
currently receive Universal Credit. As set out above the council’s CTS scheme
was amended in 2017-18 to take account of this new benefit. However, since
then, the Government has increased the Universal Credit work allowance and
the current Scheme needs to be reviewed for residents in receipt of this
benefit because there is now a disparity in the way the scheme works for
residents on universal credit and other types of benefits.

5.4

The proposal that was subject to public consultation as agreed at Cabinet on
the 17th July 2019 is set out below:
Proposal for consultation

5.5

Reducing the council tax support minimum payment and increasing the
excess income taper.
What is the proposal? – The proposed council tax support change for
2020/21 is to decrease the minimum payment level from 26.5% to 24.5% and
to increase the excess income taper from 20% to 22.5%.
What is the impact on the resident? - The change in minimum payment
level will benefit most working age claimants and cost the council £290,000
while only working age claimants with income above their applicable amount
(the Government assessment of basic living needs) will be impacted by the
increase in the income taper.
This option would reduce the council tax payable for c12,200 council tax
payers on the lowest level of income not affected by the income taper by on
average £0.60 per week. Some 7,300 household’s above the basic needs

Page 29

allowance level would be affected by the increase in income taper by £0.49
per week on average. The range and households impacted by the proposed
change are shown below:

Weekly Saving Breakdown
Working Age
£ Range
No of Claims
£0-0.50
1404
£0.51-1.00
1920
£1.01-1.50
1787
£1.51-2.00
1215
£2.01-2.50
590
£2.51-3.00
304
£3.01-3.50
76
£3.51-4.00
28
£4.01-4.50
5
7329

Couple one or
both over 18
43
58
63
40
30
17
6
2
3
262
3515

Family
one or
both over Lone
Single
18
parent
claimant
582
521
258
769
749
344
750
761
213
560
495
120
304
204
52
213
59
15
54
11
5
21
2
3
2
3253
2804
1010
3814

Couples

Singles

What is the impact on the budget? – Reducing the minimum payment will
increase the cost of the council tax support scheme by £290,000. Increasing
the income taper to 22.5% will increase council tax income by £390,000, an
overall estimated net saving of £100,000.
What does the proposal achieve? – The proposal means that benefits
claimants on or below the basic needs allowance, i.e. those on the lowest
income levels will pay reduced council tax e.g. residents receiving Job
Seekers Allowance, Income Support, Employment Support Allowance.
Claimants who are above the threshold will pay an additional 2.5% of their
income above the threshold towards their council tax bill.
5.6

Amend the universal credit earned income threshold.
What is the proposal? - An administrative change to the council tax support
scheme to adjust the earned income threshold for residents claiming
Universal Credit from £1,265 to £1,100 per month. Currently over 6,700
households receive Council Tax Support based on an award of Universal
Credit.
This change will reduce the threshold to align with a recent increase in the
Universal Credit earned income disregard (known as the Work Allowance) by
the Department for Work and Pensions from 1st April 2019 and will also
ensure the council tax support scheme for council tax payers receiving
Universal Credit remains equitable when compared with non-Universal Credit
Council Tax Support assessment.

Page 30

What is the impact on the resident? - This would impact 233 current
Universal Credit claimants by an average of £18.33 per week. The range and
households impacted by the proposed change are shown below:

Weekly Cost (before
transitional
Family one
arrangements) Working Couple one or both
Family 1 or both
or both
Age Not Protected
over 18
state pension
over 18
Lone parent
£0-£5
0
£5-10
4
2
£10-15
42
3
30
£15-20
85
4
13
51
£20-25
87
5
1
55
19
£25-30
13
2
4
4
£30-35
2
1
1
233
11
1
76
107

Single
claimant
25 or
over

Please note, the original calculations included 122 impacted residents, this
has now been refreshed to reflect current residents in receipt of Universal
Credit impacted by this proposal.
What is the impact on the budget? - This change will increase council tax
income for the council by £220,000, based on current levels but is likely to be
reduced by approximately 50% for one year as a result of the anticipated
transition scheme.
What does the proposal achieve? – The proposal will ensure the council tax
support scheme assessment remains equitable for Universal Credit and nonUniversal Credit working age claimants in preparation for the possible
introduction of an increased number of income banding levels in future years.
6.

THE CONSULTATION PROCESS AND RESULTS

6.1

The consultation was available for 12 weeks between the 12th August and the
3rd November and included:





A questionnaire for residents
A questionnaire for Third Sector representatives which was sent to the
voluntary sector (over 600)
Hard copies of the questionnaire for residents available at Edmonton
Green, Palmers Green, Enfield Town and Ordnance Road libraries
For customers receiving Council Tax Support, the offer to book a oneto-one session with a Council Tax officer to give an indication of how
the proposal may have an impact on the household. Sessions were
available on the following dates:

2
9
17
7
3
38

Page 31














Tuesday, 10 September 2019 at Enfield Town Library (10am to 2pm)
Thursday, 19 September 2019 at Edmonton Library (10am to 2pm)
Online consultation form via the Council’s website
Targeted social media campaign
19,000 emails were sent to existing contacts on the Council Tax
database for working age claimants receiving council tax support
Presentation to the Carers Group
Granicus digital newsletter articles to residents signed up for
Information for Council tenants and leaseholders information
September edition. 5,520 subscribers
Third Sector Development Bulletin: e-newsletter article in to Enfield’s
voluntary organisations to c.600 organisations
August edition: https://new.enfield.gov.uk/services/your-council/thirdsector-development/#16
Housing News: Article and advert
October edition – distributed to 17,000 Council Tenants and
Leaseholders
Poster campaign
Civic Centre, Council Buildings, Libraries, Voluntary Sector
Organisations
Social media posts:
17,174 number of times messages appeared on social media feeds
482 number of people interacted with social media posts
Google analytics data: https://new.enfield.gov.uk/consultations/201908-12-council-tax-reduction-scheme-for-202021/
from 12 August to 3 November there were 2,514 page views
Internal staff communications
staff matters, TV screens, posters in staff areas: c.2500 staff

The consultation included the preferred proposals set out above and the no
change option.
6.2

In total, 108 completed questionnaires were received.





37 who receive council tax support
71 who do not receive council tax support
15 who receive council tax support and Universal Credit
6 who receive Universal Credit but no council tax support

Council officers met with four CTR recipients, one-to-one to discuss the
proposals. Information from these sessions have been captured and
considered. However, the information is specific to the individuals’
circumstances, so it will not be shared
No responses were submitted by Third Sector organisations. However, the
Council did discuss the proposals, prior to the consultation, with Citizens
Advice Enfield

Page 32

6.3

The results of the consultation can be seen at Appendix C. Part 1 shows the
Greater London Authority (GLA) response and Part 2 all other responses.

6.4

The Council’s actions to the GLA’s response are shown below and includes
the introduction of a one year transitional protection scheme for existing
claimants receiving Universal Credit significantly affected by the reduction in
earned income threshold to be provided as part of the existing council tax
support hardship scheme

GLA Response
Recognises that local authorities face
difficult choices on CTS schemes, as
overall funding from central government has
reduced and funding for CTS is no longer
identifiable within the settlement
Welcomes the proposal that potential
additional resources will support improved
debt prevention and debt collection
processes and the support the Council
continues to provide to those CTS
claimants experiencing financial hardship,
both through its discretionary hardship
scheme and financial support to the
Citizens Advice Bureau.

Enfield’s Actions
Noted

In addition, the Enfield Council are the first
Local Authority to enter into a contract with
Indesser to collect current year council tax
arrears for customers receiving council tax
support. The pilot scheme will help low
income households avoid expensive court
and bailiff costs and to agree affordable
payment arrangements. Indesser are a
private business, jointly owned by the
Government, which offers fair and ethical
collection services which take account
individual circumstances. As a partner to
the Government a share of the company
earnings goes back to the public purse.
The Council also intends to create a team
from February 2020 to provide and coordinate welfare advice and debt support to
vulnerable and low-income households.

Supports the council’s proposal to reduce
the minimum payment to 24.5%; the
offsetting changes to the taper would not
appear to significantly increase council tax
bills for the majority of claimants affected by
this change.
Is concerned about the large increase
which a small number of claimants will face
as a result of the proposed change. Around
120 existing claimants will face a large
increase in their council tax bill, a significant
change to manage in household budgets. If
the Council decides to adopt this proposal,
the GLA would encourage the Council to
consider whether transitional arrangements

Both initiatives are the subject of funding
bids to the GLA to support the Council in
developing these services.
The recommendation to amend the scheme
is included within this report.

Following consultation comments received,
the Council will amend the council tax
support hardship scheme to allow
transitional protection in 2020/21 for
claimants suffering a significant loss of
council tax support following the reduction
of earned income threshold for working age
council tax support claimants receiving
Universal Credit from £1,265 to £1,100 per

Page 33

should be implemented.

month.

Would encourage the Council to consider
whether more income could be generated
through the additional flexibility billing
authorities will have from April 2020 to
increase the empty homes premium

The council tax base report scheduled for
January Cabinet includes a
recommendation to increase the empty
homes premium as suggested

Would encourage Enfield to consider
adopting the Citizens Advice Council Tax
Collection protocol.

The Council will adopt the Citizens Advice
Council Tax Collection protocol early in
2020.

Communicates clearly, in advance of the
changes, with those affected

All council tax support claimants will receive
notification of their council tax support
assessment in advance of the new financial
year.

6.5

Appendix C Part 2 shows the findings from residents and Third Sector
responses. The findings suggest:


residents who receive CTS are more positive and less negative about the
proposals than those who do not benefit from CTS



Of those who receive CTS, 54% think it will have a positive impact on their
household and 11% think it will have a negative impact if implemented. While
35% gave a more ambivalent response (that is, neither positive nor negative
or don’t know). The base sizes of 37 and 71 are relatively small so the
findings should be considered indicative rather than authoritative. Those who
do not receive CTS are less positive and more negative about this proposal,
compared to those who receive CTS. The reasons for this may be due to a
perceived impact on Council finances



When asked if the proposal to align rules with the Universal Credit calculation
would have a positive or negative impact (Q6), around three out of 10 (31%)
said it will have a positive impact on their household, while a little more than
two out of 10 (23%) said it would have a negative impact



When asked what the potential negatve impact(s) could be (Q7), seven of the
four CTR recipients who said the proposal will have a negative impact, shared
their views. As expected, the impact is financial. Three of the four CTR
recipients who responded to this question suggested that the current scheme
should remain in place.



All respondents were asked, in view of the proposals, if they think the Scheme
should be changed (Q9). Around half (48%) agree with the changes.



Respondents were asked for alternatives they would like the Council to
consider (Q11). Around a quarter (28 individuals) responded to this question.
Most responses are not suggestions for reconfiguring the CTRS. The most
popular suggestions appear to relate to:

Page 34

The Council making further savings and efficiencies (x3)
Scrapping/replacing Council Tax (x3)
7.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

The recommendations contained in this report follow an assessment of
options, experience of operating the scheme to date and the Equality Impact
Assessment. The recommended changes introduced in 2014 for defined
protected groups and the further extension of care leavers under the Equality
Impact Assessment support the Council’s aims to build strong, stable
communities and are recommended to be continued next year.

8.

COMMENTS OF THE DIRECTOR OF RESOUCES AND OTHER
DEPARTMENTS

8.1

Financial implications
The agreed Council Tax base will be built into the 2020/21 budget and
Council Tax to be recommended to Council in February 2020. The overall
cost of £32m for the Council Tax Support Scheme for 2020/21 would be
reduced by an estimated £100,000 and £110,000 (net of transition)
respectively based on 2019/20 council tax levels as a result of the proposals
contained in this report.
This is net of the Greater London Authority share and would be reflected in
the Council’s council tax collection fund estimate to be agreed in January
2020. These figures are based on the current cohort of resident and therefore
are an estimate. This will provide additional resources to re-invest an
improved debt prevention, welfare advice and debt collection improvement
processes.

8.2

Legal implications

8.2.1 The Welfare Reform Act 2012 provided for the abolition of Council Tax Benefit
(CTB). Provisions for the localisation of Council Tax support were included in
the Local Government Finance Act 2012. Since 1 April 2013 local authorities
in England have been responsible for administering their own Council Tax
Reduction Schemes subject to the Council Tax Reduction Schemes
(Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 (SI 2012/2885).
Some authorities chose to adopt the default scheme provided for in the
Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements and Default
Scheme) (England) Regulations 2012 (SI 2012/2886). Each year, after a
Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Council Tax Support Scheme) has been
implemented, the Council must consider whether to revise or replace its
scheme. Any revision or replacement to the scheme must be made by 11
March, preceding the financial year in which the revision or replacement is to
have effect. The Secretary of State prescribed a default scheme which took
effect from April 2013 where a billing authority failed to make a scheme on or
before 31 January. Following the Independent Government review in the

Page 35

Schemes (see below), there was a finding that that Councils find the date of
31st January, as arbitrary, illogical, too early and inefficient. Key Government
announcements and budgetary decisions may impact as the consultation
process may have concluded resulting in potentially, a further consultation
exercise.
This default scheme retains the criteria and allowances previously in place for
CTB (Council Tax Benefit). Authorities can revise or replace their schemes in
preparation for the start of each financial year. They may not make in-year
revisions. Transitional arrangements must be put in place where revisions
result in a reduction or removal of assistance for a class or classes of
persons.
As the proposed Council Tax Support Scheme for 2020/2021 will be a
replacement or revision to the current scheme it falls under the statutory
requirement to consult under the 13A Local Government Finance Act 1992,
which is the Act under which the Council Tax Support Schemes are formed. If
there is a replacement or revised scheme, proposed, then the statutory duty to
consult is mandatory.
This report sets out in the Appendix C, the outcomes of the statutory
consultations and takes into account those results, together with the Equality
impact assessment in Appendix B for its recommendations for the 2020/2021
proposed Council Tax Support Scheme.
8.3

Property Implications
None

9.

Key Risks

9.1

The key risks relate to operational, financial and reputational concerns.
There is an operational risk of failure to collect the estimated amount, e.g. if
any category of exemption has not been specified and following
implementation of the scheme the Council is unwilling to pursue recovery
action in particular cases of default. The operational risks are mitigated by
assisting payers with supportive payment arrangements and by applying
fairly, consistently and promptly the recovery process.

9.2

The financial risk is of insufficient collection rates and of Universal Credit
caseload rises being beyond those anticipated in calculating the Local
Scheme costs and deductions required from support. In the initial year of the
scheme there was a risk that collection rates may be over or under stated.
The Council has adjusted anticipated ultimate collection rates in the scheme
for 2019/20 based on experience to date and the impact of increase in
contribution rates. Variation between the estimated and actual collection rates
and caseload levels will result in either a deficit (or surplus) on the Collection
Fund in future years. The current Medium-Term Financial Plan assumes
variation to current assumptions. The cost of the 20/21 scheme will be
monitored, paying particular attention to those on Universal Credit with a net

Page 36

Earned Income up to the revised level. Options to introduce more earned
income bands, for those getting Universal Credit, to attract different maximum
contribution rates will be considered for 2021/22.
9.3

The reputational risk is of failure to make proper provision for people on low
income losing some of the current level of support. The reason for this
scheme arises from a Government decision to replace the existing national
scheme with local schemes with reduced grant funding and clearly
considerable help will need to be available to payers facing increased Council
Tax bills as a result of the change in scheme. Conversely, failure to properly
pursue payment of Council Tax due in such cases would create inequality of
treatment with other Council Taxpayers many of which will have income levels
only marginally above the limit for obtaining Council Tax Support.

10.

IMPACT ON COUNCIL PRIORITIES

10.1

Good homes in well-connected neighbourhoods, Sustain strong and
healthy communities, Build our local economy to create a thriving place
Council tax income helps fund essential Council services. Council Tax
Support helps households on a low income pay the council tax. Enfield’s
Local Council Tax Support helps over 35,000 residents pay the council tax.
The Council works closely with residents and its partners to maximise welfare
benefits where possible.

10.2

Sustain strong and healthy communities
Enfield’s Local Council Tax Support helps over 35,000 residents pay the
council tax. The Council works closely with residents and its partners to
maximise welfare benefits where possible.

10.3

Build our local economy to create a thriving place
N/A

11.

EQUALITIES IMPACT
As part of the modelling undertaken for this proposal and equalities impact
assessment has been undertaken. The modelling of the average weekly
change, range, no. of claims and households affected by the proposals and
indicates a broad range of affected households and no one particular
household group impacted more than another. The recommendations
contained in this report retain financial support for protected working age
vulnerable groups.

12.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS
None.

13.

PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS

Page 37

Council Tax Support helps residents who may also be struggling financially
due to the wider Government welfare changes. The implications will depend
upon the success of residents gaining employment or, for those in low paid
employment, obtaining better paid employment. Supporting people facing
hardship and stress will be key to promoting the ability of families to provide
healthy food, to pay bills and to promote sound mental health.
APPENDICES
Appendix A – 2020/21 Council Tax Support Scheme
Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment
Appendix C - Results of the customer consultation

Page 38

Appendix A
The Council Tax Reduction Scheme - Summary - 2020/21
Introduction
The London Borough of Enfield’s Council Tax Reduction Scheme is based on the
CTRS (Default) Scheme Regulations 2012 except where otherwise stated and the
Prescribed Regulations updated and issued annually by Government.
The definition and detail of the above Regulations can be found on the National
Legislation website below.
http://www.legislation.gov.uk
The full CTRS Scheme for 2019/20 can be found at the following link –
https://new.enfield.gov.uk/services/benefits/housing-benefit-and-council-taxsupport
The 2020/21 scheme is based on the 2019/20 scheme, updated for legislative
amendments, income updating and administrative changes

Principles of the Scheme for 2020/21
The principles of the scheme continue to provide for a system based on Ensuring that those who can afford to pay make a fair contribution;
Support is provided for those in difficult circumstances;
The Scheme protects the most vulnerable.
The reduction in Council Tax Support for working age reflects the on-going reduction
in Government funding for the scheme and other services.

Classes of Persons
Classes of persons excluded from the Scheme are set out in the Prescribed
Regulations, including those treated as not resident in Great Britain and who are
subject to immigration control.

Uprating
Working Age claimants – The uprating of applicable amounts, premiums and
disregards are updated in line with the Housing Benefit Statutory Regulations 2006
as amended.

Page 39

Pensionable Age claimants– The uprating of applicable amounts, premiums and
disregards are updated in line with the Prescribed Regulations issued by the Ministry
of Housing, Communities and Local Government.

Working Age Claimants
The main changes to the Default Scheme Regulations 2012 are summarised below–
The second adult rebate (2AR) was removed from 2013.
The higher rate non-dependant deduction is £20.50 per week for those earning
above £436.90 gross income per week. All other non-dependant deductions have
been increased in line with the Prescribed Regulations.
Claimants in receipt of Universal Credit and earning more than £1,100 net per month
do not qualify for CTS. Only those whose income goes above £1,100 per month
need to report a change which will result in the award ending. The effective date of
change will be the Monday following the date Universal Credit changed.
The contribution towards Council Tax is 24.5% unless a claimant is in a protected
group.
The upper Capital threshold is £6,000.
The minimum weekly entitlement is 0.50p
Claims may be backdated for up to 12 months where good cause has been
established.
CTS may be payable on two homes in cases of Domestic Violence.
The restriction on Personal Allowances to two children is aligned with Housing
Benefit. This restriction will only apply where a new application for CTS is made or a
claimant becomes responsible for a new young person.
A Council Tax Hardship Fund was introduced in 2013. Information regarding the fund
is available at https://new.enfield.gov.uk/services/benefits/discretionarypayments.

Protected Groups.
The following groups are exempt from the contribution towards their Council Tax.
War Widows
A Claimant or partner in receipt of Carers Allowance
A Claimant or partner in receipt of High Rate Disability Living Allowance (Mobility
and Care component) or Enhanced Personal Independence Payments (Daily Living
and Mobility Component)

Page 40

A Claimant or partner in receipt of the support component of Employment and
Support Allowance.
A Claimant or partner who are Foster Carers and who were recruited and trained by
Enfield Council.
Care Leavers under 25 years old.

Pensioners
The second adult rebate (2AR) is retained for those of pensionable age.
Non-dependant deductions and income bandings are increased in line with the
Prescribed Regulations.
Backdating may be awarded for up to 12 months where good cause has been
established.
The date of change for those reporting a change in their circumstances is the
Monday following the date of change, regardless of the date notified.
Where Housing Benefit or Universal Credit is already in payment, a new claim for
Council Tax Support is not required.

Appeals
A claimant can make an appeal to the Council concerning their entitlement to a
Council Tax reduction under the Scheme or the amount of reduction they are entitled
to. The appeals procedure is set out in the Prescribed Regulations.
An appeal must be made within one month of the decision and include the reason for
the appeal and the period it applies to. Any additional evidence to support the
appeal should be provided. The Council will consider the appeal and inform the
customer of the outcome. Were a customer remains dissatisfied they can appeal
further to the Valuation Tribunal.

Summary - 2020/21 Proposed Changes
Working Age Claimants
Claimants in receipt of Universal Credit and earning more than £1,100 net per month
do not qualify for CTS. Only those whose income goes above £1,100 per month
need to report a change which will result in the award ending. The effective date of
change will be the Monday following the date Universal Credit changed.
The contribution towards Council Tax is 24.5% unless a claimant is in a protected
group.

Page 41

For excess income, the income taper of 22.50% (previously 20%) will be used to
calculate the amount of reduction to be made

Appendix B

Enfield Council Predictive Equality Impact Assessment/Analysis

Page 42

Department:

FRCS

Service:

Assessment Hub

Title of
decision:

Council Tax Support Scheme 2020/21

Date
completed:

25th June 2019

Author:

Geoff Waterton/Sally Sanders

Contact
details:

geoff.waterton@enfield.gov.uk

1.

Type of change being proposed: (please tick)

Service delivery
change/ new
service/cut in
service

2.

sally.sanders@enfield.gov.uk

Policy change or new
policy

x

Grants and
commissioning

Budget change

Describe the change, why it is needed, what is the objective of the change and what is the possible impact
of the change:

Following previous Equality Impact Assessments and consultations, the Council introduced a range of protected groups in the scheme that
remain entitled to a maximum award of 100%. These are: pensioners, war widows, foster carers registered with the Council, people in
receipt of Carers Allowance and people in receipt of higher rate disability benefits (Higher Rate Disability Living Allowance, Higher Rate
Personal Independence Payments and the support component of Employment Support Allowance). Further information regarding the
amounts set aside for protected groups is shown at Appendix 1 of the full Council report of the 23rd January 2019
All other working age households are expected to pay a minimum contribution towards Council Tax. A discretionary Hardship Scheme
was introduced to provide support to those households that get into severe financial hardship.
The scheme proposed for 2020/21 aims to reduce the cost of council tax for households receiving the basic needs allowance within the
council tax support scheme, introduce a corresponding increase to the excess income taper to ensure the scheme costs remain within the
budgeted expenditure level and ensure assessment consistency for households receiving Universal Credit and those that are not.

Page 43

The Council is obliged to set a local Council Tax Reduction Scheme every year following the abolition of the national Council Tax Benefit
system in 2013. The Council introduced a local Council Tax Support Scheme to provide financial assistance for low income households in
paying their Council Tax. Since 2013, the Council has reviewed the scheme every year and is now deciding on the scheme for 2019/20.

3.

Do you carry out equalities monitoring of your service? If No please state why?

Marriage &
Civil
Partnerships

Pregnancy &
Maternity

Sexual
Orientation

Religion &
Belief

Race

Age

Gender

Indicate Yes, No or Not Known for each group

Disability

4. Equalities Impact

Gender
reassignment

Yes although religious belief, sexual orientation and gender reassignment are not captured as they are not relevant to the assessment
or eligibility criteria of the scheme

Y

Y

Y

Y

n/a

n/a

Na/

Y

Y

2. Does the service or policy contribute to eliminating
discrimination, promote equality of opportunity, and foster
good relations between different groups in the community?

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

3. Could the proposal discriminate, directly or indirectly these
groups?

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

4. Could this proposal affect access to your service by different N
groups in the community?

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

5. Could this proposal affect access to information about your
service by different groups in the community?

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

6. Could the proposal have an adverse impact on relations
between different groups?

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

Page 44

1. Does equalities monitoring of your service show people
from the following groups benefit from your service?
(recipients of the service, policy or budget, and the
proposed change)

If Yes answered to questions 3-6 above – please describe the impact of the change (including any positive impact on equalities) and what
the service will be doing to reduce the negative impact it will have.

Any other socioeconomic factor
Please state;

People in poor health

People on low
incomes

Lone parents

People living in
social housing

Will the proposal specifically impact on communities disadvantaged
through the following socio-economic factors?

N

Y

N

N

N

Y

N

N

Does the service or policy contribute to eliminating discrimination,
promote equality of opportunity, and foster good relations between
different groups in the community?

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Could this proposal affect access to your service by different groups
in the community?

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

If Yes answered above – please describe the impact (including any positive impact on social economic inequality) and any mitigation if
applicable.

Page 45

People with low
academic
qualifications

Indicate Yes, No or Not Known for each group

People not in
employment,
education or training

5. Tackling Socio-economic inequality

Communities living
in deprived
wards/areas

The Scheme has been designed to be fair to all whilst ensuring that those facing the greatest risk are prioritised. The proposed scheme
includes protection for older people, carers, disabled working adults and foster carers who do not have the same opportunities as other
working age households to gain employment and increase their income. The proposed changes will benefit claimants on the lowest
income. Claimants with income above the income threshold will make an increased contribution. Income uprating maintains the level of
support in real terms. The discretionary Hardship Scheme will ensure those households facing genuine financial hardship as a result of
the change can access support. In addition, a new debt and benefit advice team will be created to provide co-ordinated debt and benefit
advice to council tax payers.

Working age households not in a protected group who are on incomes above the income threshold and will be required to pay a higher
contribution to their Council Tax per annum. The Council has introduced a range of flexible payment arrangements for Council Tax Support
recipients, has a discretionary Hardship Scheme for those households that face severe financial hardship and offers debt and welfare benefit
advice.

6. Review
How and when will you monitor and review the effects of this proposal?
The Council is legally required to review its scheme annually and consider if any revisions are necessary.

Page 46

Action plan template for proposed changes to service, policy or budget
Title of decision: Council Tax Support Scheme 2019/20………………………… …………………………………………………..
Team: Finance……………………………………………………………. Department: Resources………..
Service Manager: Geoff Waterton/Sally Sanders… …………………………………………….
Identified Issue

Lead Officer

Timescale/
By When

Costs

Monitor debts and takeup of Council Tax
Hardship Scheme

Sally Sanders/Geoff
Waterton

Ongoing

none

Review impact of the
scheme

Sally Sanders/Geoff
Waterton

December 2020

none

Sally Sanders/Geoff
Waterton

On going

Within resources

Impact of the scheme on
claimants with income
above the income
threshold

Communicate change in
scheme to customers
and key stakeholders

System to be amended
to automatically apply
the protected. Web
advice to be amended

Review Date/
Comments

Page 47

Severe
hardship/transitional
protection - UC

Action Required

Council debt strategy to
be developed and
agreed to incorporate
targeted support for
vulnerable and
customers with multiple
debts

Cross Council and
Voluntary Sector
services to be
coordinated to ensure
optimum debt and
income maximisation
service is provided
within existing
resources

Sally Sanders/Geoff
Waterton

Debt Strategy to be
agreed during 2019/20
financial year

Within resources

Date to be Reviewed: …December 2020………………

APPROVAL BY THE RELEVANT DIRECTOR - Fay Hammond………………
SIGNATURE……………………….……………………….
Page 48

This form should be emailed to joanne.stacey@enfield.gov.uk and be appended to any decision report that follows.

Page 49

Appendix C – Part 1 – Greater London Authority consultation
response
LONDON BOROUGH OF ENFIELD: COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2020-21
Thank you for your email of 13 August informing the GLA about the Council’s
consultation on proposals for the draft council tax support (CTS) scheme for 202021. The draft scheme options consulted on are summarised in this letter. This letter
sets out the GLA’s response to the consultation.
Introduction
As in previous years, the GLA recognises that the determination of council tax
support schemes under the provisions of the Local Government Finance Act 2012
are a local matter for each London borough. Individual schemes need to be
developed which have regard to specific local circumstances, both in respect of the
potential impact of any scheme on working age claimants (particularly vulnerable
groups) and, more generally, the financial impact on the council and local council tax
payers – and therefore the final policies adopted may, for legitimate reasons, differ
across the capital’s 33 billing authorities.
This fact notwithstanding the GLA also shares in the risks and potential shortfalls
arising from the impact of council tax benefit localisation in proportion to its share of
the council tax in each London billing authority. It is therefore important that we are
engaged in the scheme development process and have an understanding of both the
factors which have been taken into account by boroughs in framing their proposals,
as well as the data and underlying assumptions used to determine any forecast
shortfalls which will inform the final scheme design.
Framing Proposals
As part of the introduction of council tax support in 2013-14, the Government set out
its expectation that, in developing their scheme proposals, billing authorities should
ensure that:


Pensioners see no change in their current level of awards whether they
are existing or new claimants;



They consider extending support or protection to other vulnerable groups;
and



Local schemes should support work incentives and, in particular, avoid
disincentives to move into work.

The GLA concurs with those general broad principles and would encourage all billing
authorities in London to have regard to them in framing their schemes.

Page 50

Proposed Options for 2020-21 Scheme
The London Borough of Enfield is proposing two main changes to its council tax
support scheme from 2020-21 onwards:


A reduction in the minimum payment from 26.5% to 24.5% and an
increase in the income taper from 20% to 22.5%



A net earned income threshold of £1,100 per month to ensure consistency
with Government calculations and fairness

The Council states the proposed changes will
help those who are most in need of support, reflecting that
residents have increasingly found it difficult to pay contributions towards council tax.
The proposed changes will also simplify the transition for those claimants moving
from ‘legacy benefits’ to Universal Credit (UC). The two proposed changes are
outlined in summary in the sections below. All the changes apply to working age
claimants only; the scheme will remain unchanged for pensioners.
Reduction in minimum payment and increase in taper
The Council proposes reducing the current minimum payment from 26.5% to 24.5%.
According to the consultation document, this would affect around 12,000 existing
claimants on the lowest levels of income by reducing their council tax liability by an
average of 60p per week or £31.20 a year. The reduction in income for the Council
as a result of this proposal would be offset by an increase in the income taper rate
from 20% to 22.5%. Households above the minimum income threshold would
therefore make a higher contribution to their council tax bills. This change would
affect around 7,300 households above the basic needs allowance level who would
pay an additional 43p per week on average. The Council estimates
70% of households affected by this change would face increases of no more than
£1.50 per week.
Alignment of rules with Universal Credit calculation
The Council proposes to amend the net earned income threshold for claimants
receiving UC from £1,265 in the current arrangements to £1,100 per month from
2020-21. Claimants in households which earn more than the threshold would no
longer receive CTS and would be required to pay the full amount of council tax. This
change will align the scheme with an increase in the UC earned income disregard
(known as the Work Allowance), implemented by DWP in April 2019. It is intended to
ensure the CTS scheme for those receiving UC remains comparable to the
assessment for those claimants who do not receive UC. In a report to the Council’s
Cabinet, on 17 July, the Council estimated the change would increase income to the
authority by £117,000 per year and would affect 122 existing claimants, increasing
council tax by an average of £17.67 a week or £919 per year.
GLA Response to Proposals

Page 51

The GLA recognises that local authorities face difficult choices on CTS schemes, as
overall funding from central government has reduced and funding for CTS is no
longer identifiable within the settlement. Although there is uncertainty over future
funding levels, the GLA notes that most London boroughs making changes to
schemes in 2020-21 propose to maintain expenditure at current levels, whereas this
proposal would reduce overall spending, albeit marginally. The GLA welcomes the
proposal that potential additional resources will support improved debt prevention
and debt collection processes.
Furthermore, the GLA welcomes the support the Council continues to provide to
those CTS claimants experiencing financial hardship, both through its discretionary
hardship scheme and financial support to the Citizens Advice Bureau.
The GLA supports the council’s proposal to reduce the minimum payment to 24.5%;
the offsetting changes to the taper would not appear to significantly increase council
tax bills for the majority of claimants affected by this change. It would be useful to
have the figures presented for this change in the same way as they are in the
Cabinet report for the decrease in the minimum payment, with a table showing the
financial impact, as well as the number and types of household affected.
The GLA recognises that the change to the UC earned income threshold proposed
by Enfield more closely aligns the support offered through its CTS scheme to
claimants on Universal Credit with those receiving legacy benefits. However, the
GLA is concerned about the large increase which a small number of claimants will
face as a result of the proposed change. Around 120 existing claimants will face
increase in their council tax bill of over £10 per week, a significant change to manage
in household budgets.
If the Council decides to adopt this proposal, the GLA would encourage the Council
to consider whether transitional arrangements should be implemented. The Council
could consider capping the maximum changes at a lower level for households with
families, at least in 2020-21, to enable claimants to adapt to the new scheme. The
GLA would also be covering part of the cost of a cap in proportion to the GLA
precept element of council tax payable by these CTS claimants. Another council
proposing changes to its scheme in 2020-21 plans to implement transitional
arrangements, to ensure that households losing more than 10% of their existing
award as a result of the changes will be awarded 50% of the overall loss in the first
year, as a credit to the council tax bill.
Should the change be implemented as proposed, it is important that the Council
communicates clearly, in advance of the changes, with those affected. This will give
claimants advance warning to enable them to begin to budget for these additional
costs.
Finally, the GLA would encourage the Council to consider whether more income
could be generated through the additional flexibility billing authorities will have from
April 2020 to increase the empty homes premium; this is set out in further detail

Page 52
below. It is the GLA’s view that the proposed changes should be considered in the
whole. If one proposed change results in greater savings for the Council that could
be used to reduce the need to apply other proposals, then we would encourage the
Council to consider doing this as it would help to reduce the financial burden on
individuals and families in Enfield who see their CTS entitlement reduced.
Technical Reforms to Council Tax
The GLA considers that in formulating its council tax support scheme each billing
authority should consider the impact of the additional revenue it may be possible to
raise through powers introduced in the Local Government Finance Act 2012 and the
Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act
2018.
The GLA understands that Enfield no longer provides any discounts for properties
undergoing major repairs (former class A), unoccupied and substantially unfurnished
(former class C) or second homes. The Council has also decided to increase the
empty homes premium up to the maximum threshold of 100% for properties that
have been unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for a continuous period of two
years, as allowed by the 2018 Act.
However, from the evidence available on the Council’s website, it is not clear
whether the Council plans to increase the empty homes premium further in
subsequent years, up to the maximum percentage permitted for each category (i.e. a
200% premium for homes empty from 5-10 years from April 2020 and a 300%
premium for homes empty over 10 years from April 2021). The additional revenues
from maximising this flexibility could be used to reduce any shortfalls and thus the
sums which need to be recovered from working age claimants through changes to
the CTS scheme.
We would encourage the Council to inform us as soon as possible if any changes
are proposed to its discount and premium policies, in order to assist us in assessing
the potential impact on the Mayor’s funding and tax base for 2020-21 and future
years
Council Tax Protocol
In recent years the issue of council tax collection practices has become more high
profile. The GLA, of course, recognises the importance of ensuring council tax
arrears are collected wherever possible. However, in some instances poor collection
practices can worsen debt problems for vulnerable residents.

Page 53

Citizens Advice, in partnership with the Local Government Association, has
developed a council tax protocol1, which outlines a number of practical steps for
early intervention to support people struggling with payments. In summary, the
Protocol asks that councils:


work with enforcement and advice agencies to help people pay their
council tax bills while accessing debt advice;



ensure all communication with residents about council tax is clear;



use the Standard Financial Statement when calculating repayment plans;



offer flexible payment arrangements to residents;



do not use enforcement agents where a resident receives council tax
support;



publish their policy on residents in vulnerable circumstances

In London, eight boroughs have now signed up to the protocol and the GLA would
encourage all boroughs to consider adopting the protocol.
Providing Information on Schemes
Whilst we recognise that the detailed rules on council tax support schemes are
inevitably complex, the GLA would encourage all boroughs to make every effort to
set out information on their schemes as clearly as possible. Information that may
help potential claimants could include an online calculator, to identify whether
potential claimants are likely to be entitled to support, as well as ‘Frequently Asked
Questions’ and a summary document outlining concise details of the scheme. In
addition, for existing claimants, we would encourage boroughs to consider how the
process for reporting changes in circumstances can be made as straightforward as
possible.

Setting the Council Tax Base for 2020-21 and Assumptions in Relation to
Collection Rates
The council will be required to set a council tax base for 2020-21 taking into account
the potential impact of the discounts the Council may introduce in respect of council
tax support and any potential changes the Council may implement regarding the
changes to the treatment of empty homes. The Council will need to make a
judgement as to the forecast collection rates from those claimants and council
taxpayers affected by any changes to council tax support, taking into account the
experience in the first six years of the council tax support arrangements.
1

https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/Global/CitizensAdvice/campaigns/Council%20Tax/Citizens%20Advice%20
Council%20Tax%20Protocol%202017.pdf

Page 54

The GLA would encourage the council to provide it with an indicative council tax
base forecast as soon as options are presented to members for approval, in order
that it can assess the potential implications for the Mayor’s budget for police, fire and
other services for 2020-21. This should ideally be accompanied by supporting
calculations disclosing any assumptions around collection rates and discounts
granted having regard to the final council tax support scheme design.
Collection Fund and Precept Payments
By 23 January 2020 the Council is required to notify the GLA of its forecast collection
fund surplus or deficit for 2019-20, which will reflect the cumulative impact of the
localisation of council tax support since it was introduced in 2013-14. The GLA would
encourage the Council to provide it with this information as soon as it is available.
I would like to thank you again for consulting the GLA on your proposed council tax
support scheme options for 2020-21.

Page 55

Appendix C Part 2
Council Tax Support Scheme consultation key findings – Residents
Proposal to reduce the minimum payment and increase the income taper
When asked about the if the proposal to reduce the minimum payment from
26.5% to 24.5% and increase the income taper would have a positive or
negative (Q3), just over a third (35%) said it will have a positive impact on their
household, while just less than three out of 10 (29%) said it would have a negative
impact. See Chart 1 for further details.
Chart 1

Base: All respondents (108)
N.B. The combined figure for positive is 35% after rounding (18.5% very positive,
16.7% fairly positive). The aggregate of neither positive nor negative and don’t know
is 36% (18.5% and 17.6% respectively)
Of the 35% who believe the proposal will have a positive impact on their household,
19% believe it will be very positive and 17% fairly positive. Close to three out of 10
(29%) believe that if implemented the proposal will have a negative impact on their
household. This consists of 7% who think it will have a fairly negative impact and
22% who think it could be very negative. Around four of 10 (36%) did not have a
definitive opinion - that is, they selected neither positive nor negative (19%) or don’t
know (18%).
The findings suggest that those who receive CTR are more positive and less
negative about the proposals than those who do not benefit from CTR. See Chart 2
for details.

Page 56

Chart2

Base size in parenthesis
N.B. The combined figure for those not receiving CTR who feel the proposal will
have a positive impact, is 25% after rounding (12.7% very positive, 12.7% fairly
positive) and the combined negative score is 38% after rounding (29.6% very
negative and 8.5% fairly negative)
The base sizes of 37 and 71 are relatively small so the findings should be
considered indicative rather than authoritative. This is the case in other parts of this
report where the data has been stratified to compare the views of CTR recipients
and those who do not received CTR.
Of those who receive CTR, 54% think it will have a positive impact on their
household and 11% think it will have a negative impact if implemented. While 35%
gave a more ambivalent response (that is, neither positive nor negative or don’t
know).
A relatively high proportion of CTR recipients (24%, 9 respondents) said they don’t
know what impact the proposal will have on them. We expected this may be the case
in some instances. To reduce the potential number of respondents who may not
know if the proposal will have an impact on them, we produced a Frequently Asked
Questions document and we offered to meet CTR recipients one-to-one to discuss,
among other things, their personal circumstances and how the proposals could affect
the level of CTR they receive should the proposal be implemented.
Those who do not receive CTR are less positive and more negative about this
proposal, compared to those who receive CTR. The reasons for this may be due to a
perceived impact on Council finances (this will be discussed below). A quarter (25%)
of those who do not receive CTR feel it will have a positive impact, around four out of
10 (38%) believe the impact will be negative. A comparatively high proportion of
respondents (23%) who do not receive CTR selected neither positive nor negative,
reflecting the fact that they do not currently receive CTR.

Page 57

Some additional points to note in comparing the views of CTR recipients and those
who do not receive CTR in relation to this question:
The highest recorded score for CTR recipients is that of very positive, while
the highest score for those who do not receive CTR is very negative
The net positive figure (that is, the difference between those who state the
proposal will have positive impact and those who said it will have a negative
impact) for CTR recipients is 43%. The net positive figure for those who do
not receive CTR is -13%. A difference in net positive scores of 56 points
Please note, the decision was made not try and establish, using the questionnaire,
which respondents have an income level that may lead to them having to pay
Council Tax should the taper be increased. It was felt this was neither practical nor
would it likely to produce information that is reliable.
Those who said it would have a negative impact on their household, were asked
what the potential negative impact(s) would be (Q4). Of the four CTR recipients
who said it would have a negative impact on their households, three shared their
views. No key theme emerged. Below are the verbatim responses from these
individuals.
“Increase in council tax payments. Lower opinion of Enfield council due to continually
adjusting how the make support calculations which give rise to anxiety and stress”
“People who cannot work should not be asked to pay any council tax, where would
the person find the money to pay, this is the worse idea ever.”
“I am financially struggling to pay bills and feed the children already.”
Of the 27 respondents who do not receive CTR and had said the proposal will have
a negative impact on their household, 24 told us what the they feel the potential
impacts will be. One issue appears to standout, with 14 claiming it would have an
adverse effect on Council finances. They suggested this may be reflected in an
increase in Council Tax, lower Council revenues or reduced services. The following
verbatim comments from this group of respondents provides a flavour of this
viewpoint:
“I will have to pay more council tax, which is already relatively high. Especially as
you are making cuts such as our refuse collections!”
“Council tax will rise for other residents.”
“will be paying higher rates of tax in order to cover the lower earnings in the borough”
“Council Needs all the funds it can get”
It should be noted that both within the Frequently Asked Questions document and
the questionnaire, it was stated that, based on information currently available to us,
reducing the minimum payment from 26.5% to 24.5% of Council Tax will be an
additional cost to the Council. However, this increase in costs will be met from the
reduction in costs delivered by increasing the income taper. However, a number of

Page 58

respondents appear to think should the proposal be implemented, it will be an
additional cost to the Council. Our estimates are based on a detailed analysis of
those who currently receive CTR.
Those who said the proposals would have a negative impact were then asked how
the Council can mitigate the potential negative impacts of the proposal (Q5),
should it be implemented. We received just three responses to this question from
CTR recipients. From these, no theme emerged. The verbatim comments from these
respondents are listed below.
“Stop fiddling around with your calculations to inspire confidence and certainty rather
than fear and anxiety that support nay be reduced.”
“By leaving things as they are.”
“keep any total annual rises below the average wage increase and considerer full
financial limit”
When those who do not receive CTR were asked the same question, 23 responded.
One key theme stood out, with 10 out of 23 claimed that no change should be made
to the current scheme. Based on the responses of this group of respondents to the
question asking what they believe are the potential negative impact(s) of the
proposal (Q4), the suggestion of making no change to the scheme could, in part, be
explained by the potential impact that making such a change to the scheme could
have an adverse effect on Council finances.
Proposal to align rules with Universal Credit calculation
When asked if the proposal to align rules with the Universal Credit calculation
would have a positive or negative impact (Q6), around three out of 10 (31%) said
it will have a positive impact on their household, while a little more than two out of 10
(23%) said it would have a negative impact. See Chart 3 for further details.
Chart 3

Base: All respondents (108)
Of those who think it will have a positive impact, this is roughly split in half between
those who think it will have a very positive impact and those who believe it will have

Page 59

a fairly positive impact - 14% and 17% respectively. While the proportion of
respondents who think it will have a very negative impact is almost the double the
number of respondents who believe it will have a fairly negative impact - 15% cf 8%
respectively.
Around a half (46%) did not have a definitive opinion - that is, they selected neither
positive nor negative (26%) or don’t know (20%). The relatively high proportion of
those who selected neither negative nor positive, may be explained by the fact that
25 of the 28 who selected this response, do not receive CTR. While the 22 who
selected don’t know is equally split between those who receive CTR and those who
do not.
If we look at the views of those who receive CTR, more than two out of five (43%)
feel it will have a positive impact on their household, while around one out of five
(19%) think it will have a negative impact. This compares to 24% of non-CTR
recipients who think the impact will be positive and 25% who feel it will be negative.
See Chart 4 for details.
Chart 4

1
Base size in parenthesis
N.B. The aggregate for non-CTR recipients who said the proposal would have a
negative impact is 25% after rounding (15.5% very negative and 9.9% fairly positive)

Of those who receive CTR, 43% think it will have a positive impact on their
household and 19% think it will have a negative impact if implemented. While 38%
gave a more ambivalent response (that is, neither positive nor negative or don’t
know). A relatively high proportion (30%, 11 respondents) of CTR recipients said
they don’t know what impact the proposal will have on them. This highlights the
need, should the proposal be implemented, for us to take steps, prior to April 2020,

Page 60

to inform those who may see significant changes in the amount of Council Tax they
may pay.
Those who do not receive CTR are less positive and more negative about this
proposal. A quarter (24%) of those who do not receive CTR feel it will have a positive
impact, while a similar number (25%) feel it will be negative. A comparatively high
proportion of respondents (35%) who do not receive CTR selected neither positive
nor negative. This may be explained by the fact that they do not receive CTR. While
16% said they don’t know.
The net positive figure (that is, the difference in the number of those are positive
compared to those who are negative) for CTR recipients is 24%. While the net
positive figure for those who do not receive CTR is -1%. A difference of 25 points.
The difference in the net positive scores in relation to the proposal to reduce
minimum payment and increase the taper is 56 points. Thus, suggesting that the
views of CTR recipients and those who do not receive CTR are more closely aligned
in relation to the proposal to use the Universal Credit calculation.
When asked what the potential negatve impact(s) could be (Q7), seven of the
four CTR recipients who said the proposal will have a negative impact, shared their
views. As expected, the impact is financial. Below are the verbatim comments
submitted.
“I simply would not be able to afford or sustain paying full Council Tax. It would
seriously impact negatively on my ability to live day to day, in terms of food
shopping, etc.”
“If I were to get a small payrise it could cost me all of my council tax support”
“Because my rent is £1100 that goes straight to my landlord Not to me I need help
with council tax support as I do not have enough money to pay more”
“Struggling with stagnent pay and increasing household bills/school uniforms and
overheads, so feel the current pressures will become unbearable”

Of the 18 who do not receive CTR, 15 shared their views about what they believe
are the potential negative impacts on their households. The only key theme that
emerged was that there is an expectation of Council Tax to increase as a result. This
was referred to by six respondents. However, as stated in the Frequently Asked
Questions document, this proposal is likely to reduce the cost of the CTRS by
around £112,000, based on figures available at around the time the consultation as
launched, and thus deliver a saving for the Council.
Those recipients who stated that they expect the proposal to align rules with
Universal Credit calculation to have a negative impact on their household, were
asked how the Council can mitigate the impacts (Q8). Three of the four CTR
recipients who responded to this question suggested that the current scheme should
remain in place. The other CTR recipient suggested the following:

Page 61

Increase in local higher pay/more affordable housing and living costs. Encourage
new businesses to set up locally area that offer better paid jobs and keep rents
affordable
We received 16 responses from the 18 participants who do not receive CTR but who
feel it will have a negative impact on their household. In terms of mitigating the
potential impact(s) the proposal could have on their households, there appears to be
no suggstion that one issue is more prominent than all others. A number of the
responses were not suggestions. Rather, they expressed an opinion about the
proposal or some other issue. Below are the full set of verbatim responses from
those who do not receive CTR.
“Ensure assets are taken into account in assessments”
“Those on benefit should do some form of community work and thus reduce the
demand if paid work on the council Therefore the council budgets would be lower
and those on benefits would build skills Of course , there will be some exceptions”
“Higher Council Tax bill”
“Keep the current system for Universal Credit households in place OR increase the
income threshold at which households would be subject to paying council tax.”
“Abolish universal credit”
“Decrease in my annual council tax bill.”
“Become more efficient and leave the status as it is”
“Not change the current system”
“do not implement this tax on families who work hard but still struggle to get by”
“Increase in Council Tax”
“Cancel the change in taper limit. No need for it. Let us continue to pay what we are
paying. Taking away bin services but you want to increase the council tax for
working people. I’m better off on benefits, at least my children can then receive the
basic free school meal.”
“Reduce taxes for everyone and stop wasting money.”
“Don’t make the change”
“I work full time as does my husband. I think the rates we pay are ridiculous pretty
certain it will go up to cater for those who don’t work next year!”
“The income threshold is too low for someone to have quality of life”
“Leave it as it is”
Whether or not changes should be made to the current scheme
All respondents were asked, in view of the proposals, if they think the Scheme
should be changed (Q9). Around half (48%) agree with the changes. The findings
are detailed in Chart 5.

Page 62

Chart 5

Base: All respondents (108)

The most popular response is agree with the changes (48%), followed by suggest no
changes be made (33%), with the least popular response being prefer something
else (19%).
This order of preference is also reflected in the views of those who receive CTR and
those who do not. See Chart 6.

Chart 6

Base size in parenthesis

More than half (54%) of CTR recipients agree with the changes. This is higher than
the score recorded for all respondents (48%) and those who do not receive CTR
(45%). Thus, the majority of CTR recipients seemingly want to see the porposals
implemented.

Page 63

Similar proportions of CTR recipients, those who do not benefit from CTR and
respondents as a whole, suggest no change be made (32%, 34% and 33%
respectively).
Ther scores for prefer something else, suggests that those who do not benefit from
CTR and respondents as a whole have similar views (21% and 19% respectively).
To some extent, this is expected as non-recipients represent the majority of the
sample. A lower proportion of CTR recipients said they prefer something else (14%).
The stronger preference for prefer something else among those who do not receive
CTR, compared to those who benefit from CTR, may be expected based on the
views they expressed in response to questions 4 and 5, where some expressed
concerns that proposed changes to the CTRS will have an adverse impact on
Council finances.

Alternative suggestions
Respondents were asked for alternatives they would like the Council to consider
(Q11). Around a quarter (28 individuals) responded to this question. Most responses
are not suggestions for reconfiguring the CTRS. The most popular suggestions
appear to relate to:

The Council making further savings and efficiencies (x3)

Scrapping/replacing Council Tax (x3)
The full list of verbatim comments are available on request.

Other comments
Respondents were asked if they had any other comments or suggestions they
would like to make (Q12). Although 23 responded to this question, four responses
were not comments or suggestions (for example, “N/A and “Po”). There are no clear
themes emerging from the responses.
The full list of verbatim comments are available on request.

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 65

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2019/2020 REPORT NO.

MEETING TITLE AND DATE:
Cabinet 4.12.19
REPORT OF:
Director of Housing and
Regeneration
Contact officer and telephone number:
Deanna Hobday
02081321742

Agenda Item 6

156

Item: 6
Agenda – Part: 1
1
Subject: Preventing Homelessness and
Rough Sleeping Strategy
Wards: ALL
Key Decision No: KD 4809

Cabinet Member consulted:
Cllr Needs, Cabinet Member for Council Housing

Email: Deanna.hobday@enfield.gov.uk

1.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy is a high-level
strategic document which sets out the Council’s overarching vision and
ambitions to ending homelessness in Enfield. With homelessness continuing
to significantly increase in the borough and with the introduction of the
Homelessness Reduction Act, this strategy sets out our vision to end
homelessness through making homeless prevention a priority across the
Council, with our partners and in the community.
The 12-week public consultation on the strategy closed on 21st October.
There was broad support for the vision and ambitions of the strategy. The
consultation also suggested further areas that we needed to address in the
strategy or areas to clarify and strengthen. These changes are detailed in this
report.

.
2.

RECOMMENDATIONS
That Cabinet approves the strategy for adoption and implementation.
That Cabinet notes the establishment of a multi-agency Homelessness
Prevention Partnership Board to take forward the delivery of the strategy.

3.

BACKGROUND
This new Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy
explains how we will work with partners to prevent and tackle
1

Preventing Homeless & Rough Sleeping Strategy – 19/096 C

Page 66

homelessness and rough sleeping in Enfield. The strategy meets our
obligations under the Homelessness Act 2002 for all housing
authorities to have a homelessness strategy.
This new strategy will replace the previous version which was
published in 2013. A new approach is needed given the significant
demographic and legislative changes since 2013. The Homelessness
Reduction Act 2017 significantly reforms England’s homelessness law
by placing new duties on local authorities to intervene at a much earlier
stage to assess and prevent homelessness. It requires local authorities
to assist all homeless households irrespective of their priority need
status and put in place a Personal Housing Plan that is kept under
regular review.
The opportunities presented through the
Homelessness Prevention Act mean we need a different approach to
tackling the challenge.
As well as new legislation relating to how homelessness is tackled, the
borough of Enfield has changed considerably since our previous
strategy was created. Homelessness has increased significantly, both
nationally and locally. In Enfield homelessness has increased by 250%
since 2011/12. At March 2019, there were 3,410 households in
Enfield’s temporary accommodation which is a 74% rise since 2012.
There are much higher numbers of people on low incomes in the
private rented sector than was the case in 2013.
Through the Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy,
we will design and develop our services to intervene as early as
possible to prevent homelessness and to facilitate partnership working
across the Council, with partners and with the community to prevent
homelessness, focusing on the main cause of homelessness, which is
eviction from the private rented sector.
In developing the strategy, we have carried out extensive engagement
with stakeholders, including with residents, voluntary and community
sector, registered providers, MHCLG and elected members.
The public consultation on the draft strategy launched on 26th July and
ran for 12 weeks until 21st October. This comprehensive consultation
programme included an online survey, distribution of paper copies at
community events, discussion on the strategy at community forums,
stakeholder committees and Boards. There were also paper copies of
the survey made available at John Wilkes House for those waiting for
housing options and advice services to complete. The consultation was
promoted in civic buildings, GP surgeries, on social media and in the
press.
We also wrote directly to key stakeholder organisations inviting
discussion on the draft, including all Registered Housing Providers with
stock in the borough; our three local NHS Trusts; Enfield Clinical
2
Preventing Homeless & Rough Sleeping Strategy – 19/096 C

Page 67

Commissioning Group; Enfield and Haringey Borough Commander;
Public Health England; the GLA; and neighbouring authorities.
The full list of who we consulted with and how we promoted the
consultation is provided in appendix III.
There were 295 responses to the consultation including the online
questionnaire and direct responses via email. This included responses
from 242 residents, 7 registered providers and 11 voluntary sector
groups.
There was broad support for the vision and ambitions of the strategy.
There was particular support from Registered Providers and voluntary
organisations who supported our approach to preventing
homelessness in Enfield and expressed their interest in helping Enfield
deliver this strategy through increased partnership working.
Respondents also suggested where further detail and clarification was
needed to strengthen our approach, and the strategy was further
developed as a result of this feedback as follows.
The results of the consultation suggested that many organisations and
landlords are unsure of how to refer into homelessness prevention
services. As a result, the strategy has a renewed focus and
commitment to supporting and training organisations, partners and
landlords to understand how they can support homeless households,
how they can refer into services and who to contact.
The consultation suggested that communications could be improved
and the information that the community receives to get help early and
to understand the available housing options needs to be more
accessible. We have strengthened ambition four, ‘supporting people to
plan for their lifetime housing needs’, which focuses on improving the
communications and information that the public receives.
The results of the consultation suggested that the Council could work
more effectively with the voluntary and community sector. There was
support for strengthening our partnership work within this sector. This
is in line with the strategy aims, and there will be a renewed focus to
put this into action with funding secured through the LGA Housing
Advisors Programme, to co-ordinate our activities and make sure that
together we are delivering the best outcomes for residents.
There was strong support for widening the support that people receive
alongside housing support. This is in line with the aims of the strategy
which acknowledge that homelessness cannot be dealt in isolation.
There are multiple underlying issues that contribute to a household
becoming homelessness and we must provide a holistic service that
can identify this and intervene early to prevent homelessness.

3
Preventing Homeless & Rough Sleeping Strategy – 19/096 C

Page 68

The Strategy includes the outcome measures that we will use to
evidence whether the strategy is being successfully implemented. Due
to the implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act and the
accompanying new H-CLIC system, several measures are new and
have not been monitored for long enough to be able to set targets.
Year one of the strategy will involve monitoring new measures and
setting a baseline, with year two looking to set measurable targets.
A new Homelessness Prevention Partnership Board will agree, deliver
and monitor an annual action plan to deliver on the strategy
commitments, which will include targets for the outcome measures.
The purpose of this board is to actively drive the strategy and have
accountability for delivering the action plan. The board will also ensure
that homelessness prevention activities are co-ordinated and will
support strengthened partnership working.
The Council has also been successful in securing funding from
MHCLG and GLA for a winter homelessness shelter. This will include
20 emergency bed spaces, run by All People All Places in Claverings,
which will help to deliver on ambition 5 of the strategy ‘end rough
sleeping’.
4.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED
An alternative option considered was to not renew the 2013
Preventing
Homelessness
strategy.
However,
under
the
Homelessness Act 2002, local authorities are required to have a
Homelessness Strategy that is updated at least every five years and
that includes plans for; preventing homelessness, ensuring sufficient
accommodation and satisfactory support services for people who are,
or who may become, homeless. If we decided to not renew our
Preventing Homelessness strategy, we would not meet our statutory
duty. The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
has advised that our new Preventing Homelessness strategy must be
approved and implemented by December 2019.
With the introduction of the Homeless Reduction Act 2017 (HRA), the
Council has a duty to focus on prevention and early intervention,
requiring an emphasis on joined-up, partnership working. Without the
renewed strategy, it would be unlikely that we could achieve these
aims, homelessness would continue to rise and costs to the Council
would increase.

5.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
Increasing homelessness; a growing private rented sector which in
many cases is offering sub-standard accommodation; a growing
population and ambitious new housing targets mean that we require a

4
Preventing Homeless & Rough Sleeping Strategy – 19/096 C

Page 69

bold new approach to deliver more and better homes and prevent
homelessness in Enfield.
Homelessness in Enfield has increased significantly in recent years,
with a 250% increase since 2011/12. We have seen a 74% rise in
temporary accommodation rates since 2012 and rough sleeping has
increased from 7 in 2017/18 to 78 in 2018/19. The human cost of
homelessness and households spending years in temporary
accommodation is enormous. At the same time the financial cost to the
Council of an ever-increasing number of households in temporary
accommodation is growing.
As such, we require a radically different approach to preventing and
ultimately ending homelessness. This strategy sets out our approach
for preventing homelessness, giving an overarching vision and guiding
principles that will ensure consistency across relevant Council
departments and set out how we will work in partnership to achieve our
vision. The new strategy provides the opportunity to design and
develop our services to intervene as early as possible to prevent
homelessness and to facilitate partnership working across the Council,
with partners and with the community to prevent homelessness. The
strategy aims to prevent and reduce homelessness which will improve
outcomes for residents and reduce costs to the Council.
This strategy takes a ‘Health in all Policies’ (HiAPT) approach in how
we propose to work together to prevent and address homelessness.
The strategy will significantly contribute to the Council’s Corporate
Plan, addressing all key priorities; Good Homes in Well-Connected
Neighbourhoods, Sustain Strong and Healthy Communities & Build our
Local Economy to Create a Thriving Place.
7.

COMMENTS FROM OTHER DEPARTMENTS

7.1

Financial Implications

7.1.1 The Council is committed to reducing the pressure in Homelessness
with a range of savings and initiatives designed to both prevent
homelessness in the borough and where homelessness does occur to
provide cheaper, better accommodation for those in need.
7.1.2 The Council has identified £1.1m of savings around the supply of
Temporary accommodation, which is reflected in the 2019/20 budget
and further savings proposals are being considered that will impact in
2020/21 but will only be formally agreed in February through the
Councils Budget Report.
7.1.3 The Council is currently in receipt of the grants for Rough Sleepers,
Private Rented Sector Access Fund and the Flexible Homelessness
Support (FHSG). The FHSG is partly administered to give Local
5
Preventing Homeless & Rough Sleeping Strategy – 19/096 C

Page 70

Authorities the means to implement a successful prevention strategy.
However, whilst the Flexible Housing Support Grant meets some of the
cost of temporary accommodation, the uncertainty of this grant every
year means that we cannot plan for the longer-term, making it harder to
put in place longer term approaches to preventing and addressing
homelessness.
7.1.4 It is important to note that at this time there is no guarantee of FHSG
funding beyond 2019/20 and the continued receipt of the grant will be
crucial in taking these initiatives forward, though the Government have
recently announced an increase of £54m nationally for homelessness
and rough sleeping which provides greater confidence that this funding
will continue into 2020/21.
7.1.5 In implementing this strategy, a new service model is being developed
and this transformational approach with a focus on upstream
prevention and the alleviation of homelessness and rough sleeping will
require an upfront investment which is still being quantified but over the
next five years the proposed service model is anticipated to generate
greater efficiencies in the cost of providing the homelessness service.
There is an ambition to implement these changes with existing
resources whilst seeking external funding opportunities and lobbying
around fairer funding and retention/growth of the FHSG.
7.1.6 The strategy and Council ambitions to drive down costs and increase
service efficiency are being pursued in a climate where recent research
has reported on the growing costs of homelessness across London,
which is anticipated to increase to over £1bn a year by 2021/22. This
same research carried out by the LSE has indicated that in the five
years following the 2018 introduction of the Homelessness Reduction
Act, boroughs will have to find an extra £70 million as a result of
increasing homelessness and service costs.
7.2

Legal Implications
Section 1(1) of the Homelessness Act 2002 gives housing authorities
the power to carry out a homelessness review for their district and
formulate and publish a homelessness strategy based on the results of
the review. Section 1(4) requires housing authorities to publish a new
homelessness strategy, based on the results of a further homelessness
review, within the period of five years beginning with the day on which
their last homelessness strategy was published.

7.3

Property Implications
The Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy sets out
the Council’s approach regarding action to prevent and tackle rough
sleeping in the borough, with reference to our role as a corporate
landlord.
6

Preventing Homeless & Rough Sleeping Strategy – 19/096 C

Page 71

It also sets out the Council’s intention to re-design housing options and
advice services to make sure the Council can intervene at the earliest
opportunity to prevent homelessness and support people at risk in the
private rented sector to sustain their tenancies. This may have
implications for where housing options and advice staff are located
which will need to be considered alongside relevant property
strategies.
Further property implication may arise following implementation of the
strategy and these will be reported on separately in any subsequent
operational reports.
8.

KEY RISKS
The lack of guaranteed Flexible Homelessness Support Grant funding
beyond 2019/20 poses a risk in our ability to deliver on our strategy.
The continued receipt of the grant will be crucial in taking these
initiatives forward. However, the recent Government announcement of
an increase of £54m nationally for homelessness and rough sleeping,
provides some confidence that this funding will continue into 2020/21.
We are proactively making the case to the Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government of the level of need in Enfield and
have proactively engaged with them in the development of our
strategy, receiving broad support of our approach.
We will be delivering this strategy in the context of high numbers of
people becoming homelessness, and the context of large numbers of
people with low incomes in the private rented sector. There is a risk
that we will not achieve our vision, given the scale of the ambition
alongside uncertainty in the housing market and that fact that success
depends on partnership across a number of different council
department and organisations.. This risk is being mitigated through the
creation of a clear and measurable action plan and annual targets
based on the outcome measures in the strategy, to be agreed and
delivered by the new Preventing Homelessness Partnership Board. We
will ensure that future performance management frameworks for the
Council reflect the new priorities in the strategy.

9.

IMPACT ON COUNCIL PRIORITIES - CREATING A LIFETIME OF
OPPORTUNITIES IN ENFIELD
9.1

Good Homes in Well-Connected Neighbourhoods

The Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy aims to
prevent homelessness and rough sleeping and to increase the quantity
of decent and good quality private rented sector accommodation.
9.2

Sustain Strong and Healthy Communities

7
Preventing Homeless & Rough Sleeping Strategy – 19/096 C

Page 72

The Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy aims to
build the resilience of residents in all aspects of their life by
empowering them to take responsibility for their housing needs with the
support of the Council. We know that poor housing and poor health are
linked and that people who are homeless and living in temporary
accommodation are more likely to experience mental health issues and
poorer health outcomes. By preventing homelessness, raising
standards in the private sector and reducing the length of time that
people spend in temporary accommodation, we are contributing to the
Council’s ambition to sustain healthy communities.
9.3

Build our Local Economy to Create a Thriving Place

As part of our holistic approach to preventing homelessness and rough
sleeping, we are proposing to also tackle worklessness, which is a
contributing factor to homelessness. We anticipate that this will help
build our local economy and contribute to thriving communities.
10.

EQUALITIES IMPACT IMPLICATIONS
We have completed an Equalities Impact Assessment for the strategy
and anticipate that the strategy will have a positive impact on
equalities. The strategy takes a person-centred approach to preventing
homelessness, in which all needs of a person are considered. We
anticipate this approach will have a positive impact on equalities.
In order to develop a strategy which reflects the diverse needs of
communities, including people of all protected characteristics, we
undertook an extensive consultation on the draft strategy, and used the
results of this to finalise our approach.

11.

PERFORMANCE AND DATA IMPLICATIONS
The Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy includes
the outcome measures that we will use to evidence whether the
strategy is being successfully implemented. A new Homelessness
Prevention Partnership Board will agree, deliver and monitor an annual
action plan to deliver on the strategy commitments, which will include
targets for the outcome measures. We will ensure that future
performance management frameworks for the Council reflect the new
priorities in the strategy.

12.

PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
The Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy sets out
our proposal to work across council services, with our partners, local
organisations and with the community to respond to links between poor
housing, low income and poor health to help residents to build
resilience to prevent homelessness.
8

Preventing Homeless & Rough Sleeping Strategy – 19/096 C

Page 73

Background Papers
Draft Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy
Appendix I: Enfield’s Review of Homelessness
Appendix II: The Right Home for Everyone Consultation Report
Appendix III: Equalities Impact Assessment

9
Preventing Homeless & Rough Sleeping Strategy – 19/096 C

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 75

Preventing Homelessness
and Rough Sleeping
Strategy: 2020-2025
Ending Homelessness in Enfield
Draft strategy

www.enfield.gov.uk

Page 76

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping
Strategy: 2020 – 2025
Draft strategy
Scope

This five-year strategy explains how
we will work with partners to prevent
and tackle homelessness and rough
sleeping in Enfield. The strategy
meets our obligations under the
Homelessness Act 2002 for all
housing authorities to have a
homelessness strategy.

Approved by

Cabinet for approval December 2019

Approval date

Cabinet approval December 2019

Document Author

Strategy, Partnership, Engagement
and Consultation Hub

Document owner – Corporate

Joanne Drew, Director of Housing
and Regeneration

Document owner – Portfolio
holder

Cllr Gina Needs, Cabinet Member for
Social Housing

Review

A new multi-agency Preventing
Homelessness Board will review
performance against the measures
of success identified in this strategy
and will monitor performance against
our strategy action plan on a
quarterly basis.

2

Page 77

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy

Contents
Introduction .......................................................................................... 4
Enfield’s Review of Homelessness ..................................................... 6
Measures of Success ........................................................................... 9
Ambition 1: Make homelessness prevention a priority for
everyone ............................................................................................. 11
Ambition 2: Treat people with empathy, dignity and respect ......... 14
Ambition 3: Support people to access the right
accommodation .................................................................................. 16
Ambition 4: Support people to plan for their lifetime housing
needs.......................................................................................... 19
Ambition 5: End Rough Sleeping in Enfield ..................................... 22
Governance and measuring success ............................................... 26
National, Regional and Sub-regional working.................................. 26
A national response to the housing crisis: our key asks ................ 27
Appendix 1: Connected Strategies and Policies .............................. 30

3

Page 78

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy

Introduction
Homelessness has become a national emergency and in no place is this
clearer than in Enfield. This strategy sets out how we will work to prevent and
end homelessness and rough sleeping.
Since 2011/12, homelessness has increased by 246% in the borough. At
March 2019, Enfield had 3,410 households in temporary accommodation, a
74% rise since 2012. This makes us the second highest provider of temporary
accommodation in England. Eviction from private rented accommodation
continues to be the highest cause of homelessness in Enfield. We have also
seen a significant rise in rough sleeping since 2017, giving us the fourth
highest rough sleeper count in London in 2018.
The causes of homelessness are complex and addressing the rise in
homelessness is particularly challenging due to a lack of good quality,
affordable housing in the private rented sector. This challenge magnified
when combined with our very limited stock of social rented homes, which
continues to decrease year on year through Right to Buy.
The scale of these challenges means that we require a radical step-change in
the way we work across the Council, with our partner organisations and in the
community to prevent homelessness. Enfield’s Preventing Homelessness and
Rough Sleeping strategy sets out how we will move towards a culture where
homelessness is everyone’s business and how together we can support all
residents to have a safe, stable place to live, now and in the future.
Cllr Gina Needs
Cabinet Member, Social Housing

4

Page 79

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy

Vision
We want to end homelessness in Enfield.
This means ensuring that everyone has a safe, stable place to live. It means
supporting residents to make informed choices so that they have a home they
can afford, at the right time, which meets their needs. It means that if an
individual or family is at risk of homelessness, they receive the support they
need to prevent it.
We will deliver on this vision through the following five ambitions:
1) Make homelessness prevention a priority for everyone
Working with the community, our partners and across the Council to
spot risks of homelessness early and take holistic action to prevent it.
2) Treat people with empathy, dignity and respect
Supporting people with compassion, listening to their views and ideas
and working with them, other services and the community to prevent
and end homelessness together.
3) Support people to access the right accommodation
Empowering local people to find suitable accommodation and driving
up standards in the private rented sector.
4) Support people to plan for their lifetime housing needs
Helping people to think about how they can meet their housing needs
now and in the future, and to respond to changing requirements over
their lifetime.
5) End rough sleeping in Enfield
Working in partnership to positively engage with and support people
who are sleeping rough and prevent this form of homelessness from
happening.
We are delivering on these priorities to end homelessness alongside our
Housing and Growth Strategy, which sets out how we will deliver more homes
and better homes for Enfield, where everyone benefits from the opportunities
that growth can bring.
We cannot end homelessness alone. We know that we need more homes and
better homes, but it is the communities who will live in these homes that are
crucial in truly ending homelessness. We also need to work more closely with
our statutory, voluntary and community partners at a national, regional and
local level. Through partnership working, this strategy seeks to address the
causes and consequences of homelessness and rough sleeping. This is key
to achieving our overarching vision for housing and good growth in Enfield.
5

Page 80

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy

Enfield’s Review of
Homelessness

Full Homeless Duty means
that the Council has a legal duty
to secure suitable
accommodation for applicants
who are:

We published our previous strategy on
preventing homelessness in 2013. The
borough has changed considerably since then,
and during this time homelessness has
 Eligible for assistance
increased significantly, both nationally and
 In priority need
 Unintentionally homeless
locally. Our homelessness review shows us
that both the challenges, such as increasing
numbers of people on low incomes in the private rented sector, and the
opportunities presented through the Homelessness Prevention Act, mean we
now need a different approach to tackling the challenge.
Whilst homelessness is increasing across England, homelessness in Enfield
is rising at a considerable rate. The London Borough of Enfield has
experienced a 246% increase in homelessness acceptances between 2010
and 2017 compared with a 35% rise in London. In 2017/18, 786 households
were accepted as homeless and were owed a full homelessness duty by the
local authority.
We are also seeing more households who are homeless or at risk of
homelessness presenting with multiple and complex needs which puts
increased pressure on homeless services.
At March 2019, there were 3,410
households living in Enfield’s temporary
accommodation, a 74% rise since 2012,
and making us the second highest provider
of temporary accommodation in England.
This indicates an average annual increase
of 208 households since 2011/12. 77% of
the families in Temporary Accommodation
in Enfield have children. National evidence
shows us that people living in temporary
accommodation are more likely to have
poor health outcomes and have worse
educational attainment.

People in Priority need are homeless
and:
-

-

Pregnant
Have dependent children under
16, or under 19 if they are in fulltime education
homeless because of an
emergency
aged 16 or 17

A person may also be in priority need
if they are:
-

elderly or have an illness or
disability
at risk of exploitation or have been
in care
at risk of violence
homeless after leaving hospital,
prison or the armed forces

Temporary accommodation is also costly to
the local authority. In 2018/19, Enfield
spent over £66m on the Temporary
Accommodation service, with a net cost to
the local authority of £7m. Whilst the
Flexible Housing Support Grant currently meets some of the cost of temporary
accommodation, the uncertainty of this grant every year means that we
cannot plan for the longer-term, making it harder to put in place longer term

6

Page 81

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy
approaches to preventing and addressing homelessness.
There has also been a very significant increase in rough sleeping in the
borough since 2017. Reported numbers have increased from 7 in 2017/18 to
78 in 2018/19. This reported increase can be explained by an encampment
being included in the 2018/19 count.
The key drivers of rising homelessness in Enfield are complex and
interconnected. Eviction from the Private Rented Sector (PRS) is now the
main cause for someone becoming homeless in Enfield and we have the
second highest eviction rate in London. This sector has rapidly increased in
recent years, from 22% of all housing in Enfield in 2012 to 27% in 2017.
Between 2011 and 2018, PRS rents in Enfield increased by 37%.
Increased levels of inward migration, deprivation, low incomes and the limited
supply of affordable social rented homes means that vulnerable and migrant
communities are increasingly reliant on finding accommodation in the private
rented sector in Enfield and are exposed to these higher housing costs. At the
same time, the Council is also reliant on the private rented sector for
discharging our homelessness duty.1 We are competing with other London
boroughs for available temporary accommodation in Enfield: during 2017/18,
just 44% of all placements were made by Enfield, with 56% being made by
other boroughs. In 2018/2019, as little as 40% of placements were made by
Enfield, with 25 other boroughs making up 60% of temporary accommodation
placements in Enfield.
Enfield is a low wage borough2 and there is growing deprivation. Welfare
reforms have had a significant impact, particularly for those living in the
private rented sector, with Enfield having the fifth highest number of
households impacted by the benefit cap nationally. In addition, changes to the
way Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates are calculated means that even
those on a lower quartile rent do not have their full housing costs met by LHA.
25% of low-income households in PRS accommodation have outgoings that
are more than their income.
1

The Localism Act 2011 enables local authorities to fully discharge their statutory
homelessness duty via a Private Rented Sector Offer.
2

Our emerging economic development strategy seeks to address the borough’s low wage
economy and grow our local economy for the benefit of local people.

7

Page 82

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy
This unique combination of drivers and pressures starkly demonstrates the
scale of challenge that Enfield faces. The
Duty to Refer
changes to the London housing market,
alongside welfare reforms, means that,
The Homelessness Prevention Act requires
despite rising rents, Enfield is a
certain public services to refer cases to
comparatively affordable place to live for
homeless prevention services if they
those on low incomes. This could mean
identify that someone is homeless or is at
the Borough’s housing market is attracting
risk of homelessness. The new duty applies
lower income residents who are at greater
to:
risk of homelessness – with the proportion
 prisons;
of London's Housing Benefit/Universal
 youth offender institutions;
Credit claimants in the Private Rented
 secure training centres;
 secure colleges;
Sector increasing in Enfield, while inner
 youth offending teams;
London boroughs’ share is in decline.


Interviews with people who are homeless
or at risk of homelessness in Spring 2019
showed that people move to Enfield for a
variety of personal reasons and it is a
change in personal circumstances such
as sickness, loss of employment, benefits
changes or pregnancy that can make
private tenancies unaffordable. These
interviews found that life changes resulted
in people needing to move but finding
themselves unable to pay the rent of
suitable properties.3







probation services (including community
rehabilitation companies);
Jobcentre Plus;
social service authorities;
emergency departments;
urgent treatment centres; and,
hospitals in their function of providing
inpatient care.

If you want to refer someone who needs help
with their housing, you can email
dutytorefer@enfield.gov.uk.
Make sure to include:
 Their name and telephone contact
details
 Confirmation that they have given you
permission to contact us on their behalf
 Information about their housing situation
and why they need help

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017
places new duties on housing authorities
to intervene earlier to prevent
homelessness and to take reasonable
steps to relieve homelessness for all
eligible applicants, not just those who
have ‘priority need’ under the Act. This new legislation provides us with the
opportunity to further develop a holistic approach to preventing homelessness
that is person-centred and provides our residents with greater autonomy and
choice. The Act also provides the opportunity to enhance partnership working
and knowledge-sharing to make the best use of all our resources.
Our full homelessness review is
available on our website.

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 means
that we must do more to identify homelessness
early and work to prevent it. It extends the period an
applicant is ‘threatened with homelessness’ to 56
days. We have a duty to provide all homeless
3
Smith Institute report on the drivers of homelessness in Enfield. 2019.
applications with information and advice and to
secure suitable accommodation for all homeless
applicants, regardless of whether they are
‘intentionally homeless’ or ‘priority need’. We must
8
also carry out an assessment of the applicant
and
put in place a housing and support plan.

Measures of Success
We will know that our approach is working if we can evidence that we are delivering on the following measures:

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy: we want to end homelessness
in Enfield
1. Make homelessness
prevention a priority for
everyone

2. Treat people with
empathy, dignity and
respect

3. Support people to
access the right
accommodation

4. Support people to
plan for their lifetime
housing needs

5. End rough sleeping in
Enfield

There is an increasing number of
statutory referrals into homeless
prevention services

An increasing proportion of
people accessing Housing
Advice and prevention
services give positive
feedback on their
experience of the services
they received

Since the introduction of the HRA the proportion of
households living in temporary accommodation for more
than 6 months is decreasing.

There is an increasing number of
non-statutory referrals into
homeless prevention services

Housing Advice and
prevention services
experience a decreasing
proportion of complaints

A decreasing number of people experience delayed
discharge from hospital or a delayed move on from
residential care/ specialist housing due to the need for
general needs accommodation

Page 83

A decreasing number of people become homeless:
 as a result of being evicted from private rented sector accommodation
 as a result of being evicted from council or registered provider (housing association) housing
 as a result of family or friends no longer being willing or able to accommodate
An increasing number of households are prevented from becoming homeless
An increasing number of
people who are single and
have non-priority homeless
status are supported to stay
in their existing
accommodation or are
supported to find alternative
accommodation to prevent
rough sleeping
A decreasing number of
people are sleeping rough

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy

An increasing number of households living in temporary
accommodation move into the private rented sector

A decreasing number of people
live in temporary accommodation:
 Family households
 Single households

A decreasing number of
people live in temporary
accommodation:
 Family households
 Single households
Households are spending a decreasing amount of time
living in temporary accommodation
A stable or increasing number of households with
assessed support needs are being allocated social
rented homes via the Housing Allocation Scheme
An increasing number of grants are approved for
adaptations to council, housing association, private
rented sector and owner-occupied accommodation
There are no families with
children living in Bed and
Breakfast accommodation for
more than 6 weeks
An increasing number of
households are moving into
the private rented sector to
prevent homelessness
The net cost of temporary
accommodation is
decreasing
A decreasing number of
households live in expensive
nightly paid accommodation

Page 84

There is an increasing number of
people approaching homeless
prevention services before the 56
days

Page Number

10

Page 85

Ambition 1: Make homelessness prevention a priority
for everyone
If we want to end homelessness in Enfield, we must focus on preventing
people from becoming homeless in the first place. We will redesign our
services to intervene at the earliest opportunity. We will work across council
services, with our partners and local organisations to make sure that the right
people are getting help at the right time. We will also work with partners and
with the community to respond to links between poor housing, low income and
poor health to help residents to build resilience to prevent homelessness.
Enfield has a high percentage of residents on low incomes living in the private
rented sector; almost a quarter of residents in the private rented sector have
higher outgoings than income, mainly driven by housing costs.4 These
residents are at high risk of becoming homeless. We will use data innovatively
to identify residents who could be at risk of homelessness which will enable
us to intervene much earlier to prevent escalation of issues.
We will strengthen our tenancy sustainment services by providing residents
with support and training before they start their tenancy, so that they are
informed about their rights and responsibilities. We will provide on-going
support to residents who need it, to help them to sustain their tenancies and
stay in their homes. Part of this offer will also mean supporting and training
council staff and partner agencies to spot the risks of homelessness early and
know what action to take to prevent this.
Timely access to benefits, effectively dealing with debt and rent arrears, and
access to employment and training all play a critical role in whether someone
becomes homeless or not. Our work with Enfield Citizens Advice and colocation of staff from the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) with our
Council Financial Assessment Service is helping us to support people early
with issues that can escalate to homelessness if not effectively dealt with.
Where we cannot prevent homelessness through income maximisation,
services will be joined up and linked in with our partner organisations to work
together and share information.
The second highest reason for residents becoming homeless is being asked
to leave their home by family or friends. We are strengthening our mediation
services and more people are now being supported to stay where they are
until we have helped them to find different accommodation.
Our Voluntary and Community Sector (or Third Sector) makes a significant
contribution to supporting those who are homeless or are at risk of
4

http://policyinpractice.co.uk/lsi-london/

Page 86

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy
homelessness by providing support, advice and guidance, as well as practical
support like food and accommodation. Working effectively with these
organisations is critical, and we want to strengthen our partnerships with the
Third Sector to increase the range and quality of services to support homeless
residents.
We will work in partnership to co-ordinate and join-up our activities and make
sure that our work will provide the best outcomes for residents. We will work
together to develop and increase the capacity of local organisations whilst
also attracting new organisations into the borough and continue to seize
opportunities for new funding and joint working.
We are delivering on the following priorities to make homelessness prevention
a priority for everyone:


Design, deliver and develop a new homelessness prevention service to
make sure we can intervene at the earliest opportunity to prevent
homelessness and support people at risk in the private rented sector to
sustain their tenancies.



Raise awareness across the Council and with partner agencies about
public agencies’ Duty to Refer5 and how and when to refer to Enfield’s
preventing homelessness service.



Use data smartly to understand the needs of our residents, identify who
could be at risk of homelessness and take proactive action to prevent
this at the earliest stage possible.



Create a network of services and support for people within their
communities, taking a whole-person approach to preventing
homelessness by also tackling worklessness, debt and poor health
outcomes, maximising income and building literacy and ICT skills.



Develop a service offer for residents that provides tenancy sustainment
support and intervention for all types of rented accommodation.



Strengthen partnership working with the Voluntary and Community
Sector and increase the range and quality of services provided for
homeless people by this sector.

5

The Homelessness Prevention Act requires certain public services to refer cases to
homeless prevention services if they identify that someone is homeless or is at risk of
homelessness

12

Page 87

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy
Key Measures of Success
We will know that our approach is working if we can evidence:






A decreasing number of people become homeless:
 as a result of being evicted from private rented sector
accommodation
 as a result of being evicted from council or registered provider
(housing association) housing.
 as a result of family or friends no longer being willing or able to
accommodate.
An increasing number of households are prevented from becoming
homeless.
There is an increasing number of statutory and non-statutory referrals
into homeless prevention services
There is an increasing number of people approaching homeless
prevention services before the 56 days

*A full list of measures of success can be found on pages 9 and 10

13

Page 88

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy

Ambition 2: Treat people with empathy, dignity and
respect
People who are homeless or at risk of homelessness are at a stressful and
difficult time in their lives. Whatever type of help they may be eligible for, and
whatever the reasons for their homelessness, they need to be treated with
compassion. This means all our staff need to treat people with empathy,
dignity and respect.
To achieve this person-centred approach, we will work collaboratively with
people who have experienced homelessness in order to design and deliver a
service which meets the needs of people requiring help and support.
It also requires homeless prevention services working in partnership with
children and families services, adult social care, health services, schools,
police, probation, voluntary and community organisations and others – to help
people at risk of homelessness to address the range of issues contributing
toward their risk of homelessness.
We are delivering on the following priorities to make sure that we treat people
with empathy, dignity and respect:


Design, deliver and develop a new homelessness prevention service
with people who have experienced homelessness, so that people with
lived experience of homelessness have a direct influence on how we
work together to prevent and end homelessness.



Design, deliver and develop a new homelessness prevention service
which means that the workforce is enabled to work collaboratively with
partners and with the community to respond to people’s needs
sensitively, effectively and quickly.

Key Measures of Success
We will know that our approach is working if we can evidence:




An increasing proportion of people accessing Housing Advice and
prevention services give positive feedback on their experience of the
services they received.
Housing advice and prevention services experience a decreasing
proportion of complaints.

*A full list of measures of success can be found on pages 9 and 10

14

Page 89

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy

The member of
staff treated me
like a person, not
a number
They explained
what being a good
tenant meant and
told me about my
rights

I was given a
deposit and rent
in advance to
secure a flat

They told me about the
job club at my local
library, where I could
get help with my CV
and job applications

Together, we created
a Personal Housing
Plan for me and my
family

They helped me to
understand what
benefits I was
entitled to and
supported me
through the process

The member of staff
referred me to a
debt charity so I
could get help

15

Page 90

Ambition 3: Support people to access the right
accommodation
To prevent people in Enfield becoming homeless, and to support those who
are currently homeless into stable accommodation, we will help local people
to access affordable, good quality accommodation in Enfield. Our Housing
and Growth Strategy sets out how we will increase the range of different
affordable housing options available in Enfield over the next ten years.
However, given the current scarcity of affordable housing in the borough, we
will help people at risk of homelessness into accommodation in the private
rented sector.
Where we cannot prevent homelessness by supporting people in the private
rented sector, we will provide access to suitable, decent and good-value
temporary accommodation which is genuinely temporary. Our aim is to end
the use of long-term temporary accommodation so that no household will live
in temporary accommodation for longer than six months.
We want people across London to achieve the best life outcomes and we
believe this means staying within their communities, in the borough they call
home. We support calls for ending the use of out of borough placements for
our residents; we are committed to working towards the end of such
placements and encouraging other boroughs to do the same. However, this
can only be achieved through national policy change and we continue to
support the urgent call on Government to increase LHA levels to enable local
authorities to access accommodation in their own boroughs. We will play our
part by continuing to strengthen partnership work with neighbouring boroughs
and across London through both pan-London and Enfield-led initiatives. Not
only will this help us to secure good quality temporary accommodation, it
means that it will be easier for residents in the private rented sector to secure
suitable and affordable housing themselves
In this context, we will intervene directly in the private rented market to
improve conditions. We will increase the supply of good quality private rented
sector accommodation through Housing Gateway, an Enfield Council owned
company, which buys and manages homes for homeless residents. We will
be an exemplar landlord, providing stable and longer-term tenancies for
families. We also recognise that for some people, as their circumstances
change, shorter tenancies might be more appropriate to provide them with
flexibility. We will provide a range of products that meets the needs of our
residents.
We will explore options to set up an ethical lettings agency to provide a good
offer for residents who are privately renting. We will also undertake further
research to better understand the demand for affordable housing from single
people on low incomes and further develop solutions in the private rented
sector which meet their needs.

Page 91

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy
We will broaden and strengthen the support that we provide to landlords,
helping them to raise standards, sustain tenancies and offer longer-term
tenancies. We will move away from paying landlords incentives to let their
properties and move towards a model where we fund the deposit and months’
rent in advance required by private landlords, for people who are otherwise
unable to access private rented accommodation due to these costs. This is
more cost-effective, is less likely to drive up private sector rents and
empowers tenants to take responsibility and have the financial capacity to
move in the future. We support pan-London programmes that promote this
approach.
We are consulting on proposals to implement an additional and selective
licensing scheme for private landlords to drive up standards and reward good
practice in the sector. Whilst the Council will support and encourage good
practice, we will take a robust approach to enforcement action to tackle rogue
landlords and lettings agents.
We are delivering on the following priorities to support people to access the
right accommodation:


End the use of long-term temporary accommodation.



Increase the availability of quality best value private rented
accommodation in Enfield.



Support landlords and agents to improve standards of management
within Enfield’s private rented sector, whilst taking a strong approach to
tackling poor conditions and stopping rogue landlords and letting
agents.



Build confidence in the market to encourage private landlords to offer
greater security, certainty and stability for their tenants, especially
families with children, vulnerable households and those with disabilities
and additional support needs.



Revise our housing allocations scheme so that we continue to meet the
Council’s priorities for allocating our limited social rented stock and also
incentivise residents to work with us to prevent homelessness.

Key Measures of Success
We will know that our approach is working if we can evidence:


A decreasing number of people live in temporary accommodation:





Family households
Single households

An increasing number of households are moving into the private
rented sector to prevent homelessness.

17

Page 92

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy


An increasing number of households living in temporary
accommodation move into the private rented sector.



Since the introduction of the HRA, the proportion of households living
in temporary accommodation for more than 6 months is decreasing.

*A full list of measures of success can be found on pages 9 and 10

18

Page 93

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy

Ambition 4: Support people to plan for their lifetime
housing needs
We will empower residents to make positive decisions about their lives. This
means supporting them so that they can take responsibility for their current
housing needs, helping them recognise how their needs may change over
time and enabling them to plan for those changes.
To achieve this, we will provide the right information, advice and training at
the right time. We will make sure that the information we provide online, in our
civic buildings, in the community and face-to-face is accessible, particularly in
hard to reach communities, and make sure that advice is targeted. By
providing comprehensive, accessible and freely available information,
residents will be more able to take responsibility for their own housing needs.
This is important for everyone, but particularly so for people with additional
care and support needs or vulnerabilities, who are at greater risk of poor
housing conditions and have specific challenges when accessing the right
accommodation. We want to help people stay living independently, wherever
possible, and help those in rented accommodation to sustain their tenancies.
We will increase the range of options and support that we provide. Our
Housing and Growth strategy sets out how we increase the supply of high
quality, flexible and affordable housing options to help those with assessed
care and support needs to live independently and to prevent them from
becoming homeless.
In some cases, this will mean helping people to access practical support
services in their home (known as ‘floating support’), helping people to adapt to
their home, or helping people move to another general needs home that helps
them better manage their needs. This could include moving to somewhere
where safeguarding concerns can be better addressed or moving to
somewhere with ground floor or wheelchair access.
Those fleeing domestic abuse and victims of hate crime are at particular risk
of homelessness. We want to make it safe for those experiencing abuse to
stay in their homes. Where that is not possible, we will make sure that victims
of abuse have a safe place to stay and improve our offer and support for
these people. We are conducting an audit into our response to domestic
abuse in Enfield to identify gaps in service provision and improve housing
pathways and support for those experiencing domestic abuse.
We will work across the Council, with partners and with the community to
develop and improve housing pathways for:






Care leavers and young people
People fleeing violence or abuse
Ex-armed forces
People with physical disabilities
People with learning disabilities
19

Page 94

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy




People with mental health needs
People leaving prison
Rough sleepers

We will work with all residents to understand what their needs are, listen to
how they would like to address them, advise them about what options are
available and support them to achieve positive change. Sometimes, this may
mean helping people to think differently – for example, a social or affordable
rented home or a lifetime tenancy may be their initial preference, but
accommodation in the private rented sector may be the only realistic option.
We will give people the right information and support them to understand their
housing options so that they can make an informed choice about what is the
right accommodation for them.
We will work hard to prevent people becoming homeless and from spending
time in temporary accommodation. However, this is not always possible, and
our aim is to make temporary accommodation genuinely temporary. To
achieve this, we will increase the support that these households receive so
that they can move out of temporary accommodation and into suitable, longerterm accommodation. We will help them to make positive choices which will
help build their resilience and prevent them from becoming homeless in the
future.
We are delivering on the following priorities to support people to plan for their
lifetime housing needs:


Increase local access to high quality, flexible and affordable housing
options for people with assessed care and support needs and
vulnerable households.



Support people earlier to plan ahead and make positive housing
choices, clearly communicating the different housing options for people
in different stages of their lives and at key transition points.



Increase the range of advice and support given to all households
approaching housing options and advice services, taking a personcentred approach that considers and responds to the needs of
everyone in the household so that they feel supported, informed and
empowered to secure accommodation that meets their needs.



Improve the support and advice we give to homeless households living
in temporary accommodation, in order to empower them to make
positive choices about their future housing options and facilitate their
transition to more permanent accommodation.

20

Page 95

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy
Key Measures of Success
We will know that our approach is working if we can evidence:


Households are spending a decreasing amount of time living in
temporary accommodation.



As increasing number of grants are approved for adaptations to
council, housing association, private rented sector and owner-occupied
accommodation.



A stable or increasing number of households with assessed support
needs are being allocated social rented homes via the Housing
Allocation Scheme.



A decreasing number of people experience 1) delayed discharge from
hospital and 2) a delayed move on from residential care/ specialist
housing due to the need for general needs accommodation.

*A full list of measures of success can be found on pages 9 and 10

21

Page 96

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy

Ambition 5: End Rough Sleeping in Enfield
It is unacceptable for anyone to be sleeping rough and our aim is to end rough
sleeping in Enfield completely.
When the previous strategy was published in 2013, Enfield had very low
numbers of rough sleepers and funding reflected this. However, numbers
have increased considerably in recent years, giving Enfield the fourth highest
rough sleeper count in London in 2018.
As is the case for all forms of homelessness, preventing rough sleeping is
everyone’s responsibility. We are raising awareness across council services,
with our partners and in the community. We must not view homelessness in
isolation but understand that rough sleepers will have a range of complex
needs. We will do this by strengthening links between homeless services and
support services, like adult social care and health services, to provide a rapid
response. We will work collaboratively with relevant agencies, so we can
support people who are sleeping rough to understand their options for
suitable, sustainable and safe accommodation for the future and encourage
them to engage with other relevant support services.
It is particularly important to work collaboratively with
voluntary and community organisations that can gain
the trust of people sleeping rough. This means
identifying community groups with staff or volunteers
who speak the languages of the people with whom we
need to engage.

Enfield Council has secured
funding from MHCLG and
GLA for a winter homeless
shelter (2019/20). This will
include 20 emergency bed
spaces, and will be run by
the charity, All People All
places.

Rough sleepers are at risk of exploitation and abuse.
We will train and support people who are working with
rough sleepers so that they are able to identify those who may be victims of
modern slavery. Where cases are identified, we will refer them to our Multi
Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and work collaboratively with adult social
care to support victims.

Where rough sleepers have set up encampments on public parks and open
spaces that we manage, we have a legal duty to ensure the health and safety
of these people and anyone using these spaces. Our first step will be to
engage with them, alongside relevant partners, to offer advice and support.
Where this does not lead to rough sleepers accepting support or voluntarily
moving on, we will take appropriate and proportional action in our role as a
corporate landlord.
We are delivering on the following priorities to end rough sleeping:


Continue to strengthen partnership working, particularly with the
Voluntary and Community Sector, to provide a rapid and responsive
outreach service to help rough sleepers to access appropriate, safe
accommodation and support.
22

Page 97

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy


Increase the supply of supported accommodation for eligible rough
sleepers.



Improve our housing offer for single, homeless people and continue to
drive up standards in the private rented sector so that they can access
appropriate accommodation in this sector.



Offer support and assistance prior to taking any legal action to move
people living in encampments or address antisocial behaviour,
continuing to work collaboratively to address needs alongside any
action we take.

Key Measures of Success
We will know that our approach is working if we can evidence:


An increasing number of people who are single and have non-priority
homeless status are supported to stay in their existing accommodation
or are supported to find alternative accommodation to prevent rough
sleeping.



A decreasing number of people are sleeping rough.

*A full list of measures of success can be found on pages 9 and 10

23

Page 98

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy

It is unacceptable for anyone to be sleeping rough and our aim is to end rough
sleeping in Enfield completely.
When the previous strategy was published in 2013, Enfield had very low
numbers of rough sleepers and funding reflected this. However, numbers
have increased considerably in recent years, giving Enfield the fourth highest
rough sleeper count in London in 2018.
As is the case for all forms of homelessness, preventing rough sleeping is
everyone’s responsibility. We are raising awareness across council services,
with our partners and in the community. We must not view homelessness in
isolation but understand that rough sleepers will have a range of complex
needs. We will do this by strengthening links between homeless services and
support services, like adult social care and health services, to provide a rapid
response. We will work collaboratively with relevant agencies, so we can
support people who are sleeping rough to understand their options for
suitable, sustainable and safe accommodation for the future and encourage
them to engage with other relevant support services.
It is particularly important to work collaboratively with
voluntary and community organisations that can gain
the trust of people sleeping rough. This means
identifying community groups with staff or volunteers
who speak the languages of the people with whom we
need to engage.

Enfield Council has secured
funding from MHCLG and
GLA for a winter homeless
shelter (2019/20). This will
include 20 emergency bed
spaces, and will be run by
the charity, All People All
places.

Rough sleepers are at risk of exploitation and abuse.
We will train and support people who are working with
rough sleepers so that they are able to identify those who may be victims of
modern slavery. Where cases are identified, we will refer them to our Multi
Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and work collaboratively with adult social
care to support victims.

Where rough sleepers have set up encampments on public parks and open
spaces that we manage, we have a legal duty to ensure the health and safety
of these people and anyone using these spaces. Our first step will be to
engage with them, alongside relevant partners, to offer advice and support.
Where this does not lead to rough sleepers accepting support or voluntarily
moving on, we will take appropriate and proportional action in our role as a
corporate landlord.
We are delivering on the following priorities to end rough sleeping:


Continue to strengthen partnership working, particularly with the
Voluntary and Community Sector, to provide a rapid and responsive
outreach service to help rough sleepers to access appropriate, safe
accommodation and support.

24

Page 99

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy


Increase the supply of supported accommodation for eligible rough
sleepers.



Improve our housing offer for single, homeless people and continue to
drive up standards in the private rented sector so that they can access
appropriate accommodation in this sector.



Offer support and assistance prior to taking any legal action to move
people living in encampments or address antisocial behaviour,
continuing to work collaboratively to address needs alongside any
action we take.

Key Measures of Success
We will know that our approach is working if we can evidence:




An increasing number of people who are single and have non-priority
homeless status are supported to stay in their existing accommodation
or are supported to find alternative accommodation to prevent rough
sleeping.
A reducing number of people are sleeping rough.

25

Page 100

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy

Governance and measuring success
A new Enfield Homelessness Prevention Partnership Board will agree, deliver
and monitor an annual action plan to deliver on the commitments set out in
this strategy. They will also monitor annual targets based on the outcome
measures set out for each of our five ambitions.
The board will ensure that homelessness prevention activities are coordinated and strengthen partnership working across Enfield to end
homelessness together.

National, Regional and Sub-regional working
We are committed to working with national partners, our partners across
London and our neighbouring boroughs to compare and review current
housing need and homelessness practices and identify opportunities for
coordination and efficiencies wherever beneficial.
We do this through several different partnerships. We work collaboratively
with neighbouring boroughs in sub-regional meetings, coordinated by the
North London Housing Partnership. We work across London through
participation in the Pan London Housing Needs Group. We are active
members in the National Homeless Policy Network and utilise opportunities to
work with London Councils and the Local Government Association. We will
strengthen these partnerships and continue to make a contribution, always
being led by the needs of our residents and residents in other boroughs.
Through these partnerships we aim to:







Improve services through sharing knowledge and best practice
Create better services and efficiencies through joint working
Identify gaps in service provision and work to address these
Bid for funding opportunities to provide additional assistance for
boroughs, wherever possible
Develop an excellent understanding of housing demand, needs and
conditions across North and pan-London
Lobby for national policy changes that positively impact homeless
people and those at risk of homelessness

We will also be joining Capital Letters, a pan-London lettings agency, to
improve the housing options for homeless households. This scheme will
support joint working by reducing competition between boroughs for
temporary accommodation and incentives to landlords. By joining this, we aim
to increase the amount of temporary accommodation in Enfield that is for
Enfield residents, whilst contributing to our aim of reducing out of borough
Temporary Accommodation placements.

26

Page 101

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy

A national response to the housing crisis: our key
asks
The Government has begun to take positive steps to address the national
homelessness crisis. Lifting the Housing Revenue Account borrowing cap
means that councils will be able to build more social housing that is so
desperately needed. Proposals to create more stability in the private rented
sector through banning no fault evictions and giving tenants more control will
be vital in preventing homelessness.
This strategy shows that homelessness cannot be viewed in isolation and we
need national Government to take a holistic approach, in order to achieve our
vision of ending homelessness in Enfield. We believe there are further steps
that can be taken to make a significant impact in preventing and ending
homelessness nationally and to help Enfield achieve the aims of this strategy.
Funding
Despite significant increases in demand, councils are spending almost £1
billion less on homelessness services compared with 2010. The new burdens
funding is severely underfunded and does not consider the significant cost of
new duties for London boroughs, in terms of increased demand, wider
housing market conditions, impacts of welfare reform and the higher cost of
handling cases.
The London School of Economic (LSE) estimates that from the year
preceding the implementation of the HRA to 2022/23, London Boroughs will
be spending an extra £80m, while the new burdens funding is £30m, leaving
London boroughs to find an extra £50m.6 Local authorities are left with no
choice but to direct limited resources to acute and crisis services, curtailing
our ability to deliver the full extent of preventative interventions that we want
to deliver.
We believe that funding models are too fragmented, too short-term and too
uncertain – such as the Flexible Homelessness Grant. Councils cannot plan
stable services for the long term and this fragmentation can have a negative
impact for individuals who need stable, consistent and responsive services.
This is a five-year strategy, but short-term funding means that we cannot plan
to achieve our aims as effectively as we could with longer term funding.
The Fair Funding Review provides Government with an opportunity to prevent
and end homelessness through sustainable funding. We support the Local
Government Association (LGA) and London Councils’ concerns that
homelessness is of such significance that it should not feature as part of the
foundation formula but should have its own separate formula.
6

The Cost of Homelessness Services in London October 2019 – LSE and London Councils

27

Page 102

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy
We argue for this as homelessness continues to rise significantly nationally
and in Enfield. The disparity between the distribution of the general population
and the homeless population is clear. London has 68% of England’s total
households in temporary accommodation but only has 16% of the total
population – Enfield has the 2nd highest temporary accommodation rates
nationally. The drivers of homelessness and their associated costs are
complex; we must consider the interaction between the benefits system, the
relative costs of living and rental costs. A separate formula would allow each
local authority to secure adequate funding to combat homelessness, in line
with local demand – this would particularly benefit Enfield, where the scale of
homelessness poses considerable challenges.
We are calling on Government to commit to sustainably funding local
authorities to deliver vital preventative homelessness services. This is
particularly crucial for Enfield. High levels of both homelessness and the
number of households in temporary accommodation mean that we must
continuously focus our efforts on the crisis stages of homelessness. The lack
of adequate funding means that currently we cannot direct enough resources
into early intervention to prevent homelessness on the scale that is required.
Welfare Reform
Whilst Government has made some positive steps to address homelessness,
welfare reforms, such as the introduction of Universal Credit, the benefit cap
and changes to Local Housing Allowance (LHA), are contributing to increasing
homelessness and undermining efforts nationally to prevent homelessness.
The increasing gap between LHA rates and private sector rents is a
systematic driver of homelessness and the displacement of residents outside
their home borough. For this reason, we call on Government to increase rates
urgently to enable more boroughs to house their own residents, to stop the
displacement of lower income residents to outer London, with the significant
consequences that this is having in Enfield.
Since 2015, most LHA rates across the country have been frozen. Prior to
this, rates reduced from the 50th percentile to the 30th percentile – meaning
that recipients can only afford the lowest rents in the market. This freezing of
LHA, along with changes to how it is calculated, including extending the age
of the recipients of the shared accommodation rate for single people from 25
years of age to 35, is significantly increasing the risk of homelessness for
people on low incomes. This poses serious challenges to any renter who is
reliant on Housing Benefit for all or part of their rent. This is particularly
relevant in cases where offenders are to be rehabilitated into the community
and may result in larger numbers of individuals co-housed in challenging
conditions, increasing the risk of re-offending.

28

Page 103

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy
Nationally, more 9 out of 10 homes are now unaffordable for those receiving
housing benefit.7 In Enfield, even lower quartile private sector rents are higher
than the LHA rate, from a room in a shared flat to a four-bed house. We know
that the biggest cause of homelessness is eviction from the private rented
sector. In 2018/19, Enfield paid £2,161,975.75 in Discretionary Housing
Payments as a top up to Housing Benefit to prevent homelessness. This is
not a sustainable way to prevent homelessness.
As an indirect consequence, landlords are increasingly refusing to accept
tenants who receive benefits.8 Such policies leave our most vulnerable
residents with no choice but to turn to the Council for their housing needs.
This is costly to the Council and has devastating impacts on these residents.
We support Crisis’ campaign to end DSS discrimination and urge Government
to take action against this.
We are working with landlords and letting agents to promote good and
responsible landlordism, but we need Central Government to take
responsibility for policies that incentivise landlords to act poorly as well as for
welfare reforms which are contributing to rising homelessness.
To truly prevent and end homeless, LHA rates must be unfrozen and must
reflect the true cost of living in the private rented sector. We are calling on
Government to restore rates to the median market rate and to reverse reforms
to shared accommodation rates. We urge the Government to return to paying
housing benefit directly to landlords and end discrimination against those
claiming benefits.
The Government must develop policies that will positively impact our
residents and ease pressure from services that are already severely
stretched.

7

https://www.housing.org.uk/press/press-releases/housing-benefit-freeze-9-in-10-homesunaffordable-for-families/
8

Shelter 2018 https://blog.shelter.org.uk/2018/08/ending-dss-discrimination/

29

Page 104

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Draft Strategy

Appendix 1: Connected Strategies and Policies
Our Preventing Homelessness Strategy contributes towards our Corporate
Plan to deliver a lifetime of opportunities in Enfield, by good homes in wellconnected neighbourhoods; sustaining strong and healthy communities; and
building our local economy to create a thriving place. It also links with a
number of other local policies and strategies.
Relevant Enfield policies for the delivery of this strategy include:
 Housing Allocation Scheme
 Temporary Accommodation Placement Policy
 Discretionary Housing Payment Policy
 Intermediate Housing Policy
 Tenancy Strategy and Policy
 Housing Enforcement Policy
 Council Housing Rent Policy
 Housing Assistance Policy (Disabled Facilities Grant)
 Empty Homes Policy
Our Preventing Homelessness Strategy links with the following Enfield
strategies:
 Housing and Growth Strategy
 Economic Development Strategy
 Strategic Asset Management Plan
 Health and Wellbeing Strategy
 Children and Young People Plan
 Family Resilience Strategy
 Safeguarding Adult’s Strategy
 Market Position Statement (Health and Adult Social Care)
 Customer Experience Strategy
 Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy (VAWG)
 Safer Stronger Communities Board (SSCB) Partnership Plan
Enfield Council launched the Enfield Poverty and Inequality Commission
(EPIC) on 7th June 2019. This independent commission, facilitated on our
behalf by the Smith Institute, will help us to understand the forces driving
poverty and inequality in the borough and point the way to potential solutions
locally. Following a period of engagement with local people, the Commission
will publish recommendations in December 2019. Poverty and housing are
closely linked, and the results of this commission will influence and inform the
Council’s delivery of this strategy.

30

Page 105

Enfield Review of Homelessness 2019
Contents
Introduction .............................................................................................................. 1
Key Headlines ........................................................................................................... 1
Legislative Context .................................................................................................. 2
Enfield Housing Market ........................................................................................... 2
Who is Homeless in Enfield? .................................................................................. 5
Rough Sleeping ...................................................................................................... 11
Residents with additional support needs ............................................................ 12
Reasons for Rising Homelessness....................................................................... 13
Services in Enfield ................................................................................................. 17

Introduction
As part of developing our revised Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy,
we have undertaken a review of homelessness in Enfield, which took place between October
2018 and May 2019. This review was carried out by the Council’s Strategy and Policy Hub
and has been supported by information and data from the Council’s Knowledge and Insight
Hub, the Procurement and Commissioning Hub and The Smith Institute, who were
commissioned to review the drivers of homelessness in Enfield during the spring/summer of
2019.

Key Headlines









Since 2011/12, homelessness has increased by 246% in Enfield. As of March 2019,
Enfield had 3,410 households in temporary accommodation, which is a 74% increase
since 2011/12.
The main reason for someone becoming homeless is eviction from the private rented
sector.
Enfield has a limited social rented stock and so there is a high number of tenants in
the PRS who are claiming Housing Benefit.
Welfare reforms, such as changes to LHA and the benefit cap, have
disproportionately affected tenants in the PRS, meaning they are less financially
resilient and more likely to be affected by homelessness.
25% of residents in the Private Rented Sector have outgoings that are more than
their income, which is mainly driven by housing costs.
Enfield is a relatively more affordable place to live for those on low incomes, which
could mean that the borough’s housing market is attracting lower income residents,
who are at greater risk of homelessness. Enfield’s proportion of London’s Housing
Benefit/Universal Credit claimants in the PRS is growing, whilst inner London’s share
is declining.

1

Page 106

Legislative Context
The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 places more emphasis on early identification and
prevention work to tackle homelessness. The Act extends the period an applicant is
‘threatened with homelessness’ to 56 days. It also extends our duties in providing advice and
information and putting in place housing and support plans for the whole family to address
their housing and support needs, regardless of whether they are ‘intentionally homeless’ or
‘priority need’. We must also carry out an assessment of eligible applicants and agree a
Personalised Housing Plan. The Act places a duty upon public services to refer cases to the
local housing authority if they identify that someone is at risk of homelessness. This means
that more people are entitled to help and that they will receive support earlier so that they
are more likely to be supported to prevent their own homelessness and stay in their existing
home or find somewhere else to stay.
These reforms provide us with the opportunity for a cultural shift and to further develop a
holistic approach to preventing homelessness that is person-centred and provides our
residents with greater autonomy and choice. The Act also provides the opportunity to
improve and enhance partnership working and knowledge-sharing.
Nevertheless, the Act places additional administrative pressures and responsibilities on the
local authority at a time of reducing resources. In the face of additional responsibilities,
reducing resources and increasing need, we need innovative solutions to ensure we can
respond to these challenges.
We also need to capitalise on the new duty placed on public authorities to ensure that when
they become aware that a person may be homeless or threatened with homelessness, that
person is offered a referral for help to the local authority. We need to help everyone to
understand the scarcity of social rented homes, and the reality of the support, advice and
housing choices which will be available to people.

Enfield Housing Market
In order to address homelessness in the borough, it is crucial to understand the housing
market in Enfield and how this impacts our residents. There were 119,916 households in
Enfield recorded at the 2011 census. The table below gives a breakdown of the housing of
those households by tenure type:

Figure 1 Enfield's Housing Tenure from 2011 Census

The 2011 census reports that Enfield’s owner-occupied sector accounts for 58% of all
dwellings. This is a considerable drop from the 2001 Census figure which showed owner
occupation as accounting for 69.9%. We know that this trend has continued and will continue
to show a decrease in owner occupiers and an increase in private rented accommodation.

2

Page 107

The high cost of home ownership and significant increases in house prices have made it
difficult for people to buy somewhere to live. House prices have risen at a significantly higher
rate than earnings and the average cost of a property in Enfield is now 11 times more than
the average household income1. For many, owning a home in Enfield is not affordable and
their only realistic choice of accommodation is in the private rented sector.
Average House Price (mean)
Month
April

2013 556,761

Semi
Detached
335,976

April

2019 931,730

594,221

407,305

285,193

change +67.3%

+76.9%

+62.9%

+39.1%

%

Detached

Terraced

Flat

250,047

205,050

Figure 2 Average House Prices in Enfield

According to the 2011 Census, the Private Rented Sector (PRS) accounts for 24% of tenure
in the borough. In 2019, we anticipate this to be higher. As a result, Enfield’s private sector
rents have increased significantly in recent years. Valuation Office data reveal that average
(median) private sector rents in Enfield increased by 34% between September 2011 and
March 2019. Enfield PRS rents are still lower than in London as a whole but are 83% higher
than the England average.

Figure 3: Private Rented Sector Median Monthly Rents April 2011-March 2019, Knowledge and
Insights Hub

1

Estimated by CACI in 2019

3

Page 108

National research suggests that spending a third of net household income (33%) is a
reasonable measure of housing affordability. Spending over 40% of net income, particularly
for those on median and lower incomes, could signal serious affordability issues.2 These
households are far more likely to struggle to make housing payments, resulting in arrears
and defaults. Research has found they are also far more likely to experience material
hardship because the effort required to prioritise their housing commitments creates
problems elsewhere in their budgets.3 In Enfield, 25% of low-income households living in the
private rented sector have outgoings that are greater than their income, which is mainly
driven by housing costs.4
In Enfield, even lower quartile private sector rents are higher than the LHA rate, from a room
in a shared flat to a four-bed house. This means that those in receipt of housing benefit or
universal credit living in the private rented sector, often must top up their rent from the rest of
their income.

Figure 4 Source: Knowledge and Insights Hub

The graph below shows that residents in Enfield on median and lower incomes in Enfield are
having to spend more than 40% of their income on housing costs if they are living in the
private rented sector.
2

https://www.affordablehousingcommission.org/news/2019/6/6/defining-and-measuring-housing-affordability-analternative-approach
3

G Bramley, ‘Affordability, poverty and housing need: Triangulating measures and standards,’ Journal of
Housing and the Built Environment, 2012; and Resolution Foundation, ‘The Housing pinched: Understanding
which households spend the most on housing costs,’ 2014.
4

http://policyinpractice.co.uk/lsi-london/ - Policy in Practice has developed an approach that takes the needs of
the household into account, based on family size and location and the 30th percentile from the ONS family
spending figures. ONS: Family spending in the UK: financial year ending March 2016
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/familyspendingintheuk2016

4

Page 109

Median Household Income in Enfield (£34,174, CACI 2018)
2500

Monthly Rental Cost

2000

1500

1000

500

0
1 Bed

2 Bed

3 Bed

Lower Quartile Private Sector Rent

Median Private Sector Rent

50% Median Income

33% Median Income

4 Bed

Figure 5 Percentage of net income spent on housing costs in PRS

Enfield has limited social housing stock and a huge number of households in need. As at 1
April 2017, the Department for Communities and Local Government estimated the total
number of social housing units in Enfield to be 18,550. This equates to 55.8 units per 1,00
residents compared to a London average of 91.8 units. Between 1st April 2017 and 31st
March 2018, just 500 social rented properties were let to households on the Council’s
housing register. During that period, 1,233 households were placed in temporary
accommodation.
Residents in Temporary Accommodation make up the majority of residents on our Housing
Register, accounting for 3 out of every 5 applicants. Out of the 500 social rented properties
let to households, our lettings plan has forecasted that 37% or 185 properties will be let to
households in Temporary Accommodation.
As a result of our low social housing stock, the most realistic accommodation option for
many households is the private rented sector.

Who is Homeless in Enfield?

5

Page 110

Whilst homelessness has increased across England in recent years, homelessness in
Enfield has risen at a considerable rate. The London Borough of Enfield has experienced a
246% increase in homelessness acceptances between 2010 and 2017 compared with a
35% rise in London. In 2018/19, there were 3,657 housing advice and homeless approaches
to our Housing Options and Advice service.5

The main reason for households presenting as homeless was the end of an Assured
Shorthold Tenancy (AST) – eviction from the private rented sector. The number of residents
who became homeless due to loss of private rented accommodation has increased
significantly in recent years. The second biggest reason was family or friends being no
longer willing to accommodate them.

5

2018 marked the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act; an increase of those seeking help was
expected due to newly expanded duties within the act.

6

Page 111

Preventing Homelessness
With the introduction of the Homeless Reduction Act, there has been more emphasis on
prevention and supporting households at risk of homelessness to stay in their existing
accommodation. In 2017/18, the Council carried out successful action to prevent 681
households from becoming homeless, including supporting 285 households to remain in
their current home.
Type of temporary accommodation and length of stay
The number of households living in Temporary Accommodation in Enfield has increased
considerably since 2011/12, when there were 1,956 households living in Temporary
Accommodation. As of March 2019, there were 3,410 households living in Temporary
Accommodation, indicating an average annual increase of 208 households. Enfield has the
second highest number of households in temporary accommodation nationally.
The average time spent in Temporary Accommodation is two and a half years and 86% of
households have been in temporary accommodation for more than 6 months. Temporary
Accommodation is not a good or stable form of accommodation for our residents.
Bed and Breakfast accommodation is one of the least stable forms of Temporary
Accommodation and our aim is to have no families with children in Bed and Breakfast
accommodation for more than six weeks. In quarter three of 2018/19 there were two families
with children who had been in B&B accommodation for more than 6 weeks. They have since
been moved out of B&B accommodation. Enfield is particularly reliant on nightly paid,
privately managed accommodation, which is considerably more expensive than other forms
of temporary accommodation.

Bed and
breakfast
hotels

Nightly paid,
privately
managed
accommodation,
self-contained

Hostels
(including
reception
centres
and
emergency
units and
refuges)

Private sector
accommodation
leased by
authority or
leased or
managed by a
registered
provider

Local
authority or
Housing
association
stock

Any other type
of temporary
accommodation
(including
private
landlord)

Enfield

2%

57%

0%

39%

0%

2%

England

8%

26%

7%

31%

19%

9%

London

5%

31%

6%

37%

13%

8%

As well as being an unsuitable form of accommodation for residents, temporary
accommodation comes at a cost to the local authority. Whilst Enfield has one of the lowest
net costs of temporary accommodation per unit in London, as a result of the high number of
households in his type of accommodation, we have one of the highest expenditures.
In 2018/19, there was a net loss of £7.9 million and this is increasing year on year,
presenting a significant budget pressure. This total also includes a reliance on the Flexible
7

Page 112

Homelessness Support Grant from MHCLG totalling £8.4 million. Without this grant, the net
loss would have been £16.3 million. The uncertainty of this grant presents the Council with
considerable challenges in the long-term planning of the service.
One of the reasons for the high numbers in nightly paid accommodation and the difficulties in
sourcing appropriate accommodation in the private rented sector to address the
homelessness challenge, is the number of out of borough placements from other local
authorities into Enfield. Enfield is relatively affordable in comparison to other London
boroughs, particularly inner London, and so many local authorities place households in
Enfield to meet their own temporary accommodation solutions. During 2017/18, just 44% of
all placements were made by Enfield, with 56% being made by other boroughs. Enfield
Council places far fewer households out of borough than neighbouring authorities.

8

Page 113

Table 1 Source: MHCLG, Households in temporary accommodation, April – December 2018, quarterly average (in some
instances there were only two quarters were available and so the average for those two quarters is used)

Local
Authority

Kensington &
Chelsea
Bromley
Lambeth
Hammersmith
& Fulham
Westminster
Waltham
Forest
Camden

Numbers
in TA

Out of
borough

Proportion
of
placements
out of
Local
borough to Authority
number in
TA within
area

2,372
1,604

1,823
1,038

Newham
77%
65% Hackney

2,202

1,300

59%

1,783
1,050

36%
35%

1,743

554

32%

9

3

30%

2,066

570

28%

83,240

22,857

27%

Barking &
51% Dagenham

1,766

469

27%

3,501
936

653
168

19%
18%

571

102

18%

1,400

784

56%

2,554

1,343

53%

2,311

1,214

53%

Wandsworth
City of
London
Lewisham
England

249

Greenwich

2,330
817

1,086
380

Enfield
47%
46% Harrow

Tower
Hamlets

2,600

1,196

46%

Richmond
upon Thames
Haringey
Southwark
Merton
Barnet
Ealing

Sutton

Croydon
234
2,970

98
1,240

42%
42% Hillingdon

1,791
458

270
31

15%
7%

2,479
144

1,034
58

Hounslow
42%
40% Havering

654
883

37
46

6%
5%

2,400

967

40%

2,338

104

4%

2,202

836

38%

1,375

0

0%

766

0

0%

Islington
London

Out of
borough

4,979
2,988

494

Redbridge

Numbers
in TA

Proportion
of
placements
out of
borough to
number in
TA within
area

661
56,497

245
20,437

Brent
Bexley

Kingston
upon
37% Thames
36%

9

Page 114

Children in temporary accommodation
We know that residents in Temporary Accommodation are likely to have poorer health and
are more likely to suffer from a mental health condition than people living in other types of
accommodation. Temporary Accommodation also impacts children; homeless children have
worse educational attainment and are more likely to be absent from school. Enfield has the
second highest number of children in temporary accommodation and 77% of the families in
Temporary Accommodation in Enfield have children.
Ethnicity of people living in temporary accommodation
This graph compares population breakdown by ethnicity in Temporary Accommodation with
the borough as a whole. This shows that almost half of our residents in Temporary
Accommodation are black whilst the black population makes up less than 20% of the
borough.

10

Page 115

Moving on from temporary accommodation
One of our priorities is to reduce the number of people in Temporary Accommodation. This
involves preventing people moving into it in the first place but also involves supporting
households to move out of temporary accommodation. The figure below shows that in
2018/19 983 households moved out of Temporary Accommodation. It is worth noting that
182 residents were housed through the Homefinders scheme, where the Council rents and
manages properties from private rented sector landlords to provide accommodation for
homeless residents and provides a deposit and rent in advance for eligible residents.

Figure 6 Reasons for Temporary Accommodation Ending 2018/19. Source: Knowledge and Insights Hub

Rough Sleeping
Until recent years and in common with many other outer London boroughs, rough sleeping in
Enfield was comparatively low. However, rough sleeping has increased considerably, with
recorded figures showing a rise from 9 rough sleepers in 2017 to 78 in 2018.6
This significant rise is primarily due to the inclusion of an encampment in the count in 2018.
Research by Thamesreach has shown that the people living in these encampments often
work in unregulated employment and have No Recourse to Public Funds, which makes it
difficult for local authorities to engage with them and limits how much support they can offer.

6

A ‘Spotlight Count’ was taken on 28th November 2018 – this is an annual single night snapshot of the number
of people counted sleeping rough. It will not record everyone in the area with a history of rough sleeping.

11

Page 116

Recent case law has also reduced the powers that local authorities have to reconnect
migrants, who are sleeping rough, with their home country.
Most encampments are on the Enfield/Haringey/Barnet boarders (A406). Enfield now has
higher rates of rough sleeping than in previous years and ranks 4th for highest levels of
rough sleeping in London.

Number of Rough Sleepers

Recently, Enfield has been successful in securing additional funding to increase our rough
sleepe
r
90
servic
es.
80
We
70
will
contin
60
ue to
50
maxim
40
ise
opport
30
unities
20
for
fundin
10
g
to
0
tackle
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
this
Barnet
Enfield
Haringey
Waltham Forest
issue.

Figure 7 Total of Rough Sleepers in Enfield and Neighbouring Boroughs from 20142018

Residents with additional support needs

12

Page 117

We want to help people with additional support needs to stay living independently in their
own home wherever possible. In some cases, this will mean helping people get practical
support services coming to help them at home (known as ‘floating support’), helping people
to get adaptations to their home, or helping people move to another general needs home
with ground floor or wheelchair access.
Housing Related Support helps residents to live as independent lives as possible whilst
ensuring that they have the support that they need to thrive. Since 2012, the Housing
Related Support budget as been reduced by over £6 million.
We also know that there are many residents who are in supported or residential care who
could be placed in general needs housing. A snapshot in 2017 showed that there were at
least 30 people who were living in supported housing who could be living in ‘general needs’
accommodation, but there was not the right accommodation available for them. Increasing
the supply of general needs affordable accommodation would not only help those residents
who are able to, live independent lives - it would also mean that other residents who need
supported housing could move into the vacated supported housing units.
We also support people to stay in their own homes by providing grants to make necessary
adaptions to their property. Between 2017 and 2018, the Council received 222 enquiries
regarding Disabled Facility Grants. During this time period, the service completed 180
grants, enabling 180 residents to lead more independent lives. The average grant costs
£10,000.
As at March 2019, a review of 146 disabled facility grants completed in 2016/17 shows us:
only 1% of cases had gone into residential care, 41% had not contacted Social Services to
date and 22% have no formal or informal care. This shows the difference that disabled
facilities grants make in keeping people safe and independent at home.

Reasons for Rising Homelessness
Growing population
Enfield is an outer London borough with exceptionally high housing demand and inequality
in access to appropriate housing. Like much of London, our population is large, with over
330,00 residents, and growing. By 2030 it is predicted that our population will increase to
361,176. Part of this population rise is an increase in the number of older people – People
aged 65 and over make up 13% of our population and this is forecasted to increase to 16%
by 2030 – from 45,148 to 57,647. There is also an increasing number of people with a
physical disability, learning disability or mental ill-health.
Increasing Deprivation
Enfield has areas of high deprivation, with almost half of the borough’s wards among the
20% most deprived nationally. The borough is the 12th most deprived in London and has
become relatively more deprived when compared with other London boroughs. Enfield is the
6th most income deprived area in London and 17% of households have an income of less
than £15,000 per annum and almost a third of working people in Enfield are not earning the
London living wage. These factors contribute to Enfield having the largest number of children
affected by poverty in London.

13

Page 118

In Enfield, there are over 40,000 low-income households.7 An average of 20% have
outgoings that are more than their income; this ranges between 17-23%. Data suggests that
this issue is slightly more severe in the East of the borough. By 2021, the proportion of lowincome households that have outgoings higher than their income is projected to rapidly
increase to over 32%.8
The map below shows the spread of overall deprivation among London boroughs. The deep

red areas are the boroughs in the highest quintile of deprivation nationally.
Figure 8 Deprivation by Ward. Source: Knowledge and Insights Hub

Changes in welfare provision
National changes to benefits entitlement are having a significant impact on our residents.
These include changes to the way Local Housing Allowance (LHA) is calculated; restricting
the housing benefit entitlement for social housing tenants with accommodation larger than
necessary through the spare room subsidy; capping the total amount of benefit paid to
working-age claimants; and the roll of out of universal credit.
The benefit cap introduced in April 2013 and the spare room subsidy, combined, affected
around 3,200 Enfield households when they were introduced. These households have had
to either begin paying additional rent or move to smaller properties. Since its introduction,
7

Policy in Practice has developed an approach that takes the needs of the household into account, based on
family size and location and the 30th percentile from the ONS family spending figures. ONS: Family spending in
the UK: financial year ending March 2016 https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/familyspendingintheuk2016
8

http://policyinpractice.co.uk/lsi-london/

14

Page 119

4,533 households in Enfield have been impacted by the housing benefit cap – the 3rd highest
nationally. As at May 2019, 774 households currently have their housing benefit capped; this
is the 3rd highest in London. Households who are in the private rented sector are most
affected by the benefit cap when compared to those with social tenancies or who are in
temporary accommodation.
When the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) was introduced in April 2008, rates were based
on median rental rates (the 50th percentile). From 2011, LHA rates were set at the 30th
percentile of rental rates and in 2012, the shared accommodation rate for single people with
no dependents was extended from people under 25 to those under 35. Prior to 2013, LHA
rates rose in line with the local rental market. It was then uprated on the basis of the
Consumer Prices Index (CPI), which was rising slower than local rental market rates.
Since 2015, most LHA rates across the country have been frozen and rates in Enfield have
remained unchanged except for a small increase for the 1 bedroom rate in 2018. These
changes to the way Local Housing Allowance is calculated and the freezing of rates pose
serious challenges to any renter who is reliant on Housing Benefit for all or part of their rent.
Even lower quartile rents in Enfield are higher than the LHA rate in every category. During
2018/19, the Council paid £2,161,975.75 as Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) to
support households with housing costs and to prevent homelessness.
PRS monthly rents year to March 2019

Local Housing
Allowance (LHA)
rates

Enfield: Property category
Lower
Quartile
Rent

Room only (shared facilities)
One bed property
Two bed property
Three bed property

£495
£1,000
£1,250
£1,475

Median
Rent

LHA rate
(weekly)

Monthly rent gap between
LHA rate and PRS rents

Gap between
LHA rate and Gap between
LHA rate
LowerLHA rate and
(monthly)
Quartile
Median rents
rents

£550
£1,050
£1,300
£1,595

-£101.15
-£156.15
£90.64 £393.85
-£79.50
-£129.50
£211.84 £920.50
-£107.20
-£157.20
£263.00 £1,142.80
-£64.67
-£184.67
£324.57 £1,410.33
Four or more bed property
£1,750
£2,000 £388.65 £1,688.78
-£61.22
-£311.22
Figure 9 PRS Monthly Rents and Local Housing Allowance Rates in Enfield. Source: Knowledge and Insights Hub

It is estimated that 37,747 households are receiving either Housing Benefit or Universal
Credit to help pay their rent. Over half of these households are in the Private Rented Sector
and around 30% of all households in Enfield are renters who require benefits to cover their
housing costs.
The implementation of Universal Credit has resulted in delays in payment and increases in
rent arrears. As payment is now made directly to residents, rather than to landlords, private
rented sector landlords are increasingly reluctant to rent homes to people on benefits.
Discretionary Housing Payments
Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) is a short-term emergency fund to help people who
claim housing benefit or receive the housing element of universal credit and are struggling to
pay rent.
DHP helps claimants to pay for the shortfall in their rent whilst they seek employment or
alternative accommodation.

15

Page 120

During 2018/19, the Council paid £2,161,975.75 as Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) to
support households with housing costs and to prevent homelessness. DHP paid as a result
of the Benefit Cap was the highest spend for the Council at £1,091,569.

Why are evictions happening?
In 2018/2019, Enfield had the highest eviction rates in London, with 18.4 Possession Orders
per 1,000 renting households. The majority of Possession Orders came from private
landlords.

Figure 10 Eviction Rates per Borough. Source: Knowledge and Insights Hub

End of Private Rented tenancy is the most significant driver for loss of home, with the main
reason being the landlord wishing to sell.
As part of their research into the drivers of homelessness in Enfield, The Smith Institute
carried out telephone interviews with a small sample of ten clients in spring 2019. The group
consisted of five homeless people living in temporary accommodation, and five who were in
the process of making a homeless application.
The most common reason for becoming homeless was the breakdown of a private tenancy
due to the accommodation becoming unsuitable through overcrowding or poor maintenance,
or the landlord wishing to increase the rent. Nevertheless, in most cases the pattern was a
change of circumstances, such as relationship breakdown, serious illness, pregnancy or
unemployment resulting in the tenant being unable to pay the rent, or more commonly the
gap between the LHA and their rent.

16

Page 121

The interviews suggested that there is very little awareness that the Council can do anything
to help earlier in the process of becoming homeless. Most interviewees assumed nothing
can be done until you are about to be evicted. Asked what would have made the difference
in preventing them from becoming homeless, the response was usually either direct help
with the rent after a change in personal circumstances, or someone to speak to the landlord
on their behalf. Help navigating the benefits system during a change in circumstances was
also mentioned.

Services in Enfield
Existing Enfield Council Services
Homelessness Triage Service: Enfield’s Homelessness Service has developed a triage
service which is a screening and document management service for applications who are
homeless or at risk of being made homeless. This is the first point of call for residents and it
helps us to quickly assess their situation and refer them to the right service.
Housing Assessments and Allocations Service: In line with the Council’s Allocations
Scheme and annual Lettings Plan, this service manages Housing assessments and
allocation. The service is responsible for managing the Council’s Housing Register and
organises mutual exchanges for social rented tenants. The service also allocates Enfield’s
Temporary Accommodation and carries out medical assessments for homelessness and
housing assessments.
Homelessness Prevention Service – Private Rented Sector: This is a Homelessness
Prevention Casework Service which focuses particularly on tenancy sustainment in the
private rented sector and helping those at risk of homelessness to find somewhere else to
live. The team explains tenancy rights, helps to maximise income of residents and the take
up of benefits and supports the administration of Discretionary Housing Payments. This
service negotiates with landlords and agents to sustain tenancies and defend possession
proceedings at court. The team addresses serious harassment and illegal evictions and they
recover deposit fees.
Where sustainment of a tenancy is not possible, this service assists residents to find
alternative accommodation in the private rented sector and promotes the use of the
Council’s Homefinders scheme which provides a deposit and rent in advance for eligible
residents.
Homelessness Prevention - Host Ejection Service: This service helps residents who
have been asked by their family or friends to leave accommodation. The team works with
this resident to assess what has happened and they provide mediation and home visits to
prevent homelessness. Where accommodation cannot be sustained, this team helps
residents to find alternative accommodation.
Relief of Actual Homelessness Service: This service supports residents where prevention
of homelessness has not been possible and residents are actually homeless. This service
supports residents who are homelessness because they are discharged from hospital or
prison, victims of domestic abuse and referrals from the private rented prevention team
where a tenancy cannot be sustained.
This service makes decisions on cases where the Council has ended emergency temporary
accommodation and decides on the Council’s homelessness duty. They also deal with
statutory reviews and appeals against homelessness decisions and Housing Register
assessment decision.
17

Page 122

The Homeless and Immigration service is responsible for eligible families with children who
are in need and have no recourse to public funds.
Temporary Accommodation Service: This service procures new properties and lease
extensions for Temporary Accommodation, which comprises of Private Sector, Nightly Paid
Accommodation and Bed and Breakfast accommodation. This service procures PRS
properties for the HomeFinder scheme and has manages the Council’s social housing
regeneration decant units.
Move-On Team: In October 2018, the Move-On team, which is part of the Temporary
Accommodation service, was developed to move households currently in expensive
temporary accommodation into more cost-effective accommodation through the private
rented sector or social housing. Our Move-On officers work with residents to reduce their
length of stay in Temporary Accommodation and help households to understand their
realistic options for moving on from temporary accommodation, which will in nearly all cases
be into private rented sector housing, rather than into social or affordable rented
accommodation from the council or a housing association.
This service not only reduces costs to the local authority, it frees up existing temporary
accommodation units for new households in need and finds long term solutions for our
residents’ housing need. Since the establishment of this service, 227 households have been
from Temporary Accommodation into the Private Rented Sector.
Housing Gateway: Housing Gateway was established in 2014 to provide good quality
housing solutions for Enfield residents to help the Council eradicate the use of Temporary
Accommodation. Since its establishment, Housing Gateway has delivered 534 homes and
provided over 695 families with quality accommodation and stable tenancies. Not only has
this provided residents with high-quality and a more stable accommodation, it has generated
savings of £5.5 million to the Council through reducing the reliance on expensive temporary
accommodation. Subject to final approval, Housing Gateway aims to purchase at least a
further 250 properties to reduce temporary accommodation rates. Housing Gateway has
purchased homes to meet the specific needs of residents with additional challenges such as
learning disabilities and improving the quality, availability and security of private rented
accommodation for those at risk of homelessness.
Income and Debt Services: The Income and Debt service centre provides a range of
collection services to the residents and businesses in accordance with statutory or local
policy and procedure. All services provide direct customer access and are working towards
digital by default with appropriate service provision for vulnerable customers.


Council tax: Council tax income derives from charges raised according to the
valuation bands assessed for all residential property by the Valuation Office Agency.
The Council is responsible for the levy, collection and recovery of council tax. Income
is shared between the Council and the Greater London Authority.



Housing Benefit overpayments: An overpayment of Housing Benefit (rent rebate or
rent allowance) is any amount which has been paid but to which there was no
entitlement. The team will establish the cause, calculate the overpayment, decide
whether the amount is recoverable and notify the affected person.



Council housing rent collection: The rent collection service includes council owned
property, sheltered accommodation and garages. The team is funded by the Housing
Revenue Account. The service also collects former tenant arrears. The income team
18

Page 123

manages collection and enforcement of arrears and will wherever possible assist
tenants to prevent arrears accruing in order to sustain the tenancy. This will include,
maximising tenant’s income, personal budgeting advice and promoting a payment
culture.
Rent accounts are monitored on a regular basis to prevent the build-up of arrears.
Additional support for vulnerable tenants is available at any stage of the collection
process. For tenants transferring to Universal Credit specific processes apply to try to
mitigate the effect on arrears which include proactive contact at the start of claim and
budgeting advice.


Temporary accommodation rent collection: The rent collection service includes
customers of the Housing Options and Advice service who have been placed into
temporary accommodation who have to pay rent for the property. The service is
funded from the general fund and Housing Gateway Ltd. The council is responsible
for paying housing benefit for tenants in temporary accommodation.



Social Care: The service invoices and collects charges for social care services
following a financial assessment of the service user

Financial Assessment: The Financial Assessment Service is responsible for statutory
assessments for: Housing Benefit, Council Tax Support and Adult Social Care Financial
Assessments to help residents pay Rent, Council Tax and Social Care Charges. The service
also helps with Travel Concessions, provides Fostering and Special Guardianship Order
Financial Assessments and Deputyships and Appointee-ships.
The Financial Assessment Service also provides discretionary help through Discretionary
Housing Payments (DPH), when Housing Benefit or Universal Credit Housing costs are paid
but residents are still struggling to pay rent. Residents can also receive Council Tax Support
Hardship when Council Tax Support is paid but residents are still struggling to pay council
tax.
In all cases of discretionary help, income is maximized, benefit errors are challenged and
rectified, housing issues referred and longer term solutions to pay rent and council tax
without this support is instigated
Private Sector Housing Licensing and Enforcement services: This service works with
landlords and agents to raise housing standards and improve property conditions in the
private rented sector. However, where appropriate and necessary, the Council will instigate
appropriate enforcement action against landlords who fail to comply with their legal
requirements including through enforcement action.
Voluntary and Community Sector Services in Enfield
Mylife Enfield is a directory of services for adults, their families and carers to improve their
wellbeing and aims to help residents live as independently as possible. It provides a range of
information on services available in Enfield including housing options and advice.
Many of the organisations that are shown on this website are wider regional and national
organisations. We recognise the vital support that national and regional organisations
provide but we know that for many people, receiving local support, close to their community
is more suitable.

19

Page 124

The majority of organisations operate in the East of the borough - in Edmonton, Ponders
End and Tottenham. This is consistent with the level of need seen in this area in relation to
deprivation and homelessness.
We are continuing to review and audit what voluntary and community sector services are
available for Enfield residents, which includes the services set out below:
Information, Advice and Advocacy
We know of over 17 local organisations that provide a range of information and advice for
homeless residents or those with housing difficulties.
This includes:




Enfield Citizens Advice (ECA) which provides free information, guidance and
independent advice to residents. ECA provides specialist appointments and drop-in
services are also available face-to-face and over the telephone. ECA’s main site in
Vincent House fully accessible for disabled clients and language requirements. ECA
also operates out of 12 outreach sites including children’s centres, libraries, hospitals
and foodbanks. In 2018/19 the top three enquiries for ECA were benefits, debt and
housing.
Enfield Homeless Resource Centre which is a day centre for homeless people,
providing advocacy and support to local people experiencing homelessness. It
provides a range of support from literacy, numeracy and IT classes to budgeting and
CV writing. It gives advice on benefits and housing, including referrals to emergency
housing. It has a clothing store and gives people access to computers and internet. It
also provides counselling and support, incorporating a facilitative tool called the
Emotional Health Check which is used as part of a broader wellbeing offer.

There is also a range of organisations that provide specialist support, advice and information
for the following groups:
Domestic Abuse survivors, women, LGBT people, Carers, Disabilities, Older people, people
with mental health issues, ethnic minority community groups, refugees.
Accommodation
Christian Action Housing provides 50 units of accommodation for young people in Enfield,
this includes support like tenancy sustainment training, budgeting advice and support to
transition to suitable move-on accommodation through rent and deposit schemes. We know
that there is a lack of suitable move-on accommodation for these residents.
Enfield Single Housing has over 300 flats across Enfield which have single rooms and
shared communal facilities.
All People All Places provide accommodation and shelter for rough sleepers over the winter
months and puts in place support services and plans to move rough sleepers into more
stable and secure accommodation.
We know that there is also informal accommodation provision in the form of churches and
mosques that provide shelter for rough sleepers.
Practical support
There is one foodbank in Enfield, North Enfield Foodbank and Haringey’s Foodbank
operates out of several different sites in the borough.
20

Page 125

Meals are available every day of the week in Enfield and neighbouring borough, Haringey.
We are aware of 14 organisations that provide meals for homeless people.
We know there are at least five organisations (four in Enfield and one in Haringey) that
provide donated clothes.
Our research has shown that there is a lack of practical facilities, such as showers and
laundry facilities, in Enfield for homeless people.

21

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 127

1

Page 128

Contents
1. Executive summary

2. Introduction
2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5

Methodology
Accessibility
Marketing and promotion
Respondents
Technical note

3. Key findings
3.1 Draft strategy for Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping
3.1.1
3.1.2
3.1.3
3.1.4
3.1.5

Proposed vision
Proposed ambitions
Support
Comments on the Council’s approach to tackling homelessness
Working with partners and private landlords

2

Page 129

1. Executive summary
Enfield Council is developing two new strategies that will have a huge impact on how we
will achieve our ambition to create a lifetime of opportunities in Enfield. The Housing and
Growth Strategy shows our approach to building more homes and better homes that will
benefit everyone in Enfield. The Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy
details how we will work across the Council, with our partners and with the community to
prevent and end homelessness in Enfield.
We ran a public consultation on both strategies between X and X. The purpose of this
consultation was to find out whether stakeholders agreed with the vision, ambitions and
direction of the strategies. It was also to find out if there was anything that stakeholders felt
was missing from either of the strategies. The Council consulted with a wide variety of
individuals and organisations including, but not limited to, residents, Voluntary and
Community sector organisations, partners from the statutory sector, Registered Providers,
housing developers and private landlords.
To do this, the Council used a wide variety of methods of data collection: questionnaire
(online and hard copy), notes from discussions with various fora and emailed submissions
from stakeholders. The questionnaire provides the primary focus of this report. When
developing the final version of both strategies, the information from the other methods
have been fully considered too.
The consultation was promoted using a number of communication channels: via the Council
website, social media, emails to various groups and stakeholders, Council publications (for
example, Our Enfield), non-English newspapers, local newspaper, leaflets and the Council enewsletter. In total, we received 285 responses to the questionnaire, 11 emailed
submissions and officers attended 13 meetings of various groups.
In developing the draft strategies, we carried out extensive engagement across all relevant
council departments, including in cross-council workshop, to shape the priorities and
direction of the strategies and to get agreement and buy-in. We also engaged with
residents, Voluntary and Community sector, registered providers, MHCLG and elected
members in drafting the strategies.
Draft strategy for Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping
Participants are broadly supportive of the Council’s proposals within the draft strategy for
Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping.
More than eight out of 10 (85%) support the proposed vision, while just 6% disagree.
Representatives from the Voluntary and Community sector (11), statutory sector (3) and
Registered Providers (4) all agree with the vision.

3

Page 130

Similarly, the majority of respondents agree with the proposed ambitions of the draft
Strategy, with the proportion who agree ranging from 84% to 94%. The numbers who
disagree range from just 2% to 5%. The written submissions from organisations, including
the Voluntary and Community Sector, Trade Unions and Registered Providers, similarly
showed agreement for the proposed vision and ambitions of the draft strategy.
The ambition that receives most support is treat people with empathy, dignity and respect
(94% agree). Support for this ambition drew the most positive response in the consultation,
as well as the highest top-box score (82% strongly agree).
All Voluntary and Community sector organisations (11), Registered Providers (4) and
representatives from the statutory sector (3) agree with the proposal to make
homelessness prevention a priority for everyone. In addition, written responses from
similar organisations acknowledged the scale of the homelessness crisis and expressed
willingness to work with Enfield to prevent and end homelessness.
How have we addressed these views in the revised strategy?
The results of the consultation suggested that the Council could work more effectively with
the Voluntary and Community sector. There was support for strengthening our partnership
work within this sector. This is in line with the strategy aims, and there will be a renewed
focus to put this into action with funding secured through the LGA Housing Advisors
Programme, to co-ordinate our activities and make sure that together we are delivering the
best outcomes for residents.
The ambition to support people to access the right accommodation is aimed at
empowering local people to find suitable accommodation and driving up standards in the
private sector. It is therefore encouraging that six of the eight private landlords who
completed this questionnaire, agree with this proposal. The two remaining landlords
selected neither agree nor disagree. Equally, it is reassuring that nine of the 10 who live in
temporary accommodation and a similar proportion of private renters (32 out of 36) agree.
The draft strategy for Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping proposes that we
develop services that are delivered within the communities that people live. It is intended
this could involve providing help with housing, and at the same time getting help or advice
for other issues. Close to nine out of 10 (87%) agree with this ambition, while one in 25 (4%)
disagree. Around three out of five residents stated that it would be helpful to provide advice
and support in relation to employment (63%), health and wellbeing advice/support (61%)
and benefits (58%).
When asked for general comments on the Council’s approach to tackling homelessness,
12% (11 of the participants who responded to the question) said social care support should
be improved/broaden support services alongside housing, while 10% suggested that we
improve partnership working with the likes of the Voluntary and Community sector and
Registered Providers.

4

Page 131

How have we addressed these views in the revised strategy?
The strong support for developing holistic services is in line with the aims of the Preventing
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy. Homelessness cannot be dealt with in isolation
and we must provide a holistic service that can identify this and intervene early to prevent
homelessness. We have strengthened this approach in the revised strategy draft.
Of the eight private landlords who completed the questionnaire, three said they would be
happy to let to homeless households or those threatened with homelessness. The five
private landlords who said no or don’t know were asked what incentives or support the
Council could provide that would encourage them to let to homeless households. Three said
they would want ‘guarantees’.
Representatives from organisations were asked if they know how to refer to homelessness
prevention services (Q11). Two-thirds (66%) of the 32 respondents said they do not how to
make such referrals. This includes, Voluntary and Community sector organisations (8),
statutory sector organisations (3) and private landlords (7). The Adult Safeguarding Board
raised the issue around the lack of awareness relating to the Duty to Refer. The three
statutory sector representatives said they had not heard of the Duty.
How have we addressed these views in the revised strategy?
The results of the consultation suggested that many organisations and landlords are unsure
of how to refer into homelessness prevention services. As a result, the strategy has a
renewed focus and commitment to supporting and training organisations, partners and
landlords to understand how they can support homeless households, how they can refer
into services and who to contact.
The consultation also suggested that the information that the community receives could be
improved. We have strengthened ambition 4 ‘supporting people to plan for their lifetime
needs’ to make further commitments to improving the information that the community
receives to get help early and to understand the available housing options needs to be more
accessible.
It is important to note that there were concerns raised in some of the written/online
responses and also in meetings that officers attended around how the aims of the strategy
will be delivered practically and how outcomes will be measured.
How have we addressed these views in the revised strategy?
In the governance section of the strategy, we have explained that we will be launching a
multi-agency Homelessness Prevention Partnership Board. This board will agree, deliver and
monitor an annual action plan to deliver on the commitments set out in this strategy. They
will also monitor annual targets based on the outcome measures set out for each of our
four ambitions.

5

Page 132

The results of the consultation have been considered and changes to the strategies as a
result have been detailed in the final Cabinet report. The final strategy drafts will be taken
to Cabinet in December for approval. The Housing and Growth strategy will then be taken to
Full Council in early 2020 for final sign off.

6

Page 133

2. Introduction
2.1 Methodology
A questionnaire was developed to capture the views of residents, landlords and
organisations (including Registered Providers, those from the Voluntary and Community
sector, housing developers and statutory sector partners). An online version of the
questionnaire was hosted in the Consultation section of the Council website, with paper
copies of the questionnaire available on request and also placed at John Wilkes House. The
questionnaire was available between 26 July and 21 October 2019.
Officers arranged to present proposals at a number of meetings. At these meetings, officers
captured comments and suggestions on the Council’s two draft strategies. Details of the
meetings attended are listed in Respondents (section 2.4). We did not seek permission to
publish the notes from the meetings, so they have not been attached to this report. The
feedback from the meetings have been shared with the Director of Housing and
Regeneration and have been used to develop the strategies.
Organisations were invited to email us with their comments and suggestions. We emailed
all local Voluntary and Community sector organisations on our database as well as national
organisations, public sector organisations, the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local
Government (MHCLG), Registered Providers and Private Developers. The closing date for
email submissions was 21 October 2019, the date the questionnaire was closed. We did not
seek permission to publish these emails, so they have not been attached to this report. The
11 emails we received have been shared with the Director of Housing and Regeneration and
used to develop the strategies. Key themes and our response have been included in this
report.
Facebook was one of the forms of communication used to signpost the consultation. This
led to several posts from individuals sharing their views on the issues of homelessness and
housing.

2.2 Accessibility
One of the reasons for using online questionnaires was to enable a wide-range of residents
and other stakeholders to participate in the consultation. As the questionnaire was
presented in HTML, it can be translated via translation software/plug-ins (for example,
Google Translate), the text can be enlarged, and it is compatible with reading software/plugins.
On the consultation web page, potential respondents were asked to email
consultation@enfield.gov.uk if they required assistance with participation. We also placed
hard copies of the questionnaire at John Wilkes House.
In addition to this, the consultation was promoted in a variety of ways to reach out to the
various communities across the borough. We had adverts posted in Greek and Turkish
7

Page 134

language newspapers, and we emailed all Voluntary and Community sector organisations
asking them to participate and forward details of our consultation their clients and service
users.

2.3 Marketing and promotion
It was important to ensure the consultation (by email and via questionnaire) was widely
publicised to encourage participation across all communities and various organisations in
the borough. We also wanted to maximise responses and ensure there was not a ‘cluster’ of
respondents with similar characteristics.
The communication channels used, included, but were not limited to:
 Press release
 Council website
 Council social media
 Leaflets (distributed during public events and delivered to temporary
accommodation properties)
 Our Enfield (feature and full-page advert)
 Our Enfield – full page advert
 Third Sector e-newsletter (sent to all Voluntary and Community sector organisations
on the Council’s database)
 Council e-newsletter
 Enfield Independent (advert)
 Parikiaki – Greek newspaper (advert)
 Avrupa – Turkish newspaper (advert)

2.4 Respondents
The following people participated in the consultation:
 Enfield residents
 Individuals who do not live in the borough
 Representatives from a wide range of support organisations (in this instance,
organisations from the Voluntary and Community and statutory sector)
 Other stakeholders (other councils, Registered Providers, private landlords, housing
developers and statutory sector)
The questionnaire did not ask the names of individual respondents, nor the names or
organisation details of those responding on behalf of organisations. However, where
organisations submitted email responses to the Director of Housing and Regeneration, we
were able to attribute feedback and ideas to particular organisations.
The breakdown of respondent types by consultation method are detailed in Table 1.

8

Page 135

Table 1

Questionnaire

Email

242

-

Individuals who do not live in the borough

8

-

Representatives from a wide range of support
organisations

14

2

Other stakeholders

7

8

8

-

6

1*

Enfield residents

Private landlords

Other

*Email from Ministry of Communities, Housing and Local Government

It is particularly encouraging that the demographics of the individual respondents to the
questionnaire (that is, Enfield residents and those who do not live in the borough) were not
dominated by any specific demographic groups. For example, there were a similar number
of respondents from the south and east of the borough (89) compared to the west and
north (106). In this instance, those from the south and east represent an unusually high
proportion of respondents than is usually the case in Council consultations.
The support organisations represented a wide range of people, including:
 Homeless residents or those at risk of homelessness
 Rough sleepers
 Those experiencing debt issues
 Families, children and young people
 People with additional support needs, disabilities, learning difficulties and health
conditions or their carers
 Ethnic minority groups
 Women
 Older people
 LGBT+ community
We received 34 comments via Facebook. We are unable to establish on what basis they
responded (for example, if they were Enfield residents or not, or if they were private
landlords) so they were not included in the table above.

9

Page 136

In addition, officers attended a wide range of fora to share the Council’s proposals and to
capture the general opinions of the audience. These meetings were as follows:
 Registered Provider Forum (development)
 Safeguarding Adults Board
 Health and Wellbeing Board
 Safer and Stronger Communities Board
 Voluntary Sector Strategy Group
 Enfield Youth Parliament
 Faith Forum
 Parent Engagement Network
 Leaseholders Forum
 Customer Voice (tenants and leaseholders of Enfield Council homes)
 Housing Advisory Group
 Over 50s Forum
 Ponders End Community Development Trust
 Housing Gateway Tenants
 Kratos
We received emailed submissions from the following organisations:
 Transport for London
 Newlon Housing Trust
 DWS
 Modomo Modular Meanwhile Housing
 Religious Society of Friends (Quakers) in Winchmore Hill
 One Housing
 Metropolitan Thames Valley
 Countryside
 GMB trade union
 Enfield Clinical Commissioning Group
 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
The feedback from these meetings and from the emailed submissions has been considered
alongside other sources of feedback, including the questionnaire.
We would like to take this opportunity to thank those who participated in the consultation
and thus the development of two key strategies on addressing issues that are of a high
priority.

2.5 Technical note
Before reading the Key Findings section, it is important to note the following:

10

Page 137










The data in this report, expressed as percentages, are rounded. Totals will
sometimes be more or less than 100% and aggregates may appear to be +/-1%
different to the sum of the individual components
No probability sampling method was used. Rather, the consultation was open to all
The data is unweighted
Data has been edited to deliver higher quality data. This has, for example, involved
amending a response in which the participant selected ‘Other’ (and subsequently
provided an explanation) but an option from the list of coded responses was
relevant and should have been selected. In one instance, an individual selected
‘Other’ when asked on what basis they were responding. The respondent described
himself as living ‘in temporary accommodation in N11’. They should have selected
‘Enfield resident’. This response was amended to reflect this
Open-ended responses have been coded
Data from the 10 (valid) hard copy questionnaires have been combined with the 275
responses to the online version. The questions are the same and the data collection
method is identical. Thus, there are no ‘mode effects’ in combining the data from
the two.

11

Page 138

3. Key findings
The focus of this report is on the findings from the questionnaire. Feedback collated from
the meetings and the emailed responses has also been referred to in this report to provide
further insight. In addition, the email responses are being considered in full by the relevant
Housing teams to help inform ongoing service development. Notes from meetings are also
being considered by the Director of Housing and Regeneration.
The replies to the Facebook post promoting the consultation, were general comments and
not specific enough to give significant insight. However, these are also being considered by
relevant housing teams.
The findings from the consultation have been considered and changes to the strategies as a
result have been detailed in the final Cabinet report.
The final strategy draft will be taken to Cabinet in December for approval.

12

Page 139

3.1 Draft strategy for Preventing Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping
3.1.1 Proposed vision
Underpinning the draft Strategy is the following vision….
We want to end homelessness in Enfield.
This means:
 Making sure that everyone has a safe, stable place to live
 Helping residents to know their housing options so they have a
home that they can afford and that meets their needs
 If someone is at risk of homelessness, we make sure they get the
help they need to stop them becoming homeless

Respondents to the questionnaire were asked to what extent they agree or disagree with
this proposed vision (Q4). It is reassuring that a clear majority agree. See Chart 1.

Chart 1

Q4. To what extent do you agree or disagree with our
proposed vision? All respondents

67%

18%

Strongly
agree

Tend to
agree

7%

3%

Neither
agree nor
disagree

Tend to
disagree

3%

2%

Strongly Don't know
disagree

Base: All 285 respondents to the questionnaire (unweighted)

The findings indicate that 85% agree, while 6% disagree. It is encouraging that almost seven
out of 10 (68%) selected the top box score (strongly agree), and apart from those who
stated don’t know (2%), the lowest scores were recorded for tend to disagree and strongly
disagree – both 3%.

13

Page 140

Of the 18 who disagree, 14 are Enfield residents, two are housing developers and two refer
to themselves as ‘Other’ (but did not specify when asked). This group of 14 Enfield
respondents appear to have expressed negative perceptions in response to a few questions.
Looking at some of their responses to the open-ended question in which they were asked
for comments about the Council’s approach to homelessness, may, in part, explain their
negative perceptions.
It is noticeable that of the three respondents who have no fixed address, not one of them
agree (two strongly disagree, one selected don’t know). The base size for this group is small.
Thus, it is suggested that caution is exercised when considering the findings.
When looking at other groups, the majority in each (between 80% to 100%) agree with the
proposed vision of the draft Strategy for Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping. The
group with the second highest number of respondents who disagree are Council tenants –
11% disagree. However, this is still substantially lower than the four out of five (80%)
Council tenants who agree with the proposed vision.
All representatives from Voluntary and Community sector organisations (11), statutory
sector partners (3) and Registered Providers (4), agree with the proposed vision for the
Strategy.

3.1.2 Proposed ambitions
We are proposing to deliver the vision through five ambitions:
 Treat people with empathy, dignity and respect
 Make homeless prevention a priority for everyone
 Support people to access the right accommodation
 Support people to plan for their lifetime housing needs
 End rough sleeping in Enfield
These ambitions are listed in the draft Strategy, along with details of how we intend to
deliver them. It should be that detailed information of how we intend to deliver the
ambitions was not provided in the questionnaire. The expectation was that respondents
would read the draft Strategy or the executive summary.
In the questionnaire, respondents were asked to what extent they agree or disagree with
these ambitions, as listed above. In each instance, there was strong support for each, with
few stating they disagree. See Chart 2.

14

Page 141

Chart 2

Q5a-Q5e. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the
proposed ambitions? All respondents
2%

Treat people with empathy, dignity and
respect

82%

13% 3%
3% 2%

Make homeless prevention a priority for
everyone

67%

20%

7%

1%

2% 1%

Support people to access the right
accommodation

68%

24%

3%

2%

3% 2%

Support people to plan for their lifetime
housing needs

63%

21%

10%

2%

1%2%

End rough sleeping in Enfield

Strongly agree
Neither agree nor disagree
Strongly disagree

76%

15% 5%

2%

Tend to agree
Tend to disagree
Don't know

Base: All 285 respondents to the questionnaire (unweighted)

The ambition that respondents most agree with is treat people with empathy, dignity and
respect (94%), closely followed by support people to access the right accommodation
(92%) and end rough sleeping in Enfield (91%).
Respondents were least likely to agree with the ambition to support people to plan for their
housing lifetime housing needs (84%). However, it should be noted that a substantial
number (10%) stated neither agree nor disagree.
It is encouraging that so many agree with each, suggesting the Council’s ambitions, in
relation to addressing homelessness and ending rough sleeping, align with those of
individuals and stakeholders.
The proportion of those who disagree with the ambitions varied between 2% and 5%. We
cannot be confident these differences are significant.
15

Page 142

In total, 175 (62%) respondents agree with every single one of the ambitions. This includes
seven of the 11 Voluntary and Community sector representatives, all four of those
responding on behalf of Registered Providers as well as two of the three representing
statutory sector organisations.
Only two respondents disagree with each individual ambition. One lives in temporary
accommodation, the other is a private renter.
Action 1: Treat people with empathy, dignity and respect
People who are homeless or at risk of homelessness are at a stressful and difficult time in
their lives. Whatever type of help they may be eligible for, and whatever the reasons for
their homelessness, they need to be treated with compassion. This means all our staff need
to treat people with empathy, dignity and respect. It should be noted that treating
customers with dignity and respect closely reflects a key element of the Customer Promise,
as detailed in the Council’s Customer Experience Strategy.
We will take a whole-person and whole-family approach in how we deliver housing options
and advice services. This means working collaboratively with the community, across the
Council and with all our statutory, community and voluntary partners to address peoples’
needs.
More than nine out of 10 (94%) agree with the Council’s proposed ambition to treat people
with empathy, dignity and respect (Q5a), with most stating they strongly agree (82%).
Responses to this question were more positive than those recorded for any other question
in the questionnaire. This is reflected in the:
 Highest top box score (in this case, strongly agree) of 82%
 Highest combined positive score (strongly agree plus tend to agree) of 93%
 Highest net agree figure (that is, the difference between the proportion who agree
and those who disagree) of 92%
It is noticeable that only 2% disagree and just 3% provided a more ambivalent response
(that is, neither agree nor disagree or don’t know). The more ambivalent responses were
lower for this ambition than the other four. Thus, it appears respondents have more
definitive opinions on this than the other four ambitions.
With this ambition drawing the most positive response in the questionnaire, it would appear
it is a key issue.
How have we addressed these views in the revised strategy?
The strategy acknowledges the importance of providing good services to residents and
contains a measure of success ‘an increasing proportion of people accessing the
Homelessness Prevention Service give positive feedback on their experience of the services
they received’. This will be monitored along with the other measures in the strategy.
16

Page 143

Ambition 2: Make homeless prevention a priority for everyone
One of the ambitions of the draft Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy is
to make homelessness prevention a priority for everyone (Q5b). More specifically, working
with the community, our partners and across our own organisation to identify risks of
homelessness early and to take holistic action to prevent it.
When asked to what extent they agree or disagree with this ambition, around nine out of 10
(87%) said they agree. Of those who agree, two-thirds (67%) said they strongly agree, while
a fifth (20%) tend to agree. It is positive that a clear majority have a selected the most
positive response (that is, strongly agree). Just one out of 20 (5%) disagree - 2% strongly
disagree and 3% tend to disagree. Around one in 12 (8%) said they neither agree nor
disagree or don’t know.
To deliver this ambition, it is especially important we work closely with our partners. It is
therefore encouraging to see that there is support for this ambition from Voluntary and
Community sector organisations and Registered Providers. All Voluntary and Community
sector organisations and Registered Providers (11 and 4 respectively) who completed the
questionnaire agree with this proposal, along with all three representatives from statutory
sector organisations.
How have we addressed these views in the revised strategy?
The results of the consultation suggested that the Council could work more effectively with
the Voluntary and Community sector. There was support for strengthening our partnership
work within this sector. This is in line with the strategy aims, and there will be a renewed
focus to put this into action with funding secured through the LGA Housing Advisors
Programme, to co-ordinate our activities and make sure that together we are delivering the
best outcomes for residents.
Ambition 3: Support people to access the right accommodation
The ambition to support people to access the right accommodation (Q5c) is aimed at
empowering local people to find suitable accommodation and driving up standards in the
private rented sector.
To prevent people in Enfield becoming homeless, and to support those who are currently
homeless into stable accommodation, we must secure the right accommodation, and
enough of it, to meet their needs. We will increase our housing supply, make sure that
current housing is of good quality and take an approach that recognises the diverse needs of
our residents, delivering on our Housing and Growth Strategy.
Given the scarcity of social rented homes, in most cases, we will discharge our statutory
homelessness duty via a Private Rented Sector Offer (PRSO). This means that we will arrange
for a private landlord to make an offer of an assured short-hold tenancy in the private
rented sector for a period of at least 12 months.

17

Page 144

Respondents were especially supportive of this ambition, with 92% stating they agree.
Those who agree are made-up of 68% who strongly agree and 24% who tend to agree.
While the 3% who disagree can be split into the 2% who tend to disagree and 1% who
strongly disagree. The ‘net agree’ figure (that is, the difference between the proportion who
agree and those who disagree) is 89%. Of the five ambitions, this has the second highest net
agree figure, behind treat people with empathy, dignity and respect (92% net agree).
Key to delivering this work will be private landlords. It is therefore encouraging that six of
the eight private landlords who completed the questionnaire, agree with the proposal. The
remaining landlords selected neither agree nor disagree. This ambition is also supported by
those who live in the rented private sector property and temporary accommodation (see
Chart 3).
Chart 3

Q5c. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the
proposed ambitions listed below….? Support people to
access the right accommodation. Private renters and those living
in temporary accommodation
90%

Lives in temporary accomodation (10)

10%
89%

Private renter (36)
3%

Agree

Disagree

Base size in parentheses. The data is unweighted

Of those living in temporary accommodation, nine out of 10 (90%) agree, while one out of
10 (10%) disagree. There is a marginal difference in the proportion of private renters who
agree (89% cf 90%) and a variation in the proportion who disagree (3% cf 10%).
A written response submitted in relation to this ambition was provided by the GMB trade
union (sent by email). They highlighted that the supporting people to find the right
accommodation ambition should be considered in conjunction with the draft strategy for
Housing and Growth as the shortage of affordable housing is leaving families in financial
difficulties and facing potential homelessness.
Our work in relation to this ambition could be developed further by the feedback we receive
as part of our Additional and Selective Licensing consultation that is due to end later this
year.

18

Page 145

Ambition 4: Support people to plan for their lifetime housing needs
We will support and empower people to make positive decisions about their lives. This
means supporting residents to take responsibility for their current housing needs, helping
them recognise how their needs may change over their lifetime and supporting them to
plan for those changes.
When asked about the ambition to support people to plan for their lifetime housing needs
(Q5d), more than eight out of 10 (84%) said they agree, with only one out of 20 (5%) stating
that they disagree. Of the 84% who stated they agree the majority said they strongly agree
(63%).
Of the five ambitions presented to respondents, this ambition had the lowest ‘agree’ score.
However, the proportion who disagree with this ambition (5%) is similar to the score
recorded for the other four ambitions. What is noticeable is the comparatively higher
proportion of respondents who selected one of the more ambivalent responses: neither
agree nor disagree (10%). A relatively high number of non-committal responses may, in
part, be due to some respondents not being confident to give a definitive response as they
are not quite sure what the ambition entails.
This ambition is important for everyone, but particularly so for people with additional care
and support need, and those who are vulnerable. We want to help these people to stay
living independently in their own home, wherever possible. While we did not ask if
respondents had such needs, we did ask if they had a disability. This is clearly not the same
but considering the views of disabled residents in this instance could provide a useful proxy.
It does appear that respondents with a disability are more likely to agree with the ambition
to support people for their lifetime housing needs. See Chart 4.
How have we addressed these views in the revised strategy?
The consultation also suggested that the information that the community receives could be
improved. We have strengthened ambition 4 ‘supporting people to plan for their lifetime
needs’ to make further commitments to improving the information that the community
receives to get help early and to understand the available housing options needs to be more
accessible.

19

Page 146

Q5d. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the
proposed ambitions listed below….? Support people to plan
for their lifetime housing needs. Cross-referenced with question
asking respondents if they have a disability

93%

Yes - limited a lot (30)

7%
82%

Yes - limited a little (33)

No (176)

9%

84%
5%
65%

Prefer not to say (17)

12%
Agree

Disagree

Chart 4: Base size in parentheses. The data is unweighted

Almost all (93%) of those respondents who are limited a lot by their disability agree with this
ambition. With those who are limited a little by their disability (82%) and those who are not
disabled (84%) are less likely to agree. The number of respondents with a disability is small
so the data should be treated with caution. However, the findings have indicative value. The
Council may benefit from further secondary or primary research in this area.
Voluntary and Community sector organisations provide support to a substantial number of
residents who have care needs and who are vulnerable. It is therefore encouraging that
almost all of them (10 out of 11) agree with this ambition, while one organisation stated
that they neither agree nor disagree.
Ambition 5: End rough sleeping in Enfield
In the past, the borough has had very low numbers of rough sleepers and funding reflected
this. However, numbers have increased considerably in recent years, giving Enfield the
fourth highest rough sleeper count in London during 2018. This needs to be addressed, by
various services across the Council, as well as by our partners and the community.
Around nine out of 10 (91%) agree with the ambition to end rough sleeping in Enfield (Q5e),
while 3% disagree. Support for this ambition is strong, with 91% stating they agree. This is
made up of 76% who strongly agree and 15% who tend to agree. Of the 3% who disagree,
1% said they tend to disagree and 2% strongly disagree. As with the other ambitions, the
20

Page 147

highest recorded score is for strongly agree. Of the 7% who did not express a definitive
opinion, 5% selected neither agree nor disagree, while 2% said they don’t know.
Looking at the views of representatives from the Voluntary and Community Sector (11),
local authorities (2) and Registered Providers (4), only one respondent from this group, a
representative from a Voluntary and Community Voluntary and Community sector
organisation, stated that they disagree with the ambition to end rough sleeping in Enfield.

3.1.3 Support
The draft strategy for Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping proposes that we
develop services that are delivered within the communities that people live. It is intended
this could involve providing help with housing, and at the same time getting help or advice
for other issues.
All respondents were asked if they agree or disagree with this (Q6). Around nine out of 10
(87%) agree with this proposal, with less than one in 25 (4%) stating that they disagree. See
Chart 5.
Chart 5

Q6. To what extent do you agree with this approach....develop
services that are delivered within the communities that people
live? All respondents

62%
25%

Strongly
agree

Tend to
agree

6%

2%

2%

4%

Neither
agree nor
disagree

Tend to
disagree

Strongly
disagree

Don't know

Base: All 285 respondents to the questionnaire (unweighted)

Of the 87% who agree, 62% strongly agree and 25% tend to agree. The proportion of
respondents who disagree is low (4%). This is made up of 2% who tend to agree and 2% who
strongly disagree. While one in 10 (10%) said they neither agree nor disagree (6%) or don’t
know (4%). The comparatively high proportion of respondents who did not have a definitive
response may reflect the lack of detail provided on how this approach would look like in
reality.

21

Page 148

Individuals (Enfield residents, residents of other boroughs and those who described
themselves as ‘Other’) were asked what they would find helpful to get advice and help with
at the same time as getting support with their housing (Q7). The questionnaire provided a
pre-coded list of options to select from, as well as the choice to select ‘Other’. Around three
out of five stated that it would be helpful to get advice and support in relation to
employment (63%), health and wellbeing advice/support (61%) and benefits (58%). See
Chart 6.

Q7. Which of the following would you find helpful to get
advice and help with at the same time as getting support with
your housing? Individuals
Employment

63%

Health and wellbeing
advice/support

61%

Benefits

58%

Family support

48%

Computer literacy
Other

28%
15%

Chart 6 Base: 256 respondents (Enfield residents, residents of other boroughs and those who describe themselves as
‘Other’) The data is unweighted. The recoded scores exceed 100% as this was a multiple-choice question.

The differences between employment, health and wellbeing advice, and benefits are not
significant.
Although family support (48%) and computer literacy (28%) are fourth and fifth most
popular, substantial numbers of respondents would find advice in relation to these issues to
be helpful.
The 39 who selected ‘Other’ were given the opportunity to provide details of other forms of
advice (Q7a). This was an open-ended question. Thus, the responses were coded following
the end of the fieldwork period.

22

Page 149

See Table 2 for details of the responses.
Table 2

Q7a. If 'Other', please specify. Open-ended
(thus, multiple response)

No of
individuals

No response provided

11

Not applicable / don't know / nothing

9

Debt management

2

G.P.

1

Using the Council website

1

Legal rights as a tenant

1

Addictions

1

Help and advice for anyone who is being exploited /
feeling vulnerable

1

Council Tax

1

Face-to-face help

1

Counselling

1

Affordable housing

1

Dealing with nuisance neighbours

1

Help with getting a job
Removing the dumped furniture, rubbish and weeds
from our pavements

1
1

Base: 39 respondents who selected ‘Other’ to Q6

The responses to Q7a suggest there was no outstanding issue missed off the list that was
presented in Q7. However, this may, in part, be explained by the lack of further information
on how such support and advice will be provided at the local level. Should we look to
provide services in this way, we may benefit from further engagement on this issue prior to
developing proposals. It would be beneficial to involve not just residents but also relevant
partners, such as those from the Voluntary and Community sector.
This question was asked of all individuals who selected ‘Other’ to Q7, regardless of how they
responded to Q6. Thus, the small number of respondents who stated that they disagree
with the idea of providing advice and support at the local level (Q6), were asked what type
of support should be provided. This may explain why some suggested not applicable / don't
know / nothing to Q7a.
How have we addressed these views in the revised strategy?
The results of the consultation confirm our approach in the strategy to broadening the
support that households receive alongside housing support. As a result, we have moved
ambition 2 “making homelessness prevention a priority for everyone” to ambition 1 to
reflect the strong support. We have also made specific commitments to re-designing our
services in order to offer a more joined up approach that works across the council and with
partners and support them to prevent homelessness.

23

Page 150

3.1.4 Comments on the Council’s approach to tackling homelessness
All respondents to the questionnaire were asked for comments on our approach to tackling
homelessness (Q12a). In total, 91 out of 285 shared their views.
General comments were also submitted via Facebook and email. These should be
considered along with the data collected via the questionnaire. Emails have been shared
with the Director of Housing and Regeneration. The details cannot be shared as we do not
have the permission to publish.
The literal responses to Q12a were coded to enable quantitative analysis. Six themes were
referred to by five or more respondents. Table 3 displays the findings for these six themes
(please note: redacted comments have been made available to relevant officers in the
Council for them to consider).
Table 3

Q12. Do you have any other comments regarding
the Council's approach to tackling homelessness?
Q12a. If ‘yes’, please provide details
Improving Social Care Support / Broadening support
services alongside housing
Improving partnership working (Voluntary and
Community sector, private developers, Housing
Associations, other boroughs, local organisations,
schools)

No of
individuals
(%)
11 (12%)

9 (10%)

Build more council housing

7 (8%)

Building resilience (financial, employment)

6 (7%)

Want feedback on the consultation

6 (7%)

Improving private rented sector (regulation / stability /
support for landlords)

5 (6%)

Base: 91 respondents
Percentage scores calculated as a proportion of the 91 respondents who submitted a comment. Rounded
to one decimal point

The issue of support, following on from Q6 to Q8, appears to be an issue a number of
respondents’ want us to consider and address. This is reflected in the most common theme
being improving social care support / broadening support services alongside housing
(10%).
Improving partnership working appears to be a key issue as it was referred to by 10% of
respondents without prompting. The following suggestion was made by a Voluntary and
Community sector organisation:

24

Page 151

“More support for prevention through Voluntary and Community organisations, such as funding and use of
community buildings. Information exchange between community groups, i.e. intelligence on causes of
homelessness in the community to decision-makers & information on services and support from statutory
sector to community leaders and advisors.”

In relation to improving the private rented sector, we are currently carrying out a separate
consultation on this issue, with the proposal to implement additional licensing in the south
and east of the borough and selective licensing across the whole borough.
Theme
Improving Social Care
Support / Broadening
support services alongside
housing

How have we addressed these views in the revised
strategy?
The results of the consultation confirm our approach in
the strategy to broadening the support that households
receive alongside housing support, particularly regarding
building financial resilience and opportunities into
employment.

Building resilience (financial,
employment)

As a result, we have moved ambition 2 “making
homelessness prevention a priority for everyone” to
ambition 1 to reflect the strong support. We have also
made specific commitments to re-designing our services
in order to offer a more joined up approach that works
across the council and with partners and support them to
prevent homelessness.
Improving partnership
This is in line with the strategy aims, and there will be a
working (Voluntary and
renewed focus to put this into action with funding
Community sector, private
secured through the LGA Housing Advisors Programme, to
developers, Housing
co-ordinate our activities and make sure that together we
Associations, other boroughs, are delivering the best outcomes for residents.
local organisations, schools)
In addition, we will be launching a multi-agency
Homelessness Prevention Partnership Board with the
purpose of improving partnership working with a range of
organisations to prevent homelessness in Enfield.
Build more council housing
This aligns with the aims of the Housing and Growth
strategy, scheduled for approval at Full Council in early
2020.
Improving private rented
The revised strategy details more specific commitments
sector (regulation / stability / to improving the private rented sector in ambition 3 to
support for landlords)
‘support people to access the right accommodation’. This
takes a balanced approach by committing to intervening
in the market, where possible, to drive up standards, as
well as broadening the support that we give to landlords
to prevent tenancy breakdowns.

25

Page 152

3.1.5 Working with partners and private landlords
Private landlords were asked if they would be happy to let to homeless households or those
threatened with homelessness (Q8). The responses were as follows:
 Yes (3 respondents)
 No (1)
 Don’t know (4)
Those who said don’t know or no were asked why (Q8a). The following responses were
given to this open-ended question:
“Need more detail”
“Would need to know if our buildings and landlord liability insurers will allow it”

The five private landlords were asked, with reference to a prescribed list, what incentives or
support could the Council provide that would encourage them to let to homeless
households (Q9). The most popular response was guarantees. See Table 4
Table 4

Q.9 Which of the below incentives or support
that the Council could potentially provide
would encourage you to let to homeless
households? Multiple choice

No of
individuals

Guarantees

3

Rent/deposit schemes

1

Meditation

1

Property improvement grants

1

Other

2

Base: 5 private landlords (who responded don’t know or no to Q8

It appears guarantees are most popular, with all other options selected by just one
respondent. It is recommended more research is done to provide useful insight on this
issue.
How have we addressed these views in the revised strategy?
This feedback will be considered as we further develop our approach to better and stronger
engagement with private rented sector landlords. In addition, the strategy now commits to
joining Capital Letters, a pan-London lettings agency for Temporary Accommodation. This
programme seeks to address the issues of local authorities competing with rents and
incentives.
The Duty to Refer is an additional route intended to encourage earlier identification of
need, and to enable public authorities to work better together to meet those needs. If a
26

Page 153

service user needs more support to help them access services, public authorities should
work together to provide this. Those responding on behalf of public sector organisations
were asked if they are aware of the Duty (Q10). In total, three representatives responded to
this question. Each said they had not heard of the duty. This is not conclusive as the base
size is small. It should also be noted the Duty is new. When discussing the strategies with
the Safeguarding Adults Board, they highlighted the importance of this Duty and the need to
communicate it widely.
The Council may benefit from working with statutory sector partners to raise awareness of
the Duty.
Those who are not residents, from either Enfield or further afield, were asked if they know
how to refer to homelessness prevention services (Q11). Two-thirds (66%) of the 32
respondents said they do not how make such referrals. This includes, Voluntary and
Community sector organisations (8), statutory sector organisations (3) and private landlords
(7). Once more, the findings cannot be considered authoritative. However, the data has an
indicative value. Therefore, the Council may want to work with partners to increase
awareness of how referrals can be made to homelessness prevention services.
How have we addressed these views in the revised strategy?
The results of the consultation suggested that many organisations and landlords are unsure
of how to refer into homelessness prevention services. As a result, the strategy has a
renewed focus and commitment to supporting and training organisations, partners and
landlords to understand how they can support homeless households, how they can refer
into services and who to contact.
The consultation also suggested that the information that the community receives could be
improved. We have strengthened ambition 4 ‘supporting people to plan for their lifetime
needs’ to make further commitments to improving the information that the community
receives to get help early and to understand the available housing options needs to be more
accessible.

27

This page is intentionally left blank

Enfield Council Predictive Equality Impact Assessment/Analysis
NB if there is likely to be an impact on different groups of staff as a result of this proposal, please also complete a
restructuring predictive EQIA form
Department:

Chief Executive’s Department

Service:

Policy, Partnership, Engagement and Consultation

Title of
decision:

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping
Strategy

Date
completed:

22.08.19

Author:

Deanna Hobday

Contact
details:

Deanna.hobday@enfield.gov.uk
020 813 21742

1.

Type of change being proposed: (please tick)

2.

Policy change or new
policy

x

Grants and
commissioning

Budget change

Describe the change, why it is needed, what is the objective of the change and what is the possible impact
of the change:
Under the Homelessness Act 2002, all housing authorities must have in place a homelessness strategy that must be renewed every
five years. The last strategy was implemented in 2013. Since 2013, homelessness in Enfield has increased significantly (250% since
2011/12). The Private Rented Sector has grown (which, in many cases, offers sub-standard accommodation) and more people on
lower wages and those who rely on Housing Benefit are living in PRS accommodation, which can affect their ability to be financially
resilient. Changes in legislation, such as the introduction of the Homeless Reduction Act 2017, means that the Council must focus on
early identification and prevention work. The Act also extends duties in providing advice and information and putting in place support
plans. Within this context, we have the opportunity to take a radical step-change in the way we prevent homelessness in Enfield.
The impact of the new strategy will be to prevent more people from becoming homeless and to give advice and information earlier, to
help residents make positive decisions about their housing options. The impact will also be to facilitate more joined up working across
council departments and with partners.

3.

Do you carry out equalities monitoring of your service? If No please state why?
The Housing and Growth strategy is a high-level document that sets out the ambitions and long-term plans of the council to achieve more

Page 155

Service delivery
change/ new
service/cut in
service

and better homes in Enfield. Achieving equity will depend on the implementation of the strategy, where equality assessments will be
carried out for specific projects. This equality impact assessment identifies anticipated positive impacts and also identifies where we do not
have sufficient knowledge or evidence of the impact at this stage. The Housing Needs Assessment, which is currently being undertaken,
will give us a detailed understanding and evidence base of need in the borough and will play an important role in delivering the aims of the
strategy.
In order to develop a strategy which reflects the diverse needs of communities, including people of all protected characteristics, we
undertook an extensive consultation on the draft strategy, and used the results of this to finalise our approach. we consulted with the
following groups:

•

Youth Parliament
Faith Forum
Parent Engagement Panel
Leaseholders' Forum
Customer Voice
Over 50s Forum
Kratos
Ponders End Community Development Trust
Voluntary Sector Strategic Group (which includes Enfield Women’s Centre, Enfield LGBT Network, Enfield Carers Centre, Enfield
Citizens Advice)
Enfield Racial Equality Council

Page 156

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

We received consultation responses from:
Email

242

-

Individuals who do not live in the borough

8

-

Representatives from a wide range of support
organisations

14

2

Other stakeholders

7

8

8

-

6

1*

Enfield residents

Private landlords

Other

It is particularly encouraging that the demographics of the individual respondents to the questionnaire (that is, Enfield residents and those
who do not live in the borough) were not dominated by any specific demographic groups. For example, there were a similar number of
respondents from the south and east of the borough (89) compared to the west and north (106). In this instance, those from the south and
east represent an unusually high proportion of respondents than usual.
The support organisations represented a wide range of people, including:
 Homeless residents or those at risk of homelessness
 Rough sleepers
 Those experiencing debt issues
 Families, children and young people
 People with additional support needs, disabilities, learning difficulties and health conditions or their carers
 Ethnic minority groups

Page 157

Questionnaire





Women
Older people
LGBT+ community

Base: All

Total
285

Are you completing the survey as…? Single choice
An Enfield resident

85%

A representative of a voluntary/community organisation

4%

A public sector organisation representative

1%

A Registered Provider

1%

A non-resident out of Borough

3%

Private landlord

3%

A representative of a housing developer

1%

Other

2%

11

Which stakeholders or residents does your
voluntary/community organisation represent? Multiple choice
Homeless residents or those at risk of homelessness

5

Rough Sleepers

6

Those experiencing debt issues

4

Families, children and young people

4

People with additional support needs, disabilities, learning
difficulties and health conditions or their carers

5

Ethnic minority groups

4

Women

4

Older people

3

LGBT+ community

4

Other

5

Page 158

Base: Q1=2

Base: Q1=(1 , 5 or 8)

256

What is your current housing status?
Private renter

14%

Home owner - Leaseholder

10%

Home owner - Freeholder

38%

Council tenant

18%

Housing association tenant

2%

Temporary accommodation tenant

4%

No fixed address

1%

Living with parents

8%

Other

4%

Base: Q1=(1 , 5 or 8)
In which postal district do you live? (not set-up as a must response

203

question)

18%

EN2

15%

EN3

19%

EN4

2%

EN6

0

EN8

0

N9

8%

N11

1%

N13

4%

N14

4%

N18

12%

N21

9%

N22

>0.5%

Other
South and east

5%
106 (52%)

West

89 (44%)

Page 159

EN1

Base: Q1=(1 , 5 or 8)

256

How old are you (years)?
2%

20 -24

4%

25 - 29

4%

30 - 34

7%

35 - 39

6%

40 - 44

11%

45 - 49

9%

50 - 54

7%

55 - 59

14%

60 - 64

9%

65 - 69

11%

70 - 74

7%

75 - 79

3%

80 - 84

0

85 or older

1%

Prefer not to say

5%

Base: Q1=(1 , 5 or 8)
How would you describe your sex or gender?

256

Male

33%

Female

60%

Transgender

1%

Prefer not to say

6%

Prefer to self-describe

0

Base: Q1=(1 , 5 or 8)

256

What is your ethnicity?
WHITE - English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British

50%

WHITE - Irish

4%

OTHER WHITE - Greek

0

Page 160

19 or under

OTHER WHITE - Greek Cypriot

3%

OTHER WHITE - Turkish

1%

OTHER WHITE - Turkish Cypriot

1%

OTHER WHITE - Italian

0

OTHER WHITE - Polish

1%

OTHER WHITE - Russian

0

OTHER WHITE - Other Eastern European

2%

OTHER WHITE - Kurdish

1%

OTHER WHITE - Gypsy/Irish Traveller

0

OTHER WHITE - Romany

0

MIXED - White and Black Caribbean
MIXED - White and Black African

>0.5%
1%

MIXED - White and Asian

>0.5%

MIXED - Mixed European

1%

MIXED - Multi ethnic islander

ASIAN OR ASIAN BRITISH - Pakistani
ASIAN OR ASIAN BRITISH - Bangladeshi
ASIAN OR ASIAN BRITISH - Sri Lankan

2%
>0.5%
2%
0

ASIAN OR ASIAN BRITISH - Chinese

1%

BLACK/AFRICAN/CARIBBEAN/BLACK BRITISH - Caribbean

6%

BLACK/AFRICAN/CARIBBEAN/BLACK BRITISH - Ghanaian

2%

BLACK/AFRICAN/CARIBBEAN/BLACK BRITISH - Somali

1%

BLACK/AFRICAN/CARIBBEAN/BLACK BRITISH - Nigerian

1%

BLACK/AFRICAN/CARIBBEAN/BLACK BRITISH - Other African

1%

OTHER ETHNIC GROUPS - Arab

0

Prefer not to say

11%

Other

7%

Page 161

ASIAN OR ASIAN BRITISH - Indian

0

13%

No

69%

Prefer not to say

7%

Sex

Age

Race

1. Does equalities monitoring of your service show people
from the following groups benefit from your service?
(recipients of the service, policy or budget, and the
proposed change)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Not
know
n

Not
known

Not
know
n

Not
known

Not
known

2. Does the service or policy contribute to eliminating
discrimination, promote equality of opportunity, and foster
good relations between different groups in the community?

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Not
know
n

Not
known

Not
know
n

Not
known

Yes

3. Could the proposal discriminate, directly or indirectly these
groups?

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

4. Could this proposal affect access to your service by different Yes
groups in the community?

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

5. Could this proposal affect access to information about your
service by different groups in the community?

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes1

6. Could the proposal have an adverse impact on relations

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Indicate Yes, No or Not Known for each group

Page 162

Disability

4. Equalities Impact

Marriage &
Civil
Partnerships

Yes - limited a little

Pregnancy &
Maternity

12%

Gender
reassignment

Yes - limited a lot

Sexual
Orientation

256

Religion &
Belief

Base: Q1=(1 , 5 or 8)
Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a health
problem or disability which has lasted, or is expected to last,
at least 12 months?

between different groups?
Potential Impact on Groups
Disability
People with disabilities are at greater risk of poor housing conditions and have specific challenges when seeking safe, secure housing
where they can protect and improve their health and wellbeing.2 Research from the Social Market Foundation has suggested that by 2038,
188,000 private rented homes could be unfit and unsuitable for people older people or people with disabilities.3 We also know that rough
sleepers are more likely to develop a physical or mental condition.4
The Housing Options and Advice service are dealing with more cases where people have multiple and complex needs. As part of the
Homeless Reduction Act, we are required to put in place a Housing and Support Plan which considers the support that a household may
need in addition to their housing need. We have committed to improving the service that people with additional care and support needs
receive, as well as improving the information they receive so that they are aware of their housing options and can take appropriate
responsibility for their housing needs.
The strategy includes the following commitments:
Equip the Housing Options and Advice workforce to meet the needs of vulnerable people with multiple complex needs, through the
development of a customer charter.



Increase local access to high quality, flexible and affordable housing options for people with assessed care and support needs –
including increasing the number of disabled facilities grants.



Support people earlier to plan ahead and make positive housing choices, clearly communicating the different housing options for
people in different stages of their lives and at key transition points.



Strengthening links between homeless services and support services to provide a rapid response for rough sleepers.

Gender
Over 51% of Enfield’s overall population is female. However, there are more males than females in Enfield in all ages up to 25 years.
Single parent households make up a third of Enfield’s Housing Register; we know that 94% of single parents on our Housing Register are

2

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/our-work/news/disabled-people-housing-crisis
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/hundreds-of-thousands-to-face-homelessness-in-retirement-without-social-housing-boost-62324
4
https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/types-of-homelessness/its-no-life-at-all-2016/
3

Page 163



mothers. Welfare reforms, such as the Benefit Cap, disproportionately affect lone parents, who are the group least able to work or increase
their hours.5 This group has low financial resilience and are therefore at particular risk of homelessness. Our strategy aims to increase the
financial resilience, as well as wider resilience, to prevent people from reaching a housing crisis in which they could become homeless.
The strategy also focuses on intervening in the Private Rented Sector to work with landlords to improve conditions as well as increasing
the supply and access to affordable private rented accommodation. We anticipate this will have a particularly positive affect on single
mothers and their families.
Age
Children and Young People: Enfield has a growing younger population. There are proportionately more children and young people under
20 in Enfield than in London and England. National evidence suggests that children who are homeless or living in unsuitable
accommodation have worse outcomes; this includes poorer educational attainment, higher absence from school and a higher likelihood of
suffering from a mental heath condition.6 77% of our households in Temporary Accommodation have children and the majority of people
on our Housing Register have at least one dependent.
The strategy aims to take a whole-family approach to preventing homelessness, by considering the needs of the whole family, and also by
delivering on the following priorities:
Encourage private landlords to offer greater security, certainty and stability for their tenants, especially families with children and
vulnerable households and those with disabilities and additional support needs.



Increase the range of advice and support given to all households approaching housing options and advice services, taking a
targeted and person-centred approach by considering and responding to the needs of everyone in the household.



Improve the support and advice we give to homeless households living in temporary accommodation in order to empower them to
make positive choices about their future housing options and facilitate their transition to more permanent accommodation.

Older people: People aged 65 and over make up 13% of Enfield’s population. By 2025, this is forecasted to increase by 23%, from 43,900
to 52,600. Over 50% of Enfield’s 65 and over population has a disability. Research by the Social Market Foundation suggests that by
2038, 630,000 older people could be at risk of becoming homeless, due to insecurity and rising rents in the Private Rented Sector. The
research also suggests that by 2038, 188,000 private rented homes could be unfit for older, disabled people.7
The strategy focuses on intervening in the Private Rented Sector to work with landlords to improve conditions as well as increasing the
supply and access to affordable private rented accommodation. We expect this to have a positive impact on any older residents who are
privately renting.
The strategy also intends to deliver on the following priorities:

5

https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/240419/the_homelessness_monitor_england_2019.pdf
https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/39202/Chance_of_a_Lifetime.pdf
7
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/hundreds-of-thousands-to-face-homelessness-in-retirement-without-social-housing-boost-62324
6

Page 164





Increase local access to high quality, flexible and affordable housing options for people with assessed care and support needs –
including increasing access to disabled facility grants.



Encourage private landlords to offer greater security, certainty and stability for their tenants, especially families with children and
vulnerable households and those with disabilities and additional support needs.

Race
As data shows, black households are overrepresented in Temporary Accommodation and our Housing Needs Register. This strategy aims
to reduce the number of households in Temporary Accommodation, reduce the time spent in TA and prevent people from going into TA in
the first place, whilst also securing the best quality and value TA in the borough. The aim of the strategy is to improve outcomes for those
living in Temporary Accommodation, of which black households make up a significant proportion.
Specific priorities in the strategy include:


Improve the support and advice we give to homeless households living in temporary accommodation in order to empower them to
make positive choices about their future housing options and facilitate their transition to more permanent accommodation.



Increase the availability of quality best value temporary accommodation available in Enfield.

Religion and belief

The aim of the strategy is to have a cultural shift for the organisation, which means that housing is not dealt in isolation. The aim is to link
people up with other support services and organisations which can support the resident to address the underlying causes of
homelessness. We anticipate that this will have a positive impact people of specific religions or beliefs.
Sexual Orientation
Good data on sexual orientation is difficult to find at both local and national levels. The ONS 2017 Annual Population Survey estimated
that 93.2% of the UK population identified as heterosexual or straight and 2.0% of the population identified as lesbian, gay or bisexual.
Research from the Albert Kennedy Trust suggests that young LGB people are overrepresented in youth homeless statistics.8
Victims of hate-crimes, such as people experiencing abuse due to their sexual orientation, are particularly at risk of homelessness. This
strategy aims to make it safe for those experiencing abuse to stay in their homes but where that is not possible, it commits to ensuring that
victims of abuse have a safe place to stay. The strategy also seeks to improve the offer that is provided to single homeless people, which
8

https://www.akt.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=c0f29272-512a-45e8-9f9b-0b76e477baf1

Page 165

As shown by the 2017 compiled by the ONS, Enfield has high proportions in all the main non-Christian religions except Sikh, compared to
national averages. Compared to the London average, Enfield has both a large Muslim population (15.2%) and a slightly larger Christian
population (51.3%), compared to the London average of (14.3%) and (46.4%) respectively. Victims of hate-crimes, such as people
experiencing abuse due to their religion, are particularly at risk of homelessness. This strategy aims to make it safe for those experiencing
abuse to stay in their homes but where that is not possible, it commits to ensuring that victims of abuse have a safe place to stay.

we anticipate would have a positive impact on homeless LGB people.
The aim of the strategy is to have a cultural shift for the organisation, which means that housing is not dealt in isolation. The aim is to link
people up with other support services and organisations which can support the resident to address the underlying causes of
homelessness. We anticipate that this will have a positive impact on LGB people.
Gender Reassignment
GIRES estimates that in the UK around 650,000 people, 1% of the population, are estimated to experience some degree of gender nonconformity. If these numbers are correct, and if Enfield’s population of 333,869 were exactly typical of that population, this will equate to
3,339 individuals with some degree of gender non-conformity. People in the process of gender reassignment can face discrimination in
local communities. Research from the Albert Kennedy Trust suggests that young transgender people are overrepresented in youth
homeless statistics.9
Victims of hate-crimes, such as people experiencing abuse due to their gender reassignment, are particularly at risk of homelessness. This
strategy aims to make it safe for those experiencing abuse to stay in their homes but where that is not possible, it commits to ensuring that
victims of abuse have a safe place to stay. The strategy also seeks to improve the offer that is provided to single homeless people, which
we anticipate would have a positive impact on homeless transgender people.

Pregnancy and maternity
Single parent households make up a third of Enfield’s Housing Register; we know that 94% of single parents on our Housing Register are
mothers. We have a legal duty to provide accommodation for eligible pregnant people and families with children.
This strategy seeks to prevent people getting to a crisis point in which they require temporary accommodation. We want to intervene much
earlier and this strategy intends to prevent and reduce homelessness by improving conditions in the private rented sector; eviction from the
private rented sector is the biggest cause of homelessness in Enfield. We want to encourage private landlords to offer greater security,
certainty and stability for their tenants, especially families with children. We anticipate that this approach will have a positive impact on
mothers and mothers to be. Ambition 3 of the strategy “supporting residents to plan for their lifetime housing needs” will particularly benefit
mothers and mothers to be, by giving them the tools they need to be informed and take responsibility for their housing options, recognising
how these options might change if they have a child or have more children.
Marriage and civil partnership
Our approach to preventing homelessness will benefit all communities in Enfield, irrespective of their relationship status. Same-sex
couples may be discriminated against in the private rented sector and in some local communities. Our focus on driving up standards in the
private rented sector and working with landlords to promote good landlordism could positively impact people who are discriminated on the
9

https://www.akt.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=c0f29272-512a-45e8-9f9b-0b76e477baf1

Page 166

The aim of the strategy is to have a cultural shift for the organisation, which means that housing is not dealt in isolation. The aim is to link
people up with other support services and organisations which can support the resident to address the underlying causes of
homelessness. We anticipate that this will have a positive impact on transgender people.

Any other socioeconomic factor
Please state;

People in poor health

People on low
incomes

Lone parents

People living in
social housing

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Homeless
households
and rough
sleepers

Does the service or policy contribute to eliminating discrimination, Yes
promote equality of opportunity, and foster good relations
between different groups in the community?

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Homeless
households
and rough
sleepers

Could this proposal affect access to your service by different
groups in the community?

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Homeless
households
and rough
sleepers

Yes

If Yes answered above – please describe the impact (including any positive impact on social economic inequality) and any mitigation if
applicable.

Page 167

Will the proposal specifically impact on communities
disadvantaged through the following socio-economic factors?

People with low
academic
qualifications

Indicate Yes, No or Not Known for each group

People not in
employment,
education or training

5. Tackling Socio-economic inequality

Communities living
in deprived
wards/areas

basis of their relationship status. Furthermore, the strategy takes a whole-family approach, in which the needs of all members of a
household are considered.

Enfield is a low-income borough with a high proportion of Housing Benefit claimants. Enfield’s median household income is £34,000 which is
the 11th lowest in London and 16.7% of households in Enfield have an annual gross income under £15,000 – this percentage is higher than
London and outer London average. As of August 2018, there were 33,060 resident households in the borough receiving Housing Benefit –
over half of whom are living in the Private Rented Sector. Enfield has the 5th highest proportion of child living in low-income families in
London. Low financial resilience makes residents turn to the Council and access to benefits, and effectively dealing with debt and rent
arrears can play a critical role in whether someone becomes homeless or not.
The aim of the strategy is to take a whole-systems and holistic approach to tackling homelessness. It recognises that socio-economic factors
such as deprivation, training and education, worklessness and poor health all contribute to homelessness and must be addressed together
to truly prevent homelessness.
Priorities and commitments in the strategy include:
Create a network of services and support for people within their communities, taking a whole-person approach to preventing
homelessness by tackling worklessness, debt and poor health outcomes, maximising income and building literacy and ICT skills



Build on existing partnership work with Enfield Citizens Advice and the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) to support people
early with financial issues, by strengthening our early prevention and help offer for residents.



Use data smartly to understand the needs of our residents, identify who could be at risk of homelessness and take proactive action to
prevent this at the earliest stage possible.



Make housing advice more easily accessible and readily available to all residents, including improving our online offer and ensuring it
is understandable to people whose first language is not English and for those with learning difficulties.



Strengthen partnership working between council housing and homeless prevention services as well as housing associations. This
focus on tenancy sustainment will positively impact residents in social housing. This is in addition to providing tenancy sustainment
support and intervention for all types of rented accommodation, including social housing.

6. Review
How and when will you monitor and review the effects of this proposal?
The strategy and action plan will be reviewed quarterly with an annual equalities monitoring report.

Page 168



Page 169

Enfield Council Predictive Equality Impact Assessment/Analysis
NB if there is likely to be an impact on different groups of staff as a result of this proposal, please also complete a restructuring
predictive EQIA form

Action plan template for proposed changes to service, policy or budget
Title of decision:………………………………………………………………………………… …………………………………………………..
Team:……………… ……………………………………………………………….

Department:……… …………………………………..

Service manager:…… …………………………………………….
Identified Issue

Action Required

Lead Officer

Timescale/
By When

Costs

Review Date/
Comments
Page 170

Please insert additional rows if needed

Date to be Reviewed: …………………………………………

APPROVAL BY THE RELEVANT ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - NAME……………………………… SIGNATURE………………………….

This form should be emailed to joanne.stacey@enfield.gov.uk and be appended to any decision report that follows.

Page 171

Agenda Item 7

THE CABINET
Draft list of Items for future Cabinet Meetings
(NOTE: The items listed below are subject to change.)
MUNICIPAL YEAR 2019/2020
22 JANUARY 2020
1.

Housing and Growth Strategy

Sarah Cary

This strategy will set out how the council will deliver an ambitious new
approach to housing and good growth in Enfield. (Key decision – reference
number 4841)
2.

Temporary Accommodation Placement Policy

Sarah Cary

This policy will explain how the Council will assist homeless households in
finding accommodation. (Key decision – reference number 4676)
3.

Proposal for Private Rented Property Licensing Schemes

Sarah Cary

This will consider proposals to introduce additional and selective licensing
schemes for private rented properties. (Key decision – reference number
4999)
4.

Acquisition of PRS Site, Meridian Water

Sarah Cary

This will seek Cabinet approval for the purchase of the PRS Site at Meridian
Water.
(Key Decision Reference Number KD: 4945)
5.

Meridian Water Infrastructure Compulsory
Purchase Order (CPO)

Sarah Cary

This will seek agreement to a compulsory purchase order to enable strategic
infrastructure for Meridian Water. (Key decision – reference number 4832)
6.

Future Operating Model IWE Ltd.

Tony Theodoulou

This will seek approval to the future operating model of IWE Ltd.
decision – reference number 5035)
7.

Quarterly Corporate Performance Report

Fay Hammond

This will present the quarterly corporate performance report. (Non-key)

Effective date 25.11.2019

(Key

Page 172

8.

2020/21 Council Tax and Business Rate Tax Bases

Fay Hammond

This will seek agreement to the 2020/21 Council Tax and Business Rate Tax
Bases for recommendation to Council. (Key decision – reference number
5031)
JANUARY 2020
1.

Meridian Water – Meridian Two Developer

Sarah Cary

This will seek approval to the procurement to appoint the Meridian Two
Developer. (Key decision – reference number 4952)
2.

2020/21 Corporate Capital Condition Programme

Sarah Cary

This will set out the capital programme of major repairs to corporate buildings
determined from prioritised condition survey data. (Key decision – reference
number 5004)
3.

Corporate Property Investment Programme (CPIP)

Sarah Cary

This will seek approval to a block programme of capital investment into the
Council’s Corporate Property assets to support the delivery of the Strategic
Asset Management Plan (SAMP). (Key decision – reference number 5006)
4.

Compulsory Purchase Order for the Redevelopment of
The Montagu Industrial Estate

Sarah Cary

This will seek approval of the Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) and
amended capital budget to cover the estimated CPO cost, demolition,
remediation and on-going vacant property management as part of the
Montagu Industrial Estate Redevelopment. (Key decision – reference
number 4873)
5.

Business Case for Capital Funding for Highways, Street
Scene and Parks Infrastructure 2020/21

Sarah Cary

This will set out a business case for capital funding for additional
programmes for flood management, bridge schemes and parks infrastructure
in addition to the previously agreed business case for Highways and Street
Scene for 2020/21. (Key decision – reference number 5044)
6.

Housing Revenue Account 30-Year Business Plan Update

Sarah Cary

This will update Cabinet on the HRA 30-year business plan, capital
programme and rents. (Key decision – reference number 4969)

Effective date 25.11.2019

Page 173

7.

Housing Development Delivery Strategy

Sarah Cary

This will set out the Council’s Housing Development Strategy and seeks
delegated authority from Cabinet to deliver the strategy. (Key decision –
reference number 4998)
8.

Capital Budget Monitor (Month 8) 2019/20

Fay Hammond

This will update Cabinet on the Council’s capital budget up to month 8.
9.

Draft 10 Year Capital Strategy and Capital Programme
2020/21 to 2029/30

Fay Hammond

This will update Cabinet on the Council’s 10-year capital strategy and capital
programme. (Key decision – reference number 5026)
10.

Local Authority Trading Companies – Annual Accounts
Jeremy Chambers
This will report the contents of the annual audited accounts of the Council’s
wholly owned trading companies. (Key decision – reference number 5013)

11.

Partially Owned Companies Update

Jeremy Chambers

This will provide an update on the partially owned companies. (Key decision
– reference number:5052)
12 FEBRUARY 2020
1.

10 Year Treasury Management Strategy
2020/21

Fay Hammond

This will update Cabinet on the Council’s 10-year treasury management
strategy. (Key decision – reference number 5027)
2.

Broomfield House

Sarah Cary

This will refer to the Broomfield Conservation Management Plan and Options
Appraisal and, set out options for the next steps. (Key decision – reference
number 4419)
3.

Quarterly Revenue Monitoring (including HRA)
2019/2020 Quarter 3

Fay Hammond

This will present the quarterly revenue monitoring 2019/20 quarter 3. (Key
decision – reference number tbc)

Effective date 25.11.2019

Page 174

4.

Quarterly Capital Monitoring
2019/2020 Quarter 3

Fay Hammond

This will present the quarterly capital monitoring 2019/20 quarter 3. (Key
decision – reference number tbc)
5.

Budget Report 2020/21 and Medium Term Financial
Plan 2020/21 to 2029/30

Fay Hammond

This will present the budget report 2020/21 and the medium term financial
plan 2020/21 to 2029/30. (Key decision – reference number tbc)
6.

Ten Year Capital Strategy and Capital Programme 2020/21 to 2029/30
Fay Hammond
This will present the capital strategy and capital programme 2020/21 to
2029/30. (Key decision – reference number tbc)

7.

HRA Business Plan Budget 2020/21 and Rent Setting
and Service Charges Report 2020/21

Fay Hammond

This will present the HRA Business Plan and Rent Setting Report 2020/21.
(Key decision – reference number 5008)
8.

Housing Allocations Scheme

Sarah Cary

The allocations scheme will set out who can apply for affordable and social
rented housing in Enfield, how applications are assessed and how the
Council sets the priorities for who is housed. It also sets out other housing
options, including private rented sector, intermediate rent and shared
ownership. (Key decision – reference number 4682)
9.

Beck House Site Redevelopment, Upton Road,
Edmonton, N18 2LJ

Sarah Cary

This will seek approval of the investment decision, acquisition of land
interests, consultation and development to enable the delivery of new Council
homes. (Key decision – reference number 4970)
10.

Meridian Water Employment Strategy

Sarah Cary

This will seek approval to the employment strategy for Meridian Water. (Key
decision – reference number 4881)
11.

Getting to School Policy

Tony Theodoulou

This policy will set out how the Council will identify and support those children
and young people who need travel assistance to their school or setting and
provide it in a consistent, transparent and fair way. (Key decision –
reference number 4851)

Effective date 25.11.2019

Page 175

MARCH 2020
1.

Company Business Plans

Fay Hammond

(Key decision – reference number tbc)
2.

Future Company Decisions

Fay Hammond

(Key decision – reference number tbc)

APRIL 2020
1.

Quarterly Corporate Performance Report

Fay Hammond

This will present the quarterly corporate performance report. (Non key)
2.

Company – Regulatory Compliance

Fay Hammond

(Key decision – reference number tbc)
3.

Re-appointment of Company Directors
(Key decision – reference number tbc)

Effective date 25.11.2019

Fay Hammond

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 177

Agenda Item 8

CABINET - 6.11.2019

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET
HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 6 NOVEMBER 2019
COUNCILLORS
PRESENT

Nesil Caliskan (Leader of the Council), Ian Barnes (Deputy
Leader), Alev Cazimoglu (Cabinet Member for Health and
Social Care), Guney Dogan (Cabinet Member for Environment
and Sustainability), Nneka Keazor (Cabinet Member for
Community Safety and Cohesion), Mary Maguire (Cabinet
Member for Finance and Procurement), Gina Needs (Cabinet
Member for Social Housing) and George Savva MBE (Cabinet
Member for Licensing and Regulatory Services)
Associate Cabinet Members (Non-Executive and NonVoting): Mustafa Cetinkaya (Enfield South East), Ahmet
Hasan (Enfield North)

ABSENT

Rick Jewell (Cabinet Member for Children's Services) and
Mahtab Uddin (Cabinet Member for Public Health), Claire
Stewart (Associate Cabinet Member - Enfield West)

OFFICERS:

Sarah Cary (Executive Director Place), Ian Davis (Chief
Executive), Joanne Drew (Director of Housing and
Regeneration), Fay Hammond (Acting Executive Director
Resources), Tony Theodoulou (Acting Executive Director
People) and Andrew Golder (Press and New Media Manager),
Penelope Williams (Secretary)

Also Attending:

Councillor Hass Yusuf and 5 other officers

1
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Jewell, Stewart and
Uddin.
2
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.
3
DEPUTATIONS
There were no deputations.

-1-

Page 178
CABINET - 6.11.2019

4
JOYCE AVENUE AND SNELLS PARK ESTATE REDEVELOPMENT
Councillor Nesil Caliskan (Leader of the Council) introduced the report of the
Director of Place, Sarah Cary (No: 134) - Joyce Avenue and Snells Park
Estate Redevelopment.
NOTED
1.

2.
3.

4.
5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

12.
13.

The report was the culmination of several years preparatory work on a
project which was now ready to begin. It was crucial to avoid delay at
this point, which was the reason for presenting the report that evening.
In 2017, Cabinet had given approval to start feasibility work to find out
how best renew the two estates, with full details in the report.
The Council was committed to provide a home to all existing residents,
including those in private leased accommodation. A significant number
of people living on the estate were in the private sector
Regeneration would provide a benefit to the whole local community.
The model, specific to Enfield, would include Council homes for social
rent as well as some build to rent properties. The Council would
remain the landlord.
Homes would also be provided for key workers, including those
working at the nearby North Middlesex Hospital. The hospital Chief
Executive had written a letter of support.
The proposals would seek to address concerns of local residents, who
had in the past felt abandoned, including crime, prostitution and
antisocial behaviour.
In the short term, funding would be unlocked for a hub based in the
Boundary Hall on the Snells Park Estate. A team of staff would be
based there to carryout community engagement and deal with
residents’ issues. Work would also be put in hand to improve the
physical environment, knocking down derelict garages and bin stores
which could be magnets for crime. It was planned that the Boundary
Hall could be refurbished by the end of the year.
As well as replacing existing Council homes there will be additional
affordable homes for people in temporary accommodation. Those with
a legal right to a Council home would be prioritised. However, there
would also be good quality homes for private rent for those who were
not eligible for social housing.
The existing open space was not well used and better, more attractive
green spaces and play areas would be created. Initial consultation with
residents had found that safe places for children’s play was a key
requirement
The Florence Hayes Park could be used to enable the first stage of the
development, so that people will only need to be decanted once, but
this would be subject to consultation with local residents.
There will be other regeneration opportunities in the area including the
proposals for the Fore Street.
Members praised the innovative approach.

-2-

Page 179
CABINET - 6.11.2019

14.
15.
16.

17.

18.

19.

20.
21.

22.
23.

24.

Work would be done to bring the two communities on each of the
estates together into one community.
The aim was to involve all residents in the re-development and design
of the new buildings.
Flexibility had been built into the scheme as the whole project would
take 10-15 years and during this time things were likely to change. It
would be a phase by phase approach which would also reduce risk.
It was suggested that Tottenham Hotspur Football Club should be
invited to support the scheme. In early meetings residents had
expressed concern that the flats would be let on an Airbnb basis to
people going to matches.
On timing the ballot would take place when the residents were happy
with the proposals, hopefully in the middle of next year. There will be
lots of engagement work with residents and councillors will be needed
to support engagement activities. Planning permission would be
applied for in 2021 with a view to work on site starting in August to
December 2021.
Early meetings with residents had been lively and encouraging.
Residents were excited about the proposals and had lots of ideas
about what they wanted.
Good housing was an important determinant for good health.
The Finances had been carefully thought out. Different types of homes
will be owned and funded by the Housing Revenue Account and the
General Fund separately. The finances need to consider the impact on
both accounts.
In total over 3,000 homes were planned, but further design work was
needed to confirm this.
Cabinet members agreed that there needed to be regular
communication with residents on the two estates and surrounding
areas, including a mailing in the two weeks following the public event
held on the 26 October 2019, to provide an update on progress since
that meeting.
The report was recommended to Council for financial approval.

Alternative Options Considered:
1.

Initial Capacity Study

1.1

Initial feasibilities were carried out by Karakusevic Carson Architects
which demonstrated that significant additional supply could be created
across the estate either through the construction of infill buildings or by
demolishing some, or all, of the existing blocks and replacing them with
a new master-planned estate.

1.2

Following the initial feasibility, HTA were instructed to carry out a more
detailed capacity study from which four options were considered,
namely:
 Option 1 Infill development and refurbishment of the existing
buildings

-3-

Page 180
CABINET - 6.11.2019

 Option 2 Partial redevelopment and refurbishment of remaining
buildings
 Option 3 Full redevelopment consisting of demolition and
replacement of the
existing buildings
 Option 4 Do nothing – existing maintenance and major works
schedules continue
1.3

A report detailing a comprehensive resident engagement process at
Joyce and Snells estates to consider all possible regeneration options
and implications for stakeholders was approved by Cabinet in March
2017 and a working budget of £500k was established.

1.4

The engagement and consultation that took place indicated a majority
in favour of full redevelopment, giving the opportunity to carefully
redesign the estate and create a more cohesive neighbourhood.

1.5

The refurbishment elements on options 1 & 2 would have considerable
major works cost implications for the Council and particularly
leaseholders. A comprehensive refurbishment would also require
leaseholders to decant from their property while the work took place,
further adding to costs.

1.6

The ‘do nothing’ option assumes the Council’s planned maintenance
and cyclical programmes would continue. This would again mean that
significant refurbishment costs to the Council and leaseholders would
be incurred in due course.

1.7

In addition, feasibility assessments carried out by JLL highlighted that
the infill and partial redevelopment options are not viable and did not
meet the objectives of the residents or the Council. In line with the
preferences stated, residents were written to last year confirming that
the ballot decision will be between the full regeneration option or do
nothing.

2.

Outline Development Proposal

2.1

The initial mix developed by HTA Architects was based around the
prevailing GLA requirements of a 40% affordable housing target that
was current at the time. It was also assumed that the scheme would be
taken forward via a development agreement with a delivery partner,
cross-subsidised from private sales. There were at the time however
severe restrictions on the amount of HRA borrowing available under the
borrowing cap and work undertaken by JLL indicated that the Council
would have to invest around £220m less any grant that was available in
addition to the land, which would have represented over 100% of the
available borrowing capacity.

2.2

There were additional considerations for the Council in relation to future
development and maximising the opportunities available through
regeneration. These included:

-4-

Page 181
CABINET - 6.11.2019

 Maximising the quantum of affordable housing through
regeneration
 Reduce or eliminate the loss of newly created stock through
RTB
 Retain long-term ownership and control over land assets
 Planning and delivery strategies that prioritise affordable
housing
 High quality place making and public realm
 Reduced reliance on market sale as the principal source of
cross-subsidy
 The Council retaining more control over development throughout
the life of the regeneration
 Using regeneration to drive improvements to the high street
3

Delivery Options
The chosen approach to any particular scheme should be analysed on
a case by case basis and will differ depending on how land and
buildings are procured and developed. For example, where land has
been purchased, it is important that the cost of this is mitigated quickly
through the sale of homes or development plots to minimise holding
costs. Where the Council already owns the land at no cost such as an
existing estate, different approaches to development and finance can
be taken.

4.

Development Agreement with Contractor Partner
A development partner takes forward the funding and development of
the project through a Development Agreement, with an agreed level of
affordable housing returned to the Council. The provision of affordable
housing is usually cross-subsidised by the sale of private housing.
The developer takes finance, planning and development risk and the
Council does not need its own delivery capacity. The Council’s
contribution would usually be land and cash in return for an agreed
proportion of affordable homes. This model uses the surpluses from
private sale housing to repay any land costs and cross-subsidise the
affordable homes. It may also yield overage payments where forecast
sales income is surpassed or where planning permission is achieved
for additional units.
This model does require the transfer of land for private sale housing
and the developer controls the pace of development in response to the
rate of sales that can be achieved in the area. There may be a
requirement to undertake private sales ahead of delivering the
affordable homes to generate surpluses. The developer partner will
also factor in the transfer of risk within their overall pricing for the
project.
At Joyce and Snells the Council already owns the land and buildings
and therefore does not have land acquisition costs and other holding
costs to mitigate. For this reason, there is no immediate requirement for

-5-

Page 182
CABINET - 6.11.2019

sales income to offset holding costs. The existing properties provide a
revenue stream to the Council while other parts of the estate are
developed.
Since it is proposed that the Council will undertake the planning and
delivery of the scheme, owns the land and intends to source
development finance itself, there is no specific requirement to enter into
a Development Agreement. For these reasons, this option is not being
progressed.
1.5

Development Agreement with RP Partner
Similar in principle to the Contractor Partner above, an RP would
manage and finance the project and return an agreed number of
nominations back to the Council. The RP would procure the
construction work, and the model again assumes the affordable
housing is cross-subsidised by the sale of private housing.
As set out above, this model has the same characteristics as a
contractor development agreement and the same rationale therefore
applies for not proceeding with this model.

1.6

Council-led Development Funded via Additional HRA Borrowing
(Self-Delivery)
This model assumes that the Council leads and partially self-finances
the project. This approach is now more feasible due to the HRA
borrowing cap being lifted and would allow the Council to keep full
control of the regeneration. There would still have to be a private sector
element to the scheme to provide cross-subsidy, but overall costs
would be lower due to cheaper capital available through the PWLB.
This approach allows the council to retain full control of the planning
and delivery of the project, minimise or eliminate loss of land assets
and maximise number of affordable homes provided.
The Council also needs to consider that this approach also ties up
financial resources for long periods, could require strategic plot sales to
generate additional capital and involves the Council taking on planning
and development risk. Self-delivery also requires that the Council
resources in-house delivery capability; may require strategic plot sales
to generate additional capital.
This remains an alternative option, however it would mean tying-up a
significant proportion of the forecast headroom in the HRA to deliver
the project. Since pension equity is available at similar rates to the
PWLB, this approach would not necessarily deliver extra affordable
units. At this stage, it has been judged that the HRA headroom could
be used more effectively and efficiently across several projects so that
other regeneration and stock improvement schemes can be brought
forward. For these reasons, it has been decided not to proceed with

-6-

Page 183
CABINET - 6.11.2019

this option for the time being, however the Council may be able to selffund later phases of development if deemed advantageous.
It is worth noting at this stage, a wholly affordable rented scheme is not
viable since the grant levels and amount of rent available to be
capitalised would not be enough to cover all costs. This could change
in future if for example additional grant becomes available. The
Regeneration Team will look to take any future opportunities that allow
the proportion of affordable rented properties to be increased.
1.7

Council-led Development with a Strategic Co-investment Partner/s
(Self-delivery with pension equity Investor)
This model of self-delivery assumes that the Council leads and selffinances the project but with a proportion of the finance being provided
by a Pension Equity Investor. The Investor/s would provide finance on
a phase by phase basis in exchange for a portion of the rent over a
specified investment period. Pension equity would be available at
similar rates to the PWLB and is a cost-effective way of securing longterm development capital and ensuring that the maximum number of
affordable properties are delivered.
One of the major benefits of this approach is that the Council pays back
the equity borrowed at an index-linked rate for a fixed period, at the end
of which the property reverts to the Council debt free. This protects
borough assets in the long term and allows the Council to grow its
stock base without losing land to private sales.
The same positive benefits arise as outlined elsewhere and this
approach brings in patient capital at low rates of borrowing. The
Council retains control over planning and delivery and there is a good
alignment of objectives between the investor and Council. It could also
be considered a good cultural fit, with UK pension investors looking for
high quality ethical investments aligned with their own corporate social
responsibility.
The phase by phase approach retains flexibility for the Council to vary
the funding applied to each phase. The Council could for example
choose to fund a particular phase wholly itself, or to increase the
proportion of pension investment on another phase as and when it suits
the Council’s finances best, but retaining this flexibility is key.
The implications to the Council are that it takes on development risk
and requires delivery capability. This is a joint funding approach so will
still require considerable investment by Council. The investor/s may
require security over property during the investment period and there is
an inflation risk to the Council by underwriting indexed returns if rent
increases fall below inflation.
For the reasons set out in this report, it is proposed that this model is
pursued as the basis of the finance strategy to develop the project. It
meets many of the Council’s objectives to maximises the delivery of
affordable and intermediate housing, with the Council retaining control

-7-

Page 184
CABINET - 6.11.2019

over who we let the intermediate housing to (NHS, Teachers, Social
Workers etc). Other major benefits include retention of land assets,
control over the project and flexibility within model that allows the
scheme to respond to future changes in the housing and funding
markets.
1.8

Do Nothing
The ballot will be a choice between full regeneration or do nothing. The
do-nothing option means that the estate continues to be maintained in
line with current planned schedules, but the Council will be required to
undertake upgrades of any buildings and dwellings that don’t meet
decent homes standards or current fire regulations.

Pros: No disruption to residents; resources directed to take other
projects forward
Cons:
Cost of ongoing maintenance and major works costs
consuming a significant proportion of the future rental income; major
works bills for Leaseholders; difficult to effectively tackle ASB issues;
delays regeneration to a point where it may become extremely urgent;
reputational costs to the Council if problems on the estate persist
These estates have previously been identified as requiring
regeneration. Expenditure over the next 30 years will consume a
significant proportion of the rental income, with some of the blocks now
being over 60 years old. It will also be difficult to tackle other issues
across the estate such as ASB and crime if the existing building and
estate layout is retained unaltered.
DECISION the Cabinet agreed:
1.
2.

3.

4.

5.

To continue to develop proposals to deliver the vision for the Joyce and
Snells estates as set out by residents.
To ensure that the interests of residents remain paramount, to approve
the concept that the Council undertakes the role of lead developer for
the life of the scheme and brings the project forward to a planning
application.
To recommend to Council to agree a further budget in the sum of £4m
for work required to deliver a ballot and planning application as noted in
Section 5.4.7 to be added to the Council’s HRA Capital Programme.
To delegate to the Director of Housing and Regeneration authority to
procure and spend against this budget, including a project team to
develop the scheme to planning, including all supporting
documentation, site investigations and surveys. To note that any
expenditure prior to ballot could be abortive in the event of a negative
vote.
Subject to a positive result from testing of residents’ views through an
engagement and consultation period, delegate authority to the Director
of Housing and Regeneration in consultation with the Executive

-8-

Page 185
CABINET - 6.11.2019

Director of Resources and the Leader and to initiate a ballot of
residents.
Reasons:
1.

Council as lead developer

1.1

For recent regeneration schemes such as The Alma Estate,
Ladderswood and New Avenue, the Council selected development
partners to take forward and deliver the projects. Constraints on HRA
account and a lack of in-house delivery experience were some of the
reasons for this approach.
Using a development partner has advantages for the Council in terms
of risk management and certainty of provision of affordable housing.
Further fringe benefits can include overage payments back to the
Council where the developer makes additional surpluses and non-core
private housing delivered.
The chief drawbacks are the transfer of long-term leasehold interests in
land, can still require significant capital from the Council as top-up
funding and agreements may not deliver additional affordable units
over and above what is already there. This - along with continuing RtB
applications - means that the Council’s land and property assets are
being eroded on an annual basis, affecting its future ability to borrow.
Developers typically work on a 20% margin for larger projects in return
for mitigating development and planning risk for the Council. In
addition, developers cannot secure finance on the such advantageous
terms as the Council can, and this adds to the overall cost of the
development. It should also be noted that commercial developers will
tend to prioritise the private sales element to bring forward crosssubsidies at the soonest opportunity.
In view of the previous comments, it is proposed that the Council takes
over the role of lead developer on its major schemes. Changes in local
authority borrowing rules and support at GLA and Government level for
delivery of council housing mean that now is a good time to establish
in-house development expertise.
By leading through the master planning process, the Council can make
the design and delivery of affordable housing its main priority. The
Council can borrow against the income generated by affordable
housing, and this this along with GLA grants and utilisation of RTB
receipts means that the affordable elements can be brought forward at
a much earlier stage.
The Council is also able to use its strength of covenant to secure
patient long-term institutional capital that is easily funded through rental
streams. This removes the burden of short-term development finance
from commercial lenders which can become particularly onerous if
there are project delays.
There are challenges for the Council to lead schemes, with the biggest
of these being to establish a team with the right experience and
expertise. Other Councils, RPs and the private sector are all competing
for the right staff, and the Council will need to put forward an attractive

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

-9-

Page 186
CABINET - 6.11.2019

offer in order to build an effective team. The rewards for the Council
through successful self-delivery are high and this should justify the
effort of developing in-house capability.
2.

A Rental based scheme

2.1

The Council wishes to retain as much of its land and property assets as
possible in the long term. To achieve this requires keeping land
disposals to a minimum and focussing instead on developing housing
for rent with associated long-term revenue streams.
As has been set out elsewhere, capital values in this part of the
borough are relatively low and this reduces the cross-subsidy effect
through private sales with a corresponding impact on the level of
affordable housing that can be provided.
There is considerable amount of housing for sale proposed in the area
over the long term. By focusing on a rented offer, this reduces
unnecessary competition or creating periods of sales saturation in the
future where market absorption cannot meet the supply. This can
adversely affect values and sales rates when development phases
complete; and can further compound during periods when the sales
values are correcting. This puts pressure on business plans and stains
viability. The Council does of course retain the ability to change its
plans at any time and sell land parcels or develop stock for outright
sale in future phases should this be required or desirable. The
development model proposed allows this flexibility.
Developing secure rental streams makes the project attractive to
funding partners, particularly pension equity investors, where low cost
forms of patient capital can be raised. The co-investment model
proposed based on capitalised rental streams, would be over defined
investment periods, the end of which all property and land assets revert
to the Council. This completes the investment cycle leaving the Council
with full control over debt free property at the end of the investment and
opens-up options in the future to refinance for stock investment or to
flip market tenure properties into affordable housing.
By developing a professionally led rental scheme, this avoids sale
properties falling into the hands of private landlords to become an
inconsistent rental offer to market. The existing private rental market in
the area is of relatively low quality overall, and by focussing on high
quality accommodation, longer tenancies and a consistent professional
management offer, our product can be differentiated within the market.
This is particularly so with the proposed discount market rent aimed at
key workers.
These proposals are in line with Enfield’s Corporate Plan which
requires an additional 1,900 units per year brought to market to keep
pace with anticipated population growth. Many of these properties will
need to be in the rented sector, both private and affordable.
It should be considered however that some private sale properties
could be advantageous to the scheme to generate up-front cash
receipts should this be required for viability reasons. This would be

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

- 10 -

Page 187
CABINET - 6.11.2019

achieved by flexing the number of market rent and shared ownership
homes and converting these to sale.
3.

Proposed financing strategy through HRA borrowing and
potentially pension equity

3.1

3.6

The lifting of the HRA borrowing cap last year has enabled the Council
to access cash for affordable housing development that along with prior
land ownership supports the Council’s self-delivery model outlined in
5.1 above. Further sources of funding include RtB receipts, GLA grants
and soft loans add to the Council’s capability to deliver affordable
housing.
Pursuant to 4.3.3 above there is a very significant opportunity to secure
long-term patient pension capital at low rates of interest as part of the
overall funding for the scheme. UK based pension companies have
significant amounts of equity to invest on behalf of pension holders that
will give stable growth and income.
Pension equity investment would be for a fixed investment period, after
which the property would revert the Council debt free and
unencumbered as a freehold asset. Future debt-free property would
provide a transformative opportunity for the Council to refinance and
raise substantial amounts of money. Typical investment periods at
rates comparable to the PWLB are 35-45 years.
Initial soft market testing with pension companies demonstrated a
strong interest in housing investment, particularly as retail and
commercial rents are correcting downwards and uncertainty over the
outcome of Brexit. It is proposed that further market testing and
dialogue is maintained with investors as details of the scheme
proposals are developed.
It should also be considered that UK pension equity providers on the
whole take their corporate social responsibility very seriously and are
positioning themselves accordingly. Ethical investment opportunities
such as this will be attractive to them and would be well aligned with
our aim of developing stable long-term revenues. The great majority of
UK pension investors are ordinary men and women whose pension
funds require steady returns over long periods.
Further details are contained at appendix A to the report.

4.

Additional budget

4.1

The ballot process brings additional rigour to the project and this
forward planning needs to be resourced properly. In particular, the
master plan needs to be developed in some detail and endorsed by
Planners and residents before the ballot.
The landlord offer needs to be set out prior to the vote and be
deliverable in its full extent after a positive ballot outcome. Any failure
to deliver or ‘material deviation’ from the scheme and landlord offer
could lead to a ballot being annulled and a further ballot required. Any
GLA funding would be automatically withdrawn in the event of the ballot
result being reversed.

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

4.2

- 11 -

Page 188
CABINET - 6.11.2019

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

Retaining control of the planning process is an important aspect of the
project and means that the Council can dictate the overall design and
quality of the project. Moving away from a sales-led scheme means
that density can be optimised for best practice design in what will be a
quality led scheme.
The sum proposed is in addition to the £500,000 already approved for
the initial capacity study and £250,000 approved for pre-ballot master
planning. While this money is at risk prior to a successful ballot
outcome, it reflects the fact that a significant amount master planning is
required before then.
The post ballot budget reflects the size and scale of the project
proposed and delivers a detailed planning permission for the first two
phases, allowing the scheme to proceed quickly after approval.
It is proposed that a local area office is established in one wing of the
Boundary Hall Community Centre. This will provide accommodation for
Enfield Staff involved with the estate redevelopment and resident
engagement. There is adequate space to create separate staff work
area and retain room for resident workshop groups and resident
engagement. CMCT have been consulted and suggested an initial
budget of £150k.
Anticipated costs to proceed to ballot and further to a planning
application are in the order of £4m including all the necessary specialist
designs, ground investigation work and surveys required for a planning
application.

5.

Delegate authority to undertake a residents’ ballot to the Director
of Housing and Regeneration in consultation with the Leader

5.1

The GLA’s mandatory requirement to ballot residents over the
redevelopment of their estate means a significant consultation will be
required. This will inform residents of our plans for the estate and allow
them to input into our proposals.
The ballot process requires that a majority of residents vote for our
plans before regeneration can proceed. This means our proposals have
to be well developed prior to the ballot, and that we have a
comprehensive suite of offer documents detailing their future housing
options.
After the ballot, the Council will not be able to substantially change its
proposals, otherwise the validity of the ballot can be called into
question, and in extreme cases the GLA could withdraw funding. This
makes it especially important that the consultation process is as
thorough as possible and that the forward planning of the scheme, the
business plan and structure for the delivery of the project is detailed
and comprehensive.
The Council will not undertake the ballot until it is reasonably certain
that it will win. Residents opinions will be gauged throughout the
consultation process to assess whether our plans are meeting their
expectations
It is proposed that the Leader is kept appraised of resident opinion, and
that the decision of when to ballot is delegated to the Leader. The

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

- 12 -

Page 189
CABINET - 6.11.2019

Leader will decide, subject to receipt of a positive test of opinion, the
point where they are satisfied that enough consultation has been done
to achieve a positive ballot outcome. This delegation will ensure
sufficient flexibility over when the decision to ballot is taken.
6.

Approval of selection of co-investor (if required)

6.1

Selection an investor partner and the procurement process are still to
be determined. This will be done in consultation with Executive Director
of Resources and the Directors of Finance, Housing & Regeneration
and Head of Procurement. As mentioned earlier in section 4.3.4 of the
report, a number of different criteria need to be considered that balance
risk and cost, and a benchmarking system developed to asses funding
bids. There will also need to be a due-diligence process undertaken
against any potential co-investors before funding can be approved.
It is anticipated that developing a funding package will be an iterative
process in response to changes and updates to the project business
plan as the scheme proposals progress. The funding plan will need to
be tested against governance principles and the HRA business plan,
and it is proposed that the Finance and Governance Teams are best
placed to do this.
It is further proposed that external advice will be required in the
selection of an investor partner and that the Finance Director will
procure this advice in consultation with the Directors of Law,
Governance and Housing, and the P&C Hub.

6.2

6.3

5
MINUTES
AGREED that the minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held on 16 October
2019 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

- 13 -

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 191
CABINET - 13.11.2019

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET
HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 13 NOVEMBER 2019
COUNCILLORS
PRESENT

Nesil Caliskan (Leader of the Council), Ian Barnes (Deputy
Leader), Alev Cazimoglu (Cabinet Member for Health and
Social Care), Guney Dogan (Cabinet Member for Environment
and Sustainability), Rick Jewell (Cabinet Member for
Children's Services), Mary Maguire (Cabinet Member for
Finance and Procurement), Gina Needs (Cabinet Member for
Social Housing), George Savva MBE (Cabinet Member for
Licensing and Regulatory Services) and Mahtab Uddin
(Cabinet Member for Public Health)
Associate Cabinet Members (Non-Executive and NonVoting): Mustafa Cetinkaya (Enfield South East), Ahmet
Hasan (Enfield North) and Claire Stewart (Enfield West)

ABSENT

Nneka Keazor (Cabinet Member for Community Safety and
Cohesion),

OFFICERS:

Ian Davis (Chief Executive), Tony Theodoulou (Executive
Director People), Fay Hammond (Acting Executive Director
Resources), Sarah Cary (Executive Director Place), Jeremy
Chambers (Director of Law and Governance), Matt Bowmer
(Interim Director of Finance), Anne Stoker (Director of
Children's Services), Doug Wilkinson (Director of Environment
& Operational Services), Mark Tickner (Health and Wellbeing
Board Partnership Manager), Dudu Sher-Arami (Consultant in
Public Health), Niel Niehorster (Interim Head of Service,
Learning Difficulties), Dominic Millen (Group Leader
Transportation) and Andrea De Lucy (Press and New Media
Officer) Jane Creer (Secretary)

Also Attending:

Councillor Edward Smith
5 members of the public
Press representative

1
WELCOME AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
NOTED
1. An apology for absence was received from Councillor Nneka Keazor
(Cabinet Member for Community Safety and Cohesion).

-1-

Page 192
CABINET - 13.11.2019

2. The normal venue was unavailable as the Council was preparing for the
general election.
3. During the pre-election period there were a number of restrictions in place
regarding communication about political matters in the context of Council
resources and Members should be mindful in discussions during the
meeting.
2
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest in respect of any items listed on the
agenda.
3
QUARTERLY
QUARTER 2

REVENUE

MONITORING

(INCLUDING

HRA)

2019/20

Councillor Mary Maguire (Cabinet Member for Finance and Procurement)
introduced the report of the Executive Director – Resources (No.125) setting
out the Council’s revenue budget monitoring position based on information to
the end of September 2019.
NOTED
1. The forecast overspend was £8.9m. Using capital receipts of £3.2m, the
revenue budget forecast reflected an outturn position of £5.7m overspend
for 2019/20 which would be funded using the Council’s reserves, as
detailed in the report. This was an increase of £1.8m on the £3.9m
reported as at Quarter 1.
2. Savings since 2010 were highlighted, and further savings in the current
financial year and income were agreed and savings agreed from prior
years. Delivering the savings and additional income generation was
challenging and work continued on budget setting.
3. Enfield continued to experience rising cost pressures, especially from adult
and children’s social services, and continued increases in child numbers
on SEN transport, and ongoing risk associated with Temporary
Accommodation.
4. The forecast position for the Dedicated Schools Grant was detailed in the
report.
5. The Housing Revenue Account was forecasting an overspend position of
£0.1m for 2019/20 outturn.
6. The departmental monitoring information, budget pressures and mitigating
actions were set out in the report and its appendices.

-2-

Page 193
CABINET - 13.11.2019

7. Attention was drawn to paragraph 3.11 of the report in respect of one-off
funding announcements, which were welcomed, but there was a lack of
multi year settlement.
8. Enfield continued to lobby for fairer funding.
9. The Council’s revenue expenditure against budget continued to be
monitored closely, with regular reports, and realistic savings in a robust
process.
10. Management action taken to reduce costs included reconvening the
Pressures Challenge Board to review the most significant pressures.
11. Members noted the budget pressure in the Council company
Independence & Well Being Ltd, and the company’s responsibilities as the
Council’s provider of last resort and the need to continue to look after
people.
Alternative Options Considered: Not applicable to this report.
DECISION: The Cabinet agreed to:
1. Note the financial backdrop to the Council’s budget position (described in
paragraphs 3.1 to 3.11 of the report).
2. Note the £5.7m overspend revenue outturn projection and the use of
£3.2m of capital receipts to support organisation transformation.
3. Note that Cabinet Members would continue to work with Executive
Directors to implement action plans to reduce the forecast overspend in
2019/20 and implement savings.
4. Note £1.5m of the overspend in respect of IWE being met from
Contingency as set out in paragraph 5.9 of the report.
5. Note the position of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) as set out in
section 5.53 of the report.
6. Note the position of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) as set out in
section 7 of the report.
7. RECOMMENDED THAT COUNCIL approve the update to the planned
flexible use of capital receipts for 2019/20 (paragraph 5.46 and Appendix I
of the report).
Reason: To ensure that Members were aware of the projected budgetary
position, including all major budget pressures and underspends which had
contributed to the present monthly position and that were likely to affect the
final outturn.
(Key decision – reference number 5016)
4
QUARTERLY CAPITAL MONITORING 2019/20 QUARTER 2
Councillor Mary Maguire (Cabinet Member for Finance and Procurement)
introduced the report of the Executive Director – Resources (No.126) setting

-3-

Page 194
CABINET - 13.11.2019

out the Council’s Capital Programme (2019/20 to 2022/23). The report
included the latest information for all capital schemes including the funding
arrangements.
NOTED
1. The report set out where investment was taking place and reported the
position at the end of the second quarter.
2. The Capital Programme projections were provided with estimated capital
spending plans for 2019/20 to 2022/23 including the proposed
arrangements for funding provided for within current budgets.
3. The overall expenditure for the approved programme was projected to be
£111m for the General Fund, £96m for Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
and £17m for Enfield Companies for 2019/20.
4. Expenditure continued to be monitored and the Council continued to aim to
maximise external grants and contributions to fund projects and reduce the
need to borrow.
5. Details of the 2019/20 Capital Programme budget were set out in Tables 1
to 5 in the report, including budget reprofiling. Table 3 included additional
items which Cabinet was asked to approve. Table 4 detailed items to be
removed from the Capital Programme: Cabinet were asked to agree to
include Bury Street West Depot.
6. The HRA Capital Programme was set out in Table 6 in the report, detailing
major and minor works and estate renewals.
7. The full approved Capital Programme was set out in Appendix A of the
report.
8. Receipt of grants for flood alleviation were clarified and that this referred to
Albany Park work. The Environment Agency supported the work done in
the borough and would be working further with the Council on flood
alleviation and other environmental projects.
9. The Council had ambitious plans for estate renewal and other long term
projects, with commitments around major works to reflect the priorities of
the Administration and investment of capital that would have a positive
impact on people.
10. The detailed business plan for Energetik had been discussed: Cabinet had
asked for this to be re-looked at to reflect the Council’s commitment in
respect of fuel poverty, and there was confidence the investment would
have a positive impact. Home building at Meridian Water would also have
a positive impact on the viability of Energetik.
Alternative Options Considered: Not applicable to this report.

-4-

Page 195
CABINET - 13.11.2019

DECISION: The Cabinet agreed:
RECOMMENDED THAT COUNCIL:
1. Notes the additions to the Capital Programme set out in Table 3 in
paragraph 4.18 of the report and approves the addition of the following to
the approved Capital Programme:
i. A further investment of £30m to fund Phase 2A of the Energetik
business plan to 2024.
ii. This is made up of a £5m grant and £9.761m loan from the Heat
Network Investment Project.
iii. £0.239m further borrowing by the Council.
iv. Match funding requirement of £15m to be sought through Mayor’s
Energy Efficiency Fund (MEEF).
2. Agrees the proposed reductions set out in Table 4 in paragraph 4.20 of the
report.
3. Agrees the revised five-year approved programme totalling £964m as set
out in Appendix A of the report.
Reason: To update the programme for carry forwards from 2018/19 along
with amendments to the Programme for additions and deletions since Council
approval in February and also to inform Members of the current forecast
position at the end of the first quarter of the financial year. Additionally, to
bring to the attention of Members the significant award of the £156m of HIF
grant.
(Key decision – reference number 5015)
5
ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT - MID YEAR REVIEW 2019/20
Councillor Mary Maguire (Cabinet Member for Finance and Procurement)
introduced the report of the Executive Director – Resources (No.127)
reviewing the activities of the Council’s Treasury Management function over
the half year period ended 30 September 2019.
NOTED
1. The key points highlighted in the report including the debt outstanding,
average interest on total debt, interest earned on investments, and,
investments and net borrowing.
2. The economic background outlined in section 4 of the report.
3. In line with other local authorities, Enfield had to borrow money for large
scale capital programmes. The Council complied with treasury
management indicators as set out in section 7 of the report.

-5-

Page 196
CABINET - 13.11.2019

4. Outstanding loans were summarised in Table 1 in the report. Table 2
summarised loans made to LBE companies. Table 3 showed the
investments held by the Council.
5. The Council complied with the CIPFA Code of Practice and operated its
activities within well-defined limits.
6. There was no rescheduling of debt during the year, but the Council would
continue to seek opportunities to re-structure debt, if viable.
7. With other London Councils, Enfield had written to the government
requesting restoration of the lower loan rate for housing and regeneration
projects.
Alternative Options Considered: None. This report was required to comply
with the Council’s Treasury Management Policy statement, agreed by Council.
DECISION: The Cabinet agreed to note the contents of the report.
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL to consider the 2019/20 Mid-Year Treasury
position.
Reason: To inform the Council of Treasury Management performance in the
financial year 2019/20.
(Key decision – reference number 4992)
6
SUCCESSOR JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY
Councillor Nesil Caliskan (Leader of the Council) and Alev Cazimoglu
(Cabinet Member for Health and Social Care) introduced the report of the
Executive Director - People (No.128) setting out the new Joint Health and
Wellbeing Strategy.
NOTED
1. Chairing of Enfield’s Health and Wellbeing Board had recently been taken
over by the Leader of the Council, reflecting the Council’s corporate and
political commitment, and input from every department.
2. Councillor Cazimoglu welcomed the Council Leader taking over as chair of
Health and Wellbeing Board, as was increasingly the case across London.
3. The new strategy would inform the work of Health and Wellbeing Board for
the next four years and was designed to be clear and simple with tangible
objectives and measurable outcomes. This would deliver improved health
and wellbeing for residents and tackle health inequalities.
4. Members’ attention was drawn to Equalities Impact Implications at
paragraph 9 of the report and the wide variation in life expectancy within

-6-

Page 197
CABINET - 13.11.2019

the borough and variation in the number of years lived in poor health by
residents in different areas.
5. Thanks were recorded to officers for all their work on the strategy, which
was well thought out and well consulted on.
6. Loneliness and social isolation had been added into the strategy. The
importance of partnership working opportunities was raised, and officers
thinking differently about service areas, such as provision of allotments to
people to increase social interaction and exercise.
7. There would be examples collected of how the Council was meeting the
priority areas. The strategy included action plans, and progress would be
measured and reported back to Health and Wellbeing Board.
8. The strategy would also be submitted to the local Clinical Commissioning
Group governing body for approval.
Alternative Options Considered:
An alternative option would be to continue with the approach set out in the
2014-2019 strategy. However, the Health and Wellbeing Board wanted to
have a stronger, simpler narrative, which allowed them to ensure a
preventative approach was achieved through an ambitious strategy which
facilitates collective action. The priorities set out in the previous strategy were
all outcomes the new strategy aims to achieve, but by focussing our priority
actions on behaviours which the evidence shows make the biggest impact on
health outcomes.
DECISION: The Cabinet agreed to approve and authorise the Successor
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
Reason:
The new strategy would help the Council deliver its corporate plan, and health
commissioners and providers to deliver on their priorities, while facilitating all
members of the Health and Wellbeing Board to work collectively to tackle the
borough’s health and wellbeing challenges.
(Key decision – reference number 4852)
7
CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE INCREASING DEMAND AND PRESSURES
Councillor Rick Jewell (Cabinet Member for Children’s Services) introduced
the report of the Executive Director – People (No.129) addressing children’s
social care demand and pressures.
NOTED
1. Following the inspection by Ofsted in March 2019, the Council had
continued to work to strengthen and improve service provision, and

-7-

Page 198
CABINET - 13.11.2019

Cabinet agreed in July 2019 to invest £375k to deliver on the Ofsted
improvement plan.
2. Children’s social care continued to see an increase in demand, and extra
investment was sought to create a new social work team to bring
caseloads down to under the Pan London standards. Seven new social
workers would be recruited.
3. Children’s social care was a priority for the Council. There continued to be
pressures, and the needs had to be responded to. In particular the
increase in demand due to the increase in unaccompanied asylum-seeking
children and the national transfer scheme not working was highlighted,
along with exploitation of children and levels of domestic abuse. The
presence of a consistent professional was important, as was quality and
retention of social workers.
4. Enfield had received an Ofsted rating of good in every category for the first
time ever in 2019, and should always be aiming for a good rating.
Alternative Options Considered:
The Council had recently commissioned a social care agency to deliver some
children in need services to meet statutory duties within set timescales
however maintaining agency staff was not cost effective in the long term. The
investment requested from Cabinet would increase permanent recruitment,
strengthen further the stability of the workforce and reduce staff turnover.
DECISION: The Cabinet agreed to note the good work of frontline staff and
the rise in practice improvement against a backdrop of increasing caseloads.
To ensure caseloads were at a reasonable level and that practice
improvements were sustained, Cabinet agreed to invest in a new social work
team in the child protection service and approve a further:
• £125k investment this year would be funded through risk reserves while the
permanent investment of £365k in 2020/21 would be managed through the
medium-term financial plan process.
Reason:
An annual conversation was planned with Ofsted for November 2019 to track
progress following the full inspection (March 2019). This was likely to be
followed in quick succession by a 2-day focussed visit. Through additional
investment, the service would be able to maintain reasonable caseloads, firm
up the strong foundations in social care and further hone our trajectory of
continuous improvement, ensuring that Enfield Council delivers a high quality,
safe service to children and families that meets regulatory expectations.
(Key decision – reference number 5014)
8
UPDATE STRATEGY AND APPROACH TO DELIVERING PUPIL PLACES
Councillor Rick Jewell (Cabinet Member for Children’s Services) introduced
the report of the Executive Director – Resources and Executive Director -

-8-

Page 199
CABINET - 13.11.2019

People (No.130) updating the strategy for the provision of school places up to
the financial year 2022/23.
NOTED
1. Demand for primary school places 2019 to 2023 was lower than previously
projected, but there was some local demand in the Town, West and South
West.
2. Demand for high support provision for children with certain categories of
special education need continued to increase. The current special school
expansions were set out in paragraph 3.9 of the report. These would
create a total of additional 322 special school places. Thanks was
recorded to all the officers involved, and particularly to Gary Barnes for
bringing forward the former Minchenden Secondary School site. There
would be an estimated saving of £31.4m return from the investment,
including a significant transport cost saving.
3. As successive larger cohorts transferred there would inevitably be
pressure on the secondary school sector, and dependence on planned
new Free Schools as set out in paragraph 3.1 of the report.
4. The Council’s approach to special need provision was clarified and that the
work officers were doing in respect of provision in mainstream schools was
welcomed, and that the trend to segregate should be resisted, while
acknowledging that some children could not be catered for in mainstream
schools.
Alternative Options Considered:
1. Enfield Council has a statutory responsibility to provide the necessary
school places. The School Places Delivery Programme (SSPP) created a
mechanism to assist with the delivery of extra capacity required. Failure to
provide enough school places was not an option.
2. The following proposal had been considered but rejected:
• Complete reliance on additional capacity from new free schools or
existing free school / academy expansions. There was no guarantee that
high quality providers would come forward with proposals for new schools
that the Education and Schools Funding Agency (ESFA) would then
accept and then deliver, this was particularly true for special schools. The
Council would continue to work with the ESFA and current providers that
provide high quality services and contribute to the wider education
community in the borough to assess potential expansion opportunities.
DECISION: The Cabinet agreed:
1. The strategy of increasing capacity in special schools and establishments
that provide education services for some of the most acute special need
categories.
2. To support delegated authority to the Cabinet Member for Children’s
Services to:

-9-

Page 200
CABINET - 13.11.2019

• Approve the adding of individual school projects and budgets to the
capital programme in support of the strategy of providing additional special
school places up to 2022/23;
• Annually review school roll projections reports to ensure the Cabinet
approved strategy is still valid. Should variations to the strategy to be
required Officers are to provide a separate report to Cabinet detailing the
changes.
3. To support continued delegated authority to the Executive Director People
• Commencing feasibility or initial design to inform pre-application
discussions with planning and procurement of resources for this activity.
• Cost estimates, budgets and spend for projects in advance of updates to
the Capital Programme.
Reason:
1. The Council has an overriding statutory duty to provide sufficient pupil
places to meet anticipated demand. The report set out the proposed
strategy and delivery arrangements to oversee delivery arrangements for
schools with funding secured for expansion, to further develop options for
expansion by conducting feasibility studies and consultation with the
schools identified and to secure funding through opportunities that become
available.
2. These strategy and delivery arrangements will deliver the additional
reception places required in the areas of highest demand up to 2020. The
expanded capacity aims to provide a higher level of flexibility built in to
counter sudden increases in demand.
(Key decision – reference number 4893)
9
LOCAL IMPLEMENTATION PLAN ANNUAL SPENDING SUBMISSION
2020/21
Councillor Guney Dogan (Cabinet Member for Environment and
Sustainability) introduced the report of the Executive Director – Place
(No.131) outlining Enfield’s proposals for spending the grant funding to be
provided by Transport for London (TfL) to help implement the Mayor’s
Transport Strategy.
NOTED
1. Enfield’s Local Implementation Plan (LIP) funding allocation for 2020/21 as
set out in the report.
2. It was proposed to utilise the funding for regional and local priorities,
including Healthy Streets and Cycle Enfield, and to make transport in
Enfield much more health promoting.
Alternative Options Considered: NOTED, the alternative options
considered as set out in section 5 of the report in relation to constraints on
proposals and consultation.

- 10 -

Page 201
CABINET - 13.11.2019

DECISION: The Cabinet agreed to approve:
1. Submission of the expenditure proposals for 2020/21 as set out in
paragraph 3.4 of the report to Transport for London and for these
proposals to be implemented, subject to the completion of all necessary
statutory procedures.
2. Delegation of authority to the Cabinet Member for Environment and
Sustainability to make any changes necessary to the programme should
there be any change to the allocation from Transport for London or for any
other operational reason.
Reason: To seek the necessary approvals that would enable Enfield’s Local
Implementation Plan (LIP) funding proposals for 2020/21 to be submitted to
Transport for London (TfL). The submission of the proposals to TfL was
essential in order to obtain release of the allocated funds ready for
expenditure in the Financial Year 2020/21.
(Key decision – reference number 5001)
10
DOCKLESS BIKE BYELAW - DELEGATION OF POWERS TO LONDON
COUNCILS
Councillor Guney Dogan (Cabinet Member for Environment and
Sustainability) introduced the report of the Executive Director – Place
(No.132) outlining a proposal to amend the London Councils Transport and
Environment Governing Agreement specifically to enable London Councils to
make a London wide byelaw to regulate dockless bikes on the highway and
other public spaces.
NOTED
1. Active travel should be supported, but dockless bike hire had been
unregulated in London and the bikes had caused some problems.
2. The proposal required the support of all 33 London local authorities who,
along with Transport for London (TfL), would then have powers consistent
with neighbouring authorities in respect of dockless bikes, including to
enforce against operators where bikes were left inappropriately.
3. The recommendation would be submitted to Council for approval in
January 2020.
Alternative Options Considered: Not delegating authority to London
Councils TEC – this would prevent a consistent London-wide byelaw being
made as all 33 boroughs need to agree to the delegation of additional
functions to London Councils. It would also mean that the Council’s powers for
addressing issues with dockless bike provision would remain limited.
DECISION: The Cabinet approved:

- 11 -

Page 202
CABINET - 13.11.2019

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL to delegate powers provided by s235 of the
Local Government Act 1972 so that London Councils can make a Londonwide byelaw regulating dockless cycles across the Capital.
Reason: The provision of a London-wide byelaw would provide additional
powers to enable the use and parking of dockless bikes to be better regulated.
(Non key)
11
MERIDIAN WATER LAND ACQUISITION
Councillor Nesil Caliskan (Leader of the Council) introduced the report of the
Executive Director – Place (No.133) seeking approval of the acquisition of
Anthony Way and units 5,11, 11a.
NOTED
1. That Report No.135 also referred, as detailed in Minute No.15 below.
2. Enfield Council had been successful in its bid to secure £156m for key
infrastructure from Central Government’s Housing Infrastructure Fund
(HIF) and needed to purchase a number of parcels of land in order to
deliver the proposed infrastructure works as part of the strategy for
Meridian Water.
3. Anthony Way was required to deliver the HIF works. The Council had
negotiated with the owner of Anthony Way and adjoining industrial units
and had reached an agreement on price. The price was in line with an
independent Red Book valuation.
Alternative Options Considered: Not to purchase the land. This was not
recommended as Anthony Way was required for the completion of the
Strategic Infrastructure Works (SIW). Purchasing this site through private
treaty would allow for works to commence earlier, reducing costs from delays.
If the land was not purchased via private treaty the acquisition would require a
CPO. This would incur delays which would impact on programme and cost of
delivering the SIW.
DECISION: The Cabinet agreed to:
1. Approve the acquisition of the site as detailed in the report.
2. Delegate authority to the Meridian Water Programme Director, in
consultation with the relevant legal officer to finalise the documentation for
exchange and completion of the acquisition.
3. Approve the recommendations set out in the Part 2 report.
Reason:
1. It was vital that the Council acquired Anthony Way in order to complete the
SIW, to unlock the development of homes at Meridian Water. In order to
acquire the land in a timely manner and to avoid delays with associated

- 12 -

Page 203
CABINET - 13.11.2019

consequences it was recommended to acquire the site by private treaty as
detailed in the Part 1 and Part 2 reports.
2. An independent red book valuation of the site undertaken by BNP Paribas
showed that the agreed price demonstrated good value for money.
Furthermore, acquiring the site by private treaty avoided costs associated
with CPO and costs incurred by delay, increasing the attractiveness of the
deal for the Council.
(Key decision – reference number 4984)
12
CABINET AGENDA PLANNING - FUTURE ITEMS
NOTED, for information, the provisional list of items scheduled for future
Cabinet meetings.
13
DATE OF NEXT MEETING
NOTED that the next meeting of the Cabinet was scheduled to take place on
Wednesday 4 December 2019 at 7:15pm.
14
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
RESOLVED in accordance with Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act
1972 to exclude the press and public from the meeting for the items of
business listed on part two of the agenda on the grounds that they involve the
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 (information
relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including
the authority holding that information) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act (as
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order
2006).
15
MERIDIAN WATER LAND ACQUISITION
Councillor Nesil Caliskan (Leader of the Council) introduced the report of the
Executive Director – Place (No.135).
NOTED
1. That Report No.133 also referred, as detailed in Minute No.11 above.
2. The purchase price, valuation, and financial information as set out in
section 3 of the report, including the full cost of acquisition. The name of
the owner would be removed from paragraph 3.13.
Alternative Options Considered: NOTED the alternative options considered
as set out in section 4 of the report.

- 13 -

Page 204
CABINET - 13.11.2019

DECISION: The Cabinet in addition to the decisions set out in Minute No.11
above, agreed to:
1. Approve the purchase price and spend of the figure detailed in
recommendation 2.2 of the report for the acquisition of the site.
2. Approve the associated fees as detailed in the report for acquisition.
Reason: NOTED the reasons as set out in section 5 of the report.
(Key decision – reference number 4984)

- 14 -

